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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

Over the past year, we have witnessed turmoil and ups and downs in
the global economy. The escalation of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the
intensification of the crisis in the global supply chain, and the
continued rise in inflation are all negative factors that have
constrained the growth of major economies. Faced with persistent
high inflationary pressures, developed countries led by the United
States collectively started a cycle of interest rate hikes, which directly
led to a tightening of international capital liquidity and heightened
volatility in the global financial market. Against this backdrop, China’s
economy has also been affected by factors such as repeated epidemics
and a weakening real estate market, and is facing greater downward
pressure. The production and operation of enterprises and the lives of
residents have been impacted to varying extents.

Facing the complex and severe economic situation, the Company has
always adhered to the strategic guidance centered on “Strength,
Stability, and Growth”, strictly controlled risks, and adopted a
relatively conservative investment strategy. We have achieved a
balance between risk and return by increasing bond investment, and
have reaped relatively stable investment returns in a turbulent market
environment. During the reporting period, the Group made new
investments of approximately HK$4.908 billion, of which new debt
investment was approximately HK$2.858 billion; total revenue was
recorded at approximately HK$192.74 million, an increase of
105.20% from approximately HK$93.93 million in the same period
last year; profit for the year was approximately HK$146.38 million,
compared with approximately HK$221.27 million in the same period
last year.

As a cross-border investment company adhering to forward-looking
and innovative investment concepts, Wealthking has been actively
paying attention to and investing in cutting-edge technologies and
innovations for many years. Since this year, ChatGPT, a general-
purpose large language generation model, has entered the public eye
in the form of a chat robot, triggering a new wave of technology.
Through the use, research and market tracking of the latest Al tools,
we believe that this Al technological innovation is expected to
promote the improvement of production efficiency in many industries
and bring unprecedented investment opportunities. In the future, we
will continue to increase the layout of cloud computing, big data and
other information technology industries, follow the technological
trend, and actively promote the construction of Al infrastructure and
industrial application portfolios, so as to lay a solid foundation for the
commercial implementation and development of new generation Al
technology.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREMES

On the other hand, we are also deeply aware that against the
backdrop of significant uncertainties in the current global economic
environment, strengthening risk management to pursue steady
development is a top priority. Over the past year, we have continued
to improve the internal control mechanism to ensure that the
Company’s internal control procedures and risk management
framework can be effectively implemented, including internal audit
processes and risk reviews. In addition, we have strengthened our risk
assessment and control framework to regularly monitor and evaluate
investment portfolio risks, risk management policies and procedures
to ensure that we can maintain control of investment risks in a volatile
market environment.

Through continuous optimization of investment portfolio and risk
management, our investment management business has continued to
develop steadily and has won the attention and support of more
investors. | am very pleased to announce to you that we have
successfully completed four strategic capital increases in the past year
to further consolidate the Company’s capital strength. As of the end
of this fiscal year, the total number of shares issued by the Company
has reached approximately 10.5 billion shares, and the net asset has
also exceeded HK$10 billion. This not only provides stronger capital
support for us to further expand investment fields and improve
management level, but also lays a solid foundation for the Company’s
future development.

Looking forward, we will actively respond to and grasp the new wave
of technology, further strengthen the implementation of investment
strategies in the field of technological innovation, and continue to
expand the investment portfolio ecology of technology themes. As an
investor and an entrepreneur, we will provide support to the invested
companies in terms of capital and resources, truly become their
entrepreneurial partners and collaborators, and promote the positive
cycle of capital empowering industries and industries returning capital.
At the same time, we will continue to assume due corporate social
responsibilities, actively respond to national policies, deeply serve
national strategies, help high-level opening up, and create more value
for society and investors.

WANG Qin
Chairman
21 June 2023, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WEALTHKING INVESTMENTS OVERVIEW

Wealthking Investments Limited (“Wealthking Investments”) is a
cross-border investor with a focus on China’s fast-growing industries
and the best investment opportunities. We believe that a long-term
investment perspective is a critical enabler of value creation. The
integration of industry, technology and financial capital has become
an irresistible trend, which is propelling new industrial revolutions.
Our mission is to identify great companies and enhance their
performance through providing patient capital and strong support to
the excellent management teams.

We leverage our capital strength to invest in targeted companies. Our
investment strategy is comprised of three pillars, namely core-holding-
centered private equity, portfolio management as well as trading and
others, with returns generated from interests, dividends and capital
appreciation.

INVESTMENT REVIEW
Investment Activities

During the Year (the twelve months ended 31 March 2023, same as
below), The conflict between Russia and Ukraine has disrupted the
global supply chain while high inflation has driven the increase of
interest rates by the Fed, resulting in a slowdown in the growth of
major economies around the globe and large fluctuations in the
international capital market. Confronted by the challenging market
environment, Wealthking Investments has relied on its flexibility to
make adjustment on its investment strategy by increasing the fixed-
income investment in portfolio management category and actively
capturing the investment opportunities in the bond market to create
more stable returns for the Company. In addition, under the complex
and ever-changing economic situation, we are also striving to identify
certain industrial trends and fix our attention to the emerging
technology fields while continuing to strengthen strategic execution
in the technology field.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BN DA

During the Year, we exercised extra prudence on new equity
investments and strove for the maximum value of our capital and the
financing capability as a public company. Our investment and
divestment decisions are made based on comprehensive
considerations and assessments of return, risk and opportunity cost.
We invested HK$4,908.13 million during the Year, mainly through
private equity, debt investments, funds as well as listed securities, and
our divestment amounted to HK$412.87 million, mainly derived from
listed securities, funds, private equity investments and debt
investments.
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New Investment and Divestment/Disposal over the latest 3 Years
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B New investment
IR E

Portfolio Breakdown

To quickly adapt to the changes and seize the opportunities, in the
FY2020/2021, we underwent a business transformation and strategic
upgrade. During the Year, our investment strategy is comprised of
three pillars, namely core-holding-centered private equity, portfolio
management as well as trading and others.

Private equity strategy aims to leverage our capital to directly invest in
and empower great companies, and long-term core holding is our
primary focus. We identify and invest in companies with high growth
potential and hold them as core-holding portfolio supporting their
long-term development with patient capital. Portfolio management
strategy represents our medium- to long-term investment in the
secondary market, debt investments and others which are expected to
contribute medium-term returns to the Group. The strategy of trading
and others stress to balance liquidity and rate of return of the asset by
capturing short-term investment opportunities and other opportunistic
transactions in the secondary market in and outside China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of 31 March 2023, the four main sectors of our existing portfolio
were Debt and Other Instruments, Technology, Media and Telecom
("TMT"), Medical and Health, and Financial Services, which
represented 69.64% of our total investments holdings. In terms of
valuation, in the Debt and Other Instruments sector, Nanshan Capital
Holdings Ltd 7% 27-6-2023 (the “Nanshan Bonds”) was the largest
investment, while our major investment in the TMT sector included
Jiedaibao Limited (”Jiedaibao”). Our leading position in the Medical
and Health sector was the investment in iCarbonX Group Limited
("iCarbonX"). Our major investment in the Financial Services sector
included CSOP and Treasure Up Ventures Limited (Beijing International
Trust Co., Ltd.).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

MAJOR INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
Private Equity

Private equity represents equity investment in private companies
through our own capital to support its long-term development. We
mainly divide private equity into two categories, namely long-term
core holding and other private equity. As of 31 March 2023,
Wealthking Investments’ holdings in private equity category amounted
to HK$4,035.09 million.

Long-Term Core Holding

As of 31 March 2023, three companies were categorized as our long-
term core holding portfolio, namely iCarbonX, CSOP and OPIM
Holdings Limited (“OPIM™). iCarbonX primarily focuses on digital
health management, CSOP is the largest Qualified Foreign Institutional
Investor (“RQFII”) manager globally, and OPIM is Asia’s leading hedge
fund platform. Wealthking Investments’ holdings in the core holding
companies amounted to HK$1,096.07 million as at 31 March 2023.
Given the growth potential of the core holding companies,
Wealthking Investments will continue to hold them and support their
development in the long run while pursuing long-term investment
return correspondingly.

iCarbonX Group Limited

Date of initial investment: 2018
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 7.73%

Cost: HK$1,098.79 million
Carrying value: HK$945.85 million
Location: China

Industry: Medical & Health

In 2018, Wealthking Investments invested in iCarbonX as one of its
core holding companies and established a joint venture with iCarbonX
named iCarbonX OP Investment Limited to capture potential
investment opportunities within the healthcare industry. As at 31
March 2023, the Group owned 7.73% of equity interests in iCarbonX
and the carrying value of the position stood at HK$945.85 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

iCarbonX is a global pioneer in artificial intelligence (“Al”) and
precision health management and aims to build an ecosystem of
digital life based on a combination of individuals’ life data, the
internet and Al. Its main founding team comprises the world’s top
biologists with extensive experience in multi-omics technology,
medical service, biological data analysis, Al and data mining.

In 2022, under the vision of continuing the construction of Digital Life
ecosystem, iCarbonX continues to focus on business direction.
Focusing on the unique peptide chip, which is a bias-free protein
binding technology, iCarbonX will focus on the development of
peptide drugs, in vitro diagnostics, smart chip manufacturing, medical
and technology services in the future.

Wealthking Investments believes iCarbonX'’s expertise in life science
and Al equips the Group with unparalleled competitive advantages,
particularly in an era of post-COVID-19, when Al-enabled healthcare
research & development (R&D) is given significant prominence and
people’s awareness of health management improves. Going forward,
the Group will continue to take an active role in bridging
opportunities between iCarbonX and industry leaders to foster its
development within the healthcare industry and attain capital
appreciation. The investment in iCarbonX is believed to benefit
Wealthking Investments over the long run, therefore iCarbonX is held
as a long-term core holding company within Wealthking Investments’
portfolio.

CSOP Asset Management Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 22.5%

Cost: HK$60 million

Carrying value: HK$110.32 million
Location: Hong Kong

Industry: Financial Services
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

CSOP was jointly established by Wealthking Investments and China
Southern Asset Management Co., Ltd in 2008. As at 31 March 2023,
Wealthking Investments owned 22.5% of the issued capital of CSOP,
of which the carrying value stood at HK$110.32 million, increasing
6.34% or HK$6.58 million, as compared to HK$103.74 million as at
31 March 2022, such change is due to its robust business
performance during the Year.

CSOP is a well-known asset management company based in Hong
Kong, which manages private and public funds, and provides
investment advisory services to Asian and global investors with a
dedicated focus on China investing. As a leading cross-border asset
management expert in respect of Asset Under Management (“AUM"),
CSOP is committed to providing investors with a flexible and efficient
asset allocation tool through simple, transparent, and innovative
products. As of December 2022, the scale of asset management of
CSOP exceeded US$12.6 billion.

CSOP has performed particularly well in issuing and innovating ETFs,
and has demonstrated its competitiveness in the market. Among the
top 10 most actively traded ETPs listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, CSOP's products account for six of them. In addition,
among all Hong Kong Leveraged and Inverse Products, CSOP’s
Leveraged and Inverse Products have a market share of over 96.6% in
terms of size and 99.3% in terms of average daily turnover.

CSOP have launched a total of seven new products in Hong Kong in
2022, including the first Metaverse Concept ETF in Hong Kong, the
first Bitcoin Futures ETF in Asia and the first Ether Futures ETF in the
world, which help investors capture multiple market opportunities.
Meanwhile, CSOP became one of the first companies to participate in
the mutualisation of ETF products between the Singapore Exchange
(SGX) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (SZSE). Under the Shenzhen-
Singapore ETF Product Interoperability Programme, the CSOP CSlI
STAR AND CHINEXT 50 INDEX ETF was listed on the Singapore
Exchange on 30 December 2022.

Thanks to its excellent product design and strong performance, CSOP
has won many awards in total from various parties at both corporate
and product levels, including but not limited to the “Asia Fund House
of the Year” and “Fund House of the Year” by Asianinvestor, which is
a authoritative asset management magazine in Asia, this is also the
first time that a Chinese asset manager has won “Asia Fund House of
the Year” since the establishment of the awards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

China has been accelerating the reforms and opening-up of its
financial market in recent years and it is one of the most attractive
investment destinations for international investors. CSOP will continue
to bridge investment opportunities in China for overseas investors
with its innovative fund products and expertise, achieving decent
returns for investors and at the same time enhancing its leading
position in the RQFII product management sector. Wealthking
Investments believes that CSOP will continue to bring solid returns
and therefore will hold it as a long-term core holding company.

OPIM Holdings Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding
Equity ownership: 30%

Cost: HK$59.47 million
Carrying value: HK$39.9 million
Location: Hong Kong

Industry: Financial Services

As at 31 March 2023, Wealthking Investments owned 30% of the
issued ordinary shares and 100% of the non-voting preference shares
of OPIM, the position of the Group in OPIM stood at HK$39.9 million.
OPIM managed over 35 funds as at the end of 2022, and the scale of
fund managed was over US$1.5 billion.

OPIM is a leading hedge fund platform in Asia serving both global and
Asia based managers to develop funds across diversified strategies for
institutional and professional investors. It has built a whole ecosystem
linking up fund managers, service providers and capital allocators,
which enables the managers to launch offshore funds with efficient
and affordable structures. With the ecosystem, managers are able to
focus on fund performance and build a proven track record for future
expansion. OPIM has also built strategic partnerships in Singapore,
Europe and Mainland China to continue to increase its customer base
and expand the scope of its service offerings to customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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With the increasing scale of China’s private funds in the overseas
market, OPIM is expected to maintain the momentum of steady
growth in terms of both the number of funds and the overall asset
scale. At the same time, China has been accelerating the opening-up
of its financial markets, which improves foreign managers’ access to
the Chinese market and as a result, OPIM is expected to benefit from
it. Wealthking Investments believes that OPIM has great potential to
continue to grow its business, and therefore will hold it as a long-
term core holding company.

Other Private Equity

Apart from long-term core holding, Wealthking Investments’ holdings
in the Other Private Equity category amounted to HK$2,939.02 million
as at 31 March 2023. The Group added new investments of
HK$679.51 million during the Year. In making decisions on either to
maintain the holdings for future divestment to benefit from growth of
business, or to exit and harvest returns for potential new investments,
the Group based on prudent and extensive analysis of market
condition and investment projects’ prospect.

The major investments are listed as below:
Jiedaibao Limited

Date of initial investment: 2020
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 2.49%

Cost: HK$900.39 million

Carrying value: HK$970.52 million
Location: China

Industry: TMT

In 2020, Wealthking Investments entered into a share purchase
agreement with an existing shareholder of Jiedaibao to purchase
1.97% of the shares issued by Jiedaibao at a consideration of HK$700
million. Wealthking Investments subsequently increased its capital by
HK$200.39 million in November 2021. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group’s position in Jiedaibao stood at HK$970.52 million,
representing 2.49% of the shares issued by Jiedaibao.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENEXBRAT / F572022/23

BEE BB ES EREIINTISHRETE &
K FEHRREERCESHEREREEN
BRI HRFREIERNETE - BILFE - PE
—HEMEESRTIZNFEN  REINEEE
ARPEETSEA - Bt - B REEEH
et - EREAHEREEENEHE
BRANFEERES - Rt BEERZLR
BRATRERE -

Htt SR E

BRERZOBRIN R =F=ZA=+—
B #ZERERAREMALERERNNSEEE
PE#29.3902 18T c RANEE - AEBFIGE
BAEME6TBIEIL - RREBIFHAFARK
RIEEE  UREBERPERS  REERE
WHEER - AEBENREMARN - AEER
BEMRARKREBENAISELBENZ2EDN
DT AEHIRTE o

EBREIIRAT
BEEARAA

R ERE  —T-FF
HERER - TR
WAL 1 2.49%

RN - 7#89.0039 18T
BREME : B 9.7052187T
g PR

1T - BT - KBRS

MRZZEZTF - ERE AR Jiedaibao AR R
AVERBE UREBBKIETEE
Jiedaibao 2 1.97% B 21T (D « HIEERIER
MR- —F+—AEEEK2.0039E T -
R-ZZE_=F=A=+—H' A&ER
Jiedaibao #) ¥ & 58 & & % 9.705218 7T * 1h
Jiedaibao 2.49% B #1TR%(D °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Founded in 2014, Jiedaibao is an internet fintech company providing
services of contract signing, registration and post-loan management
for borrowing and lending money between individual users and
supply chain finance of corporate users, aiming to solve the financing
difficulty problem for individuals as well as micro-, small and medium-
sized enterprises (“SME"). Jiedaibao strives to be the largest service
platform for individual borrowings and corporate supply chain finance
in China. The mobile App fEEE (“f&EE "), which is operated by
Jiedaibao, mainly provides registration tools for online | Owe You
("loU") issuance and supplementing and relevant value-added
services. Adopting Al visual technology, a sound cloud storage system
and online payment system, fE &% empowers online borrowing and
lending transactions and micro-SME’s supply chain finance. The
sources of revenue are mainly coming from registration service fee,
collection service fee, marketing fee, certification service fee, software
development fee and loan interests, etc.

By right of the universality of its function and the business model, f&
B has gained significant market share in Mainland China since its
launch several years ago. With licenses of online payment, commercial
banking and internet microloans, Jiedaibao is building a complete
Fintech ecosystem. Wealthking Investments expects the continuously
growing business of Jiedaibao would generate considerable medium-

term return for the Group.

Treasure Up Ventures Limited (Beijing International Trust Co.,
Ltd., “BITIC")

Date of initial investment: 2016
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 25%

Cost: HK$351.67 million

Carrying value: HK$436.84 million
Location: China

Industry: Financial Services

Wealthking Investments acquired 25% equity interest in Treasure Up
Ventures Limited (“Treasure Up”), which in turn participates in a
minority economic interest in BITIC. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s
position in BITIC stood at HK$436.84 million, increasing HK$42.49
million, as compared to HK$394.35 million as of 31 March 2022. The
increase was primarily attributable to the recovery of the global
market, as a result of increase the valuation of companies in the same
industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BITIC is a China-based large-scale non-banking financial institution,
which primarily engages in trusts, investment funds, financial services,
brokerage and advisory business. The trust industry has been playing
an irreplaceable role in China’s economic development and financial
resource allocation. In recent years, the rapid development of wealth
management business driven by the accumulation of private wealth
has brought the industry with historic opportunities. Quickly adapting
to the changes in the market and national policy environment, BITIC
formulated its twin-engine strategy in 2019, which is asset
management and wealth management respectively, and has adjusted
its service offering focusing on quality rather than quantity since
2018. After several years of continuous improvement and
development, BITIC has established four professional sectors, which
are securities investment, securities research, investment banking and
securities operation, and has formed multi-strategy TOF portfolio
investments, fixed-income investments, asset securitization and other
securities investment product lines, creating many representative
products with excellent performance.

The active management capability of BITIC ranks high in the industry,
it has been awarded “Outstanding Trust Company Award”, “Financial
Product of the Year with Influence in Financial Market” and other
honors, and has been recognized by investors and partners.
Wealthking Investments believes that with the continuous opening-up
and improvement of China’s financial system, and the leading position
of BITIC in trust industry, BITIC is expected to deliver a decent return
on investment for the Group.

PREEXBERAERLE ("EREE")

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 14.9%

Cost: HK$450 million

Carrying value: HK$447.44 million
Location: China

Industry: Others

Metaqi Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthking
Investments, entered into a capital injection agreement with 18 5 3
B, with a commitment to a capital contribution of HK$600 million to
acquire 19.9% of equity interest in /B3 2EH#. As at 31 March 2023,
the capital injection has reached HK$450 million, representing 14.9%
of equity interest in B35 55 E .

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENEXBRAT / F572022/23

ERBEBREERTEARLIFRITEREE - =
ENEET REETD  RRGE  KLEEE
%% - EREETELEERNSBERL
ETHEETAIRRNER < AFK  ERAER
ERRNGH T  EEBEXRHFNAEERS
TTEHRESL#B - It REREFRAEREE T
BRBERBREIRRENED R NEFHE
BEEEMVEEEESIERREE YA -
T N\FERYERKEASETTRAE  ER
MERE - RBEFNTHTEMER - bR
RIEFMECEY TREAFRE - EFMK KA
RIT - BHRELOAZERI - PR ZREEH
TOFEEIE - BUIRE - BEZEHFL  BKE
RESEFREEMSR  TELRZEFOK
RMEEM -

ERBERERETBERENRETRAN - &
BEREGTERBFEN[HLERRT
R [FEERTEFENERER] FXR
2 RIBEEMBIERHRA - EREX
AREETESREBROTEHRABMTE - A
KA RBIBREREEFITREMNETMA - B
ERBERERHSANEEGTRABHNKRED
#

PBEEXBBEREMRAT ((EZEH])

PRI EHE : — T - —F
wERER - FLERE
HEER © 14.9%

BRA : E¥ 45187
BRMEE : B 4.4744187T

Ho R AR
175 « Hft

ERVE A2 BB A 7 Metagi Capital Limited
HEZXMBREERZ  AHALESKeRE
TERERER 19.9% ME - RZT=_=F
ZA=+—H" FEREBKASET 14E
RN 14.9% ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B 3 3 B established in 1999, is a comprehensive group mainly
engaged in equity investment, property investment and commodity
trading. 18 22 3£ B focuses on equity investment in financial services
and currently holds equity interest in more than ten companies,
including RZESEL
have achieved different degrees of increase in value. 18 3 £ B also
further improves its asset allocation through property investment and

B2 A] and Yingkou Coastal Bank, all of which

international commodity trading business, which are operating well
and continue to generate stable income.

Over the past 20 years since its establishment, 18 % 3% B has
accumulated substantial investment experience and industrial layout
capabilities in the fields of finance, property and commodities. With
the rapid development of the Chinese economy driven by economic
globalization, the Group believes that under the background of
further liberalization of the financial market, 18 3= £ B will usher in
new development opportunities, which is expected to bring medium-

term returns to the Group.
Portfolio Management

As at 31 March 2023, Wealthking Investments’ holdings in the
portfolio management category amounted to approximately
HK$6,911.54 million. Wealthking Investments holds listed securities
included in this category amounted to HK$534.01 million, debt
investments amounted to HK$3,377.00 million, fund investments
amounted to HK$3,000.53 million. The Group added an investment
of HK$4,224.53 million and exited from listed securities, fund
investments, and debt investments amounting to HK$364.30 million
in total in this category during the Year. At the same time, our
portfolio of debt instruments recorded provision for expected credit
losses under HKFRS 9, while some listed securities recorded market
price changes during the Year.

The Group invests in debt instruments with the consideration of
return, risk and liquidity. For the Year, the interest rate we charged
for the debt instruments, of which the borrowers were mainly
investment companies, ranged from 6% to 9% as compared to 6%
to 10% for the same period last year. The total interest income
generated from debt instruments was HK$191.40 million with loan
tenures ranging from 6 months to 2 years, while the corresponding
amount and range for the same period last year were HK$91.11
million and 1 year to 2 years, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Wealthking Investments maintains regular communication with bond
issuers and loan borrowers. As at the end of the Year, management
have assessed the repayment ability of the issuers/borrowers for the
determination of expected credit loss provisions.

The major investments are listed as below:

NANSHAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LTD 7% 27-6-2023

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Bond

Cost: HK$975 million

Carrying value: HK$975.72 million
Location: Hong Kong

Industry: Others

On 28 June 2022, 6 July 2022 and 25 July 2022, WK Century
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthking
Investments, subscribed for Nanshan Bonds in the respective principal
amounts of US$33,750,000, US$70,000,000 and US$21,250,000.
The Nanshan Bonds bear interest at the rate of 7% per annum and
will mature on 27 June 2023. The issuer is Nanshan Capital Holdings
Limited (“Nanshan Capital”), and the guarantor is Nanshan Group
Co., Ltd (“Nanshan Group”), the parent company of Nanshan Capital.
The long-term credit rating of Nanshan Group was granted an “AAA”
by China Lianhe Credit Rating Co., Ltd in 2022. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group’s position in Nanshan Bonds amounted to HK$975.72
million.

The bonds were subsequently fully redeemed. Details please refer to
paragraphs under subsection headed “Events After The Reporting
Year”.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENEXBRAT / F572022/23

EMERBESETAREREREARSEH
BE - NAFELERE  BEECHETES
EEBERBBIGEETAMEEAZERE
jj o

T2REIRWAT

NANSHAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LTD 7% 27-
6-2023

EIbGE = =1 - —
®ERER - BF

BRA - E#E 9. 75T
BRMIME : B 9.7572187T
g BB

1% Hfb

RZBZZFARAAZ+TNR - ZZT==F+tHA
NERZZE-_—_F+tA-+HH ERELAR
& WY& 2 5] WK Century Holdings Limited % 5
A 33,750,000% 7T * 70,000,000% 7t M K&
21,250,000 T AL BEREM ILES - @I
BEEAERAEEFT%  R_TE_=FXA
Z++EREE - BITARELERERERA
A((MLUER])  BERAZELERHET AR
mILEBARA G ([FMLUER]) - BEEEF
EROHERAFR-SE_—FHER LEEE
BEHEASHABAMA - R T -_=F=A4
=+—H FTEERELUEFNREEALE
9.7572187T °

BHFERHAREBEERD  FEF2H [HREH
BER|DERER -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Founded in 1979, Nanshan Group has formed a multi-industry
development pattern led by Nanshan Aluminum, & L %9 #, Yulong
Petrochemical, logistics, finance, education, tourism, technology, and
healthcare after years of development. As a large-scale integrated
group enterprise focusing on aluminum further fabrication in China,
Nanshan Group has significant advantages in terms of industry status,
completeness of the industrial chain, research and development
strength and capacity utilisation level. Nanshan Group is the
controlling shareholder of three listed companies, including Shandong
Nanshan Aluminum Co., Ltd. (600219.SH), Shandong Nanshan
Fashion Sci-tech Co., Ltd (300918.SZ) and Hengtong Logistics Co.,
Ltd. (603223.AS). The Group believes that the interest rate of
Nanshan Bonds is generally higher than the time deposit interest rate
offered by well-known financial institutions in Hong Kong, which will
enable the Group to obtain stable returns in the current turbulent
economic environment.

Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP

Date of initial investment: 2021
Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$700 million

Carrying value: HK$779 million
Location: China

Industry: Others

In 2021, Wealthking Investments entered into the Subscription
Agreement with Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP through its wholly-owned
subsidiary. The scale of Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP is HK$3 billion, it
focuses on the investment opportunities in growing industries in the
Greater China, and the key investment area including high growth
industry such as technology, high-end manufacturing. The investment
scope of the fund includes primary equity, stocks, bonds (including
convertible bonds) and other equity products or fixed income
products. The Group’s position in Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP was
HK$779 million as at 31 March 2023.
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Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement of the Fund, Ninth Eternity HK
Limited is the General Partner of Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP, it has
the exclusive power and authority to manage the Partnership, as well
as the discretionary authority to manage the assets and investments
of the Partnership. Ninth Eternity HK Limited is established by the
earliest innovative domestic and overseas investment fund managers,
which has more than 10 years of experience in the investment field,
and has extensive experience in multiple macroeconomic cycles,
financial cycles, industrial cycles and fund management cycles and
achieved excellent investment performance.

China’s economy is at a critical stage of transformation and
upgrading. “The 14th Five-Year Plan” proposed to strengthen
national strategic technology power and implement manufacturing
power strategy, technology and high-end manufacturing will
definitely be the focus of the next development stage of the PRC. The
key investment industry of Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP covers the
relevant fields under the guideline of national strategy. It is believed
that the professional capability of the management team in terms of
investment management, resources integration and compliance risk
control, will assist the Group to capture the investment opportunities
of technology, high-end manufacturing and other fields, which is
expected to create medium-term returns to the Group.

Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP

Date of initial investment: 2021
Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$800 million

Carrying value: HK$895.87 million
Location: China

Industry: Others

In 2021, Wealthking Investments entered into the Subscription
Agreement with Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP through its wholly-
owned subsidiary. The scale of Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP is HK$3
billion, it mainly invests companies with stronger competitiveness and
sustainable growth ability in the Greater China. Ninth Eternity Asia
Fund Il LP mainly focus on investment opportunities in high-growth
industries such as consumption, internet and pharmaceuticals,
covering venture capital, primary equity, stocks, bonds and other
products. The Group’s position in Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP was
HK$895.87 million as at 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fleming Capital Holdings Limited is the General Partner of Ninth
Eternity Asia Fund Il LP. It consists of a professional management team
with international background and extensive experience in global
asset management, committing to building a competitive product and
service system. In the context of high-quality economic development
in China, Fleming Capital Holdings Limited deeply captures the
investment opportunities in the real economy and capital market in
Greater China by in-depth investment research and professional
investment judgement and it is expected to bring medium-term
returns to the Group.

BFEEERAENBRERED L ("BREMEET")

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$803.08 million

Carrying value: HK$808.30 million
Location: China

Industry: TMT

In September 2022, Wealthking Investments entered into a
partnership agreement with It R R G5 E B IR EEIEHR 2 7
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, in order to subscribe for the
interest in the limited partnership of B R 4EME S . BREMES
plans to invest in the equity of non-listed companies in related
industries such as cybersecurity software, the internet, artificial
intelligence, integrated circuit, etc.. The scope of investment includes
products such as primary equity, treasury bond, central bank bills,
money market funds. The scale of BFASEME S is RMB2 billion, and
the position of the Group in (X EATE S was HK$808.30 million as
at 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

It RFABEIRITEEE AR AR, the General Partner of B 4B/ E
%, has extensive experience, deep industry understanding and
comprehensive professional technology in private equity investments
and capital market. It is able to aggregate quality projects for the fund
and facilitate the construction of a broader ecosystem for the invested
projects. The “14th Five-Year Plan” has elevated technology and
innovation to a crucial position in the whole field of China’s
modernization, and comprehensively supporting the development of
new generation information technology, new materials, high-end
equipment, and other emerging industries at the policy level. The
Group believes that the subscription of the R X 4Bt E & will allow
the Group to participate indirectly in the emerging technology
industry investment in China and reduce the risk of direct investment
through the professional management of the investment manager,
which is expected to bring substantial medium-term returns to the
Group.

BEEFCERRFREREDL("EBBHES")

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$450.23 million

Carrying value: HK$444.86 million
Location: China

Industry: TMT

In July 2022, Wealthking Investments entered into a partnership
ABIEEEEEBR AT through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, in order to subscribe for the interest in the limited
partnership of Z 154 ¥1 & & . E 15 55 #1 & & plans to invest in
innovative non-listed companies with distinctive expertise that focus

agreement with 1t 3%

on niche markets, including energy conservation and environmental
protection, fintech, new energy, Internet of Things, and other related
industries. The scope of investment includes products such as primary
equity, bank deposits and money market funds. The scale of E 5%
¥1E % is RMB790 million, and the position of the Group in &R
H & was HK$444.86 million as at 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As the fund manager of ZIFFHES, IRFTEBERIREEEER
A /] has obtained the registration of management institutions of
privately offered investment funds from Asset Management
Association of China in 2015. It has solid experiences and track
records in private equity investments, as well as execution experience
in business development and management across various industries.
Currently, China has been continuously increasing its efforts in
nurturing Specialized and Sophisticated SME, which have become an
important support for China’s manufacture and an essential force for
stimulating innovation and optimising ecological industries. Given that
HREEHTE S will invest in Specialized and Sophisticated SME in PRC,
5 15 31 & £ will provide
diversified investment opportunities and potential investment returns

the Group considered that subscribing %
from different high growth industries to the Group.

Dagang Holding Group CO., LTD. (Stock code: 300103.5Z,
“Dagang Holding")

Date of initial investment: 2019
Type of deal: Listed Securities
Equity ownership: 18.9%

Cost: HK$781.23 million

Carrying value: HK$452.43 million
Location: China

Industry: Environment & Industrials

In June 2019, the Company via its wholly-owned subsidiary, %27 & &
(A 9M) & BR 22 7], entered into a share transfer agreement with the
seller to acquire 19.9% shareholding or 63,202,590 shares of Dagang
Holding, which have been registered under the name of & &E& (1
M)#& PBR A 7 with China Securities Depository and Clearing
Corporation Limited as at 23 October 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

In 2022, due to the overall downturn of the road machinery market in
China, the performance of the high-end road equipment research and
manufacturing segment of Dagang Holding declined year-on-year.
Meanwhile, the performance of the integrated recycling segment of
hazardous waste and solid waste was also affected by the delay in the
completion of the technical reform of the production line. As a result
of a combined effect of various factors, Dagang Holding’s results for
the year 2022 decreased significantly year-on-year. In 2022, Dagang
Holding achieved total operating revenue of RMB390 million,
representing a decrease of 61.02% as compared to the corresponding
period of the last year, and achieved a net loss attributable to
shareholders of the listed company of RMB340 million, representing a
decrease of 1355.31% as compared to the corresponding period of
the last year. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s position in Dagang
Holding stood at HK$452.43 million, representing 18.9% of equity
interest in Dagang Holding, decreasing 38.84% as compared to
HK$739.78 million as at 31 March 2022 mainly due to performance
and market conditions leading to a drop in share price.

Founded in May 2002 and being listed on the SME Board of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in August 2010, Dagang Holding has been trading
under stock code of 300103.SZ. Currently, Dagang Holding has
developed into a high-tech enterprise integrating the business
segments of “high-end road equipment R&D and manufacturing +
public facilities smart operation and maintenance + comprehensive
recycling of hazardous waste and solid waste”. Its products and
services are widely used in various fields such as road construction,
public facility management, environmental protection, digitalization
of vector control. During 2021, Dagang Holding extends vector
control and rural vitalization businesses based on the foundation of
the existing three sector businesses, further strengthen synergies
among businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Wealthking Investments believes that benefiting from its established
market leadership in the high-end road equipment sector and the
growth momentum of urban road smart operation and maintenance
as well as comprehensive recycling of hazardous waste and solid
waste sector, and further expansion of vector control and rural
vitalization sectors, Dagang Holding is expected to bring medium-
term returns to the Group.

Trading and Others

As at 31 March 2023, Wealthking Investments’ holdings in the trading
and others category amounted to HK$0.91 million. Wealthking
Investments’ holdings in listed securities that fell into this category
amounted to HK$0.46 million, while the holdings in the other equity
investment amounted to HK$0.45 million. During the Year,
Wealthking Investments made new investments in and divestments
from some listed securities and an equity investment to enhance the
capital liquidity and generated returns from capital gains.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial position

Net asset value: As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net asset value
was HK$10,010.76 million, or HK$0.95 per share, as compared to
HK$5,528.24 million and HK$1.36 per share respectively as at 31
March 2022.

Gearing: The gearing ratio, which was calculated on the basis of total
liabilities over total equity as at 31 March 2023, was 0.14 (31 March
2022: 0.35).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

Investments in associates and joint ventures: It represents our interests
in companies accounted for using equity method such as core holding
company CSOP and Treasure Up, etc. Assets value stood at
HK$921.86 million as at 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
33.86% as compared to HK$688.65 million as at 31 March 2022,
mainly due to added investment of HK$199.00 million and CSOP
continues have business growth during the Year.

Investments at fair value through profit and loss: It stood at
HK$6,658.22 million as at 31 March 2023, representing an increase
of 27.60% as compared to HK$5,217.87 million as at 31 March
2022, mainly attributable to the proceeds of placement carried out
during the Year have been utilized to invest in projects.

Debt investments: It represents the investments in debt instruments as
at 31 March 2023, which amounted to HK$3,367.46 million. The
increase of 5.47 times as compared to HK$616.09 million as at 31
March 2022 due to the use of placement proceeds for debt
investments.

Bank and cash balances: As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank and
cash balances stood at HK$108.36 million (31 March 2022: HK$86.40
million). We manage our bank and cash balances principally on the
basis of making good use of capital to achieve returns for
shareholders and ensuring sufficient liquidity for our working capital
requirements.

RESULTS

The Group recorded a total revenue of HK$192.74 million during the
Year, representing an increase of 105.20% as compared to HK$93.93
million same period of last year. The Group recorded profit for the
Year of HK$146.38 million as compared to HK$221.27 million for the
same period last year. Current year’s results comprised of HK$78.61
million of net change in unrealised loss on investments at fair value
through profit or loss, but offset by HK$87.54 million of share of
profits of associates and joint ventures and HK$108.97 million of
reversal of provision for expected credit losses (“ECL").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

TR W& DA
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Twelve months ended 31 March

BZE=A=+—HIL+=@A

2023 2022

—E_= —F_-
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Dividend income® =N N 1,038 2,654
Interest revenue@ F Bz @ 191,703 91,275
192,741 93,929

(1) Dividends received and receivable from listed securities during the Year.

) Interest revenue were primarily generated from the Group’s debt instruments
as well as term deposit in banks.

Net change in unrealised loss on investments at fair value through
profit or loss: The net change in unrealised loss of HK$78.61 million
(FY2021/2022: HK$266.38 million) mainly represents the net results
of unlisted investment funds, private equity investments and listed
securities with unrealised loss of HK$343.26 million, but offset by
unrealised gain of HK$264.65 million.

Net change in unrealised gain on financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss: The net change in unrealised gain of HK$0.61
million (FY2021/2022: HK$2.01 million) mainly represents the share
of unrealised loss on co-investments by our co-investment partners.

Net realised (loss)/gain on disposal/distribution of investments: The net
realised loss of HK$8.19 million (FY2021/2022: gain of HK$5.29
million) during the Year was mainly related to the disposal of listed
securities and unlisted investment funds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

Reversal of provision for ECL: The reversal of provision for ECL of
HK$108.97 million for the Year (FY2021/2022: HK$460.37 million)
mainly due to the fully recovery of a debt and the change in the
provision rate of ECL during the Year.

Operating and administrative expenses: The total amount of
HK$78.77 million operating and administrative expenses
(FY2021/2022: HK$49.48 million) was mainly the result of staff costs,
asset management fee, as well as legal and professional fees. The
increase in operating and administrative expenses was primarily driven
by exchange differences due to the depreciation of RMB, as well as
brokerage commission and trading expenses as a result of subscription
of listed bond and acquisition of listed securities.

Share of profits of associates and joint ventures: A net profit of
HK$87.54 million (FY2021/2022: HK$4.68 million) mainly accounted
for share of results of CSOP and Treasure Up. The significant increase
was due to the fact that CSOP continues have strong business growth
during the Year. Of which, CSOP declared a dividend of HK$41.54
million during the Year.

Other comprehensive (expense)/income. Changes in the Group’s NAV,
which are not accounted for in “profit for the Year”, are recorded
under “other comprehensive (expense)/income”. The other
comprehensive expense of HK$119.45 million (FY2021/2022: other
comprehensive income of HK$36.32 million) represented the
exchange differences primarily due to the depreciation of RMB.
Including the “profit for the Year”, the total comprehensive income
for the Year was an income of HK$26.93 million (FY2021/2022:
HK$257.60 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY AND PROPOSED FINAL
DIVIDEND

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to the Shareholders, the Board will take into account factors
including but not limited to the Group’s overall financial position; cash
flow; future operating and administrative expenses; future investment
plans; the regional and global economic conditions and other factors
that may have an impact on the investment market. The Board has
resolved not to pay any final dividend in respect of the Year
(FY2021/22: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s major sources of revenue currently are dividend income
from investments held, interest income from bank deposits and
financial instruments held.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank and cash balances of
HK$108.36 million (31 March 2022: HK$86.40 million). The Group
had an aggregate of HK$1,280.39 million (31 March 2022:
HK$1,844.97 million) loans primarily comprised of bank loans from
our principal bankers, loan from a securities company, unsecured
other interest-bearing borrowings from third parties and interest-free
borrowings from one of the associates for a PRC potential investment
as at 31 March 2023. The debt-to-equity ratio (interest-bearing
external borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) stood at 12.09%
(31 March 2022: 32.01%) while the debt ratio (total borrowings
divided by total assets) was 11.26% (31 March 2022: 24.79%). The
current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 4.18
times (31 March 2022: 1.19 times). For further analysis of the Group’s
cash position, current assets and gearing, please refer to paragraphs
under subsections headed “Financial Position”.

The Board believes that our operations and borrowing resources are
sufficient to provide funding to satisfy our ongoing investment and
working capital requirements for the foreseeable future.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2023, Shareholders’ Equity and the total number of
shares in issue of the Company stood at HK$10.01076 billion (31
March 2022: HK$5.52824 billion) and 10,520,324,505 (31 March
2022: 4,061,316,000), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBFWR DT

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
INVESTMENTS

The Group had the following material acquisitions as well as disposals

KRERA 2BERAMEREE

AEERAEREAUTERRBRLERER

of investments during the Year. H o
New/
Additional Divestment/
Investment Disposal
i BEMRE BYE HERSE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BEET) (B¥asrt
Private Equity LR #E 679.51M 25.94®
Portfolio Management HEHREEE
— Listed securities — FHHBA 68.64@ 139.987
— Debt instruments —EBITA 2,857.75% 178.55®
— Others — HAth 1,298.14%W 45779
Trading and others THREM 4.08% 22.6309
Total m=t 4,908.12 412.87
(1) HK$199 million of private equity represents the Group’s investment in a joint (1) FLEBREEE 1.9 E T RASEAFEREG LD

venture during the Year, the remaining are investments in other private
equity investments totaling HK$480.51 million.

Represents the Group’s investments in 2 listed securities during the Year.

Of the HK2,857.75 million, HK$975 million was invested in a listed bond, the
remaining of HK$1,882.75 million represents investments in 11 unlisted debt
investments.

Represents the Group's investments in 5 fund investments.

Represents the Group's investments in 2 listed securities.

Represents the Group’s divestment from a private equity investment.
Represents the Group'’s divestments from 5 listed securities during the Year.
Represents the Group's 3 debt investments during the Year.

Represents the Group’s divestment from a fund investment.

Represents the Group's divestments from 12 listed securities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 8 on pages 210
to 212 of this report.

ADVANCE TO ENTITY

On 28 June 2022, 6 July 2022 and 25 July 2022, the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary subscribed for guaranteed bonds
due 2023 (the “2022 Bonds”) issued by Nanshan Capital in the
respective principal amount of US$33,750,000 (equivalent to
HK$263,250,000), US$70,000,000 (equivalent to HK$546,000,000)
and US$21,250,000 (equivalent to HK$165,750,000). As at 31 March
2023, the balances due from Nanshan Capital in respect of the
subscription of the 2022 Bonds (excluding any accrued interest and
provision for ECL) amounted to US$125,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$981,220,000). The 2022 Bonds bear interest at the rate of 7%
per annum and will mature on 27 June 2023. Nanshan Group will
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the due payment of all
sums expressed to be payable by Nanshan Capital under the 2022
Bonds and the trust deed(s) constituting the 2022 Bonds.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had 33 employees (31 March 2022:
32), inclusive of all Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Total staff costs including equity-settled share-based payments for the
Year amounted to HK$17.03 million (FY2021/22: HK$19.31 million).
The Group's remuneration policies are in line with market practices
and are determined on the basis of the performance and experience
of individual employees.

TR W& DA

’

)

okk

BEF

REEZ D EERE R AR E
ZBHIFES °

BEREEN

E21082128

E/\\ ’__E/\ﬂ JF/\E :7::ﬂ5‘tﬂ
AE&—EZZEfH—+£E’$AEﬁ@
H2EWEBRA D 533,750,000 T (5E
78 ¥ 263,250,000 7T ) * 70,000,000 7T (%A
78 546,000,000 7T ) & 21,250,000 F 7t (%18
75 #5165,750,0007T) AN S FERBHMEILE
RETINR_ZE_=FHHNERES (2
ToEEAE])) R-TB-=%=F=+—8"
MILEARRE-_S - —FE&F (TREEH
EEFMBRTEHREESEBRE) NEWHBRER
125,000,000 %7t ( £ (B8 981,220,0007T) °
TECCFREFERFEMNEI%FE RZE
—EFEXA+HEEIE - mUEEBEEYT
BRI HHEEREILEAZ A HREZS
T oEBERBR T - —FEANEERE
R AT A R -

E&

HE_ZT_=F=A=+—H AxEEAF33
HRE(ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H:32%)"
HEPAEARAIREMBARZ2BES - K
FEZEIRARE(BREAREREE 2KRHD
SR EEE1,7038 (= — /==
B - B1,9318IT) - NEE 2 FHENBR R
MISEH—2 - Y ERIFERIEES 2 RE LK
FBRRTE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Year, the Board did not grant any share option under the
Company's share option scheme to any Directors or eligible employees
of the Group and there were no granted share options exercised
(FY2021/22: nil). As at 31 March 2023, there were zero (31 March
2022: 16,000,000) share options that remained outstanding under
the share option scheme.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group was exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from financial instruments that are monetary items
including investments at fair value through profit or loss, interest
receivables, loans and other receivables, bank balances, borrowings
and lease liabilities and other payables (31 March 2022: investments
at fair value through profit or loss, prepaid consideration for equity
investment, loans and other receivables, bank balances and other
payables). These assets were denominated in RMB and the maximum
exposure to foreign exchange risk was RMB2,039.41 million,
equivalent to HK$2,329.01 million (31 March 2022: RMB1,178.34
million, equivalent to HK$1,450.30 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held certain financial assets which
were denominated in USD. The Board is of the opinion that the
Group's exposure to USD foreign exchange risk is minimal as HKD is
pegged to USD based on the Linked Exchange Rate System in Hong
Kong.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, save as certain listed securities of the Group
being used to secure the Group’s margin securities trading and certain
interests in an associate and debt investment are pledged for the
Group'’s bank loans, these were no charge on Group’s assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS AND THEIR EXPECTED
SOURCES OF FUNDING

As at 31 March 2023, there were no plans for material investments or
capital assets, but the Group may, at any point, be negotiating
potential investments. The Company considers new investments as
part of its daily business, and therefore management may publically
announce these plans as they become necessarily disclosable to
shareholders during the course of the financial year.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM ISSUE OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

The May 2022 Subscription

On 30 May 2022, the Company issued and allotted an aggregate of
1,630,434,783 ordinary new shares (the “May 2022 Subscription
Shares”), as to 978,260,870 shares to Bright Victory International
Limited (“Bright Victory”) and 652,173,913 shares to Grand Link
Finance Limited (“Grand Link”), the nominee of Mr. Wang Delian
("Mr. Wang"), at a subscription price of HK$0.92 per share for a total
cash consideration of HK$1,500 million pursuant to the subscription
agreements entered into with Bright Victory and Mr. Wang on 31
December 2021. The aggregated nominal value of the May 2022
Subscription Shares (with a par value of HK$0.1 each) was
HK$163,043,478.30. The market value of the May 2022 Subscription
Shares was HK$1,304,347,826 based on the closing price of HK$0.8
per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
subscription agreements.

TR W& DA

RZBEZ=F=A=+—0 BESIREXE
B EAREEZE - EAREE AR E
FEREHEITHER - AARRIEREAEAE
¥%z—bo At - WRETEANERR
RER EEEXERMBFEHRBELR
i o

—E__FhARE

RZZEZ_FHA=+H " £%1,630,434,783
W R (-T2 - R ARERND ) D
RRBERET BER T _—F+=-A=+—
HELR BB AERAR (MR R ETEERLEE
([ £ £ 1) 2 K % AGrand Link Finance
Limited ([ Grand Link]) 5] 7 893 W - &4
BZERABEESM0.92 T AL KB
978,260,870[% & M E 5t A& Bt ¥ K& & 17
652,173,913 * AR & RE R B 15.00E
Lo —E-—FRHARERH (BRAELSE
0.170) Z A A B 163,043,478.307T ° 1R
BRE W E B BTSRRI T E SR
08TTstE —E-_—_FHARBRMHHTE
A7 #1,304,347,826 7T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF N DN

It was considered that fundraising by way of issue of May 2022
Subscription Shares could provide the Company with a definite
amount of share capital and strengthen the Group'’s financial position.
The use of proceeds from the issue of May 2022 Subscription Shares
was consistent with the investment strategy of the Group which could
enrich the investment portfolio. Bright Victory, who was also a
substantial shareholder of the Company, was intended to be a long-
term strategic partner to the Company with continued capital support
to fund the investment plans of the Group, bringing strategic value to
the Company. It also showed the confidence and support of Bright
Victory as a substantial shareholder of the Company towards the
long-term development of the Group. Mr. Wang has more than 10
years of investment experience in private equity investment and
securities investment and has extensively participated in investment in
mainland China and overseas markets, and focused on art business
markets. It was considered that the introduction of Grand Link as a
shareholder of the Company would enable the Company to leverage
Mr. Wang'’s connection in the market with high-quality investors.

The aggregate net proceeds of the May 2022 Subscription Shares,
after deduction of all relevant fees and expenses, was approximately
HK$1,499 million, representing a net subscription price of
approximately HK$0.92 per share. The net proceeds from the May
2022 Subscription Shares were used for the following purposes:

Net proceeds raised

BEREFBREAFR BEHARABRRFEAR

HK$1,499 million
14,99 87T

BB T _FRARBERODEEER/A S
ARAFHRH AR SRR MR A LR 2 R
MR - BT T —FHARBRMOAEHRIEA
RGEAEERERE B AEAREE
ZIEMEG - BIRXEME - EFRARAIZE
ZRE - FERBRRR 2 RARBEREHE - 5
BRHEEATBENENAEE ZIRENE &
AAREBAREEEE - LWIFIRBCEIEREE
BRUAEE 2 REBRRFTME O REF -
ITRARARBEEERENRESFRETEER
10F &8 AREHSEPE R REITS
ZERE WHBIRBMEHETH - 3l A
Grand Link £ AR B BESER E R ER T 5
FREEREEIHE -

RIBR—TE - —FRARBOMEHEBRERR
FASX1& - FTSSRFRO BB 149918 T -
FRBEORBRRNEK02T — T
FHhARBHMMBHRIEFED ANATRE :

Use of the net proceeds during the reporting period

100% of net proceeds were used for investment, including:
FRiSsRIBFEE100% AR E - B1F -

i) approximately 58.66% was used for debt investments;

(
() #958.66% & FANEKIRE
(

i) approximately 13.27% was used for equity commitment for a joint venture

entity; and

(i)  #1327% ERREECEERNBREAGE &
(i)  approximately 28.07% was used for loans to the joint venture.
(i) #928.07% EARMEELEERK -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The July 2022 Subscription

On 19 July 2022, the Company issued and allotted an aggregate of
812,263,200 ordinary new shares (the “July 2022 Subscription
Shares”) to Hong Sheng Universe Limited (“Hong Sheng”) at a
subscription price of HK$0.5 per share for a total cash consideration
of HK$406,131,600 pursuant to the subscription agreement entered
into with Hong Sheng on 27 June 2022. The aggregated nominal
value of the July 2022 Subscription Shares (with a par value of HK$0.1
each) was HK$81,226,320. The market value of the July 2022
Subscription Shares was HK$381,763,704 based on the closing price
of HK$0.47 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date
of the subscription agreement.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 June
2022, the Company devoted to capture valuable investment
opportunities in order to enhance the Company’s profitability and
create value for Shareholders. Having considered that the business
and financial activities in China which has been restoring gradually in
2022 and there was a potential rebounce of growth in economy, the
Company was cautiously optimistic on and prospects of the securities
and investment markets in China. During the course of preparing the
investment plans for using the proceeds from the May 2022
Subscription Shares, the Group has identified more investment
opportunities and decided to grasp those potential investment
projects after conducting due diligence. As at 27 June 2022, the
Group has identified certain investment opportunities in the sectors
such as environment and industrials, technology, media and telecom
and debt, bonds and funds and other instruments. These potential
investment opportunities are long-term core investments in companies
and mid- or short-term investments in the secondary market and debt
market which are expected to contribute mid- and short-term returns
to the Group. The Board was of the view that the fund raised from
the July 2022 Subscription would enable the Group to capture those
potential investment opportunities and enhance the profitability of
the Company. In addition, the July 2022 Subscription could enhance
the capital and shareholders’ base of the Company for long-term
development and further strengthen its financial position.

TR W& DA

“EZHFLARE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The aggregate net proceeds of the July 2022 Subscription Shares,
after deduction of all relevant fees and expenses, was approximately
HK$406 million representing a net subscription price of approximately
HK$0.5 per share. The net proceeds from the July 2022 Subscription
Shares were used for the following purposes:

BRI —F - —FLARBOMBHEBERR
FIS1& - IS RIBFRA KN RABK 40618
T BERFRBELHASERERMNEBEOSTT -
R FLARBOMBIIEFEE AR
TR :

Net proceeds raised
EEBRIETE

HK$406 million

B 4.06 BT

Use of the net proceeds during the reporting period
HEMBASRETEAR

100% of net proceeds were used for fund investment with a potential investment
portfolio comprising (a) private equity investments in sectors involving energy
conservation, fintech, cultural and entertainment, new energy, Internet of Things
and new generation information technology; (b) bank deposit; and (c) investments in
money market funds.

BRENEBTISES -
The September 2022 Subscription

On 27 September 2022, the Company issued and allotted an
aggregate of 1,605,150,622 ordinary new shares (the “September
2022 Subscription Shares”) to Acorn Harvest Holdings Limited (“Acorn
Harvest”) at a subscription price of HK$0.5 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$802,575,311 pursuant to the subscription
agreement entered into with Acorn Harvest on 5 September 2022.
The aggregated nominal value of the September 2022 Subscription
Shares (with a par value of HK$0.1 each) was HK$160,515,062.20.
The market value of the September 2022 Subscription Shares was
HK$738,369,286 based on the closing price of HK$0.46 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the subscription
agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a Chapter 21 investment company, the Company has been
devoted to capturing valuable investment opportunities in order to
enhance the Company’s profitability and create value for
Shareholders. As at 5 September 2022, the Company had identified
several potential investment opportunities in private equity companies
engaging in computer chips design, research and development of
artificial intelligence computing power, holistic medical care and total
solution provider for high-end product design, manufacturing and
durability testing. In the interest of portfolio diversification, the
Company has been seeking investment opportunities in debt
investments, bonds and funds since the second half of 2021, and had
identified a fund with a portfolio investment comprising equity
investments in sectors such as internet security software, internet,
fintech, artificial intelligence, new energy, integrated circuit, green
technology and entertainment and media. These potential investment
opportunities were expected to contribute mid- and short-term
returns to the Group. The Board was of the view that the fund raised
from the September 2022 Subscription would enable the Group to
capture one or more of those potential investment opportunities and
enhance the profitability of the Company. In addition, the September
2022 Subscription could enhance the capital and shareholders’ base
of the Company for long-term development and further strengthen
its financial position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The aggregate net proceeds of the September 2022 Subscription — #£3H1k
Shares, after deduction of all relevant fees and expenses, was
approximately HK$802 million, representing a net subscription price
of approximately HK$0.5 per share. The net proceeds from the
September 2022 Subscription Shares were used for the following

purposes:

Net proceeds raised

BEERBREAFRE

HK$802 million

TECFNARBROOABHEBE
RS FISRIBEFEA EL ABS-.02
B HERERFRBELBBOST =
T FNARBROVABRIBFED AR
ATR® :

Use of the net proceeds during the reporting period

BEMBAERRFEAR

100% of net proceeds were used for fund investment with a potential investment
portfolio comprising (a) private equity investments in sectors involving internet
security software, internet, fintech, artificial intelligence, new energy, integrated
circuit, green technology and entertainment and media; (b) investments in private
equity funds; (c) bank deposit; (d) investments in money market funds; (e) bonds;

and (f) central bank bills.
B8 02187
A 28 - GRS
L‘A&ﬁé& AR RS

The March 2023 Subscription

On 20 March 2023, the Company issued and allotted an aggregate of
889,420,770 ordinary new shares (the “March 2023 Subscription
Shares”) to 6 subscribers (the “Subscribers”) at a subscription price of
HK$0.39 per share for a total cash consideration of approximately
HK$346.87 million pursuant to the subscription agreements entered
into with the Subscribers on 17 February 2023. The aggregated
nominal value of the March 2023 Subscription Shares (with a par
value of HK$0.1 each) was HK$88,942,077. The market value of the
March 2023 Subscription Shares was HK$324,638,581 based on the
closing price of HK$0.365 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of the subscription agreements. The Subscribers (and
where applicable, their ultimate beneficial owners) are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) and professional investors within the
meaning of section 5 and section 6 of the Securities and Futures
(Professional Investor) Rules (Cap. 571D).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a cross-border investor with a focus on PRC’s fast-growing
industries and the best investment opportunities, it is important that
the Company can react proactively and timely in capturing premium
investment opportunities result from the economic rebound following
the PRC government’s reopening policy in order to create value for
shareholders. The Directors considered that it was in the interests of
the Company to raise capital by way of equity financing in order to
maintain the cashflow position of the Group for capturing suitable
investment opportunities in a timely manner. In addition, the March
2023 Subscription could enhance the capital and shareholders’ base
of the Company for long-term development and further strengthen
its financial position.

The aggregate net proceeds of the March 2023 Subscription Shares,
after deduction of all relevant fees and expenses, was approximately
HK$346.8 million, representing a net subscription price of
approximately HK$0.39 per share. The net proceeds from the March
2023 Subscription Shares were used for the following purposes:

Net proceeds raised
EERBREFE FRAMBRBFEAR
HK$346.8 million

B 3,468 BT FriS s I8 %58 100% AN EBIRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Group or any of its subsidiaries has not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Group’s securities during the Year.

TR W& DA
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LHBR T _=F= ARBRMOOMEHBEE
BERAX% FISREFEAENAEEE
3468187 MERBRIFREELEE0.39
Lo ZEZ=F= ARBROOMBRIEFE
EARUTAE :

Use of the net proceeds during the Year

100% of net proceeds were used for debt investments.

RAEE  REBEHEAMNER R ERE
B HERBEIAEREAES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The 2022 Bonds were fully redeemed by Nanshan Capital on 24 May
2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June 2023 in the respective
principal amount of US$25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$195,000,000),
US$25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$195,000,000), US$35,000,000
(equivalent to HK$273,000,000), and US$40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$312,000,000).

On 25 May 2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June 2023, the
Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary subscribed for
guaranteed bonds due 2024 (the “2023 Bonds”) issued by Hong
Kong Nanshan Development Limited (“Nanshan Development”) in the
respective principal amount of HK$197,000,000, HK$197,000,000,
HK$330,000,000, and HK$251,000,000. As at the date of this report,
the balances due from Nanshan Development in respect of the
subscription of the 2023 Bonds (excluding any accrued interest)
amounted to HK$975,000,000. The 2023 Bonds bear interest at the
rate of 7.5% per annum and will mature on 24 May 2024. Nanshan
Group Co., Ltd will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the due
payment of all sums expressed to be payable by Nanshan
Development under the 2023 Bonds and the trust deed(s) constituting
the 2023 Bonds. Both Nanshan Capital and Nanshan Development
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Nanshan Group Co., Ltd.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESRSREEAERHE

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
stated below:

DIRECTOR
Executive Director

Dr. LIU Zhiwei, aged 56, has been appointed as Chairman of the
Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee from 16
December 2020 to 8 June 2023, and an executive Director of the
Company since 16 April 2019. From 16 April 2019 to 16 December
2020 and from 29 December 2021 to 14 March 2022, he was the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. From June 2016 to June
2018, he was an executive Director, the president of the Company,
and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee. From
December 2015 to June 2016, he served as a non-executive Director
of the Company. Dr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Industrial
Management Engineering from Zhe Jiang University in 1989. He
furthered his studies in Graduate School of the People’s Bank of
China between 1989 and 1992 and obtained his master’s degree in
international finance. In 2007, he obtained a doctoral degree in
Economics & Law from Hunan University. Dr. Liu completed a
professional programme in Finance CEO from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business in 2010. Dr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in
financing, securities investment and capital market. Dr. Liu became an
executive director of GoFintech Innovation Limited (formerly known as
China Fortune Financial Group Limited), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 290), with effect from 22 August
2022. He served as a non-executive director of Shanghai Zendai
Property Limited (stock code: 755), whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange for the period from 2 February 2010 to 12 December
2012. He was the Vice Chairman of Chang'an International Trust Co.,
Ltd (formerly known as Xi‘an International Trust Co., Ltd) from 2008
to 2011. Dr. Liu served as a supervisor of Xin Jiang Hui-tong (Group)
Co., Ltd (stock code: 415) from December 2005 to December 2008,
whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He also
served as a general manager of the merger and acquisition
department of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd from 1997 to 1998.
Currently, Dr. Liu also serves as the Director of several subsidiaries of
the Company.
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Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 31 May 2023. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 8 June 2023. Dr.
Wang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Zhengzhou
University in 1987; a Master’s degree in Finance from the Graduate
School of the People’s Bank of China in 1991; a PhD degree in
Economics from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in
1997; and an EMBA degree from the PBC School of Finance (PBCSF),
Tsinghua University in 2018. Dr. Wang has over 30 years' experience
in finance, investment and fund management. The major
appointments of Dr. Wang include working at the Securities
Department of Hainan Hong Kong and Macao International Trust
Company Limited (8RS RBIBR(EFEAR A E]) from 1991 to 1993;
serving as the deputy general manager of Sanya Oriental Industrial
Company Limited (=5 R A B ZE[HD AR A7) from 1993 to 1995;
and serving as the head of the Research Department of Guosen
Securities Co., Ltd. from 1997 to 2001. From 2017 to 2020, Dr. Wang
served as the general manager of ChiNext Qianhai Capital Co., Ltd.
Dr. Wang has substantial fund management experience including
working as the deputy general manager for Great Wall Fund
Management Co., Limited from 2002 to 2009; as the general
manager for Baoying Fund Management Co., Ltd. from 2010 to
2016; and as the general manager for Changan Fund Management
Co., Ltd. from 2021 to April 2023.

Dr. FU Weigang, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 29 June 2018. Dr. Fu was re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director from 15
July 2019 to 10 October 2021, and re-designated from an
independent non-executive Director to a non-executive Director since
11 October 2021. Dr. Fu obtained a bachelor of Law degree from
Xi‘an University of Technology in 2000 and a PhD degree from
Zhejiang University in 2009. Dr. Fu is currently the president of the Sifl
Institute. Dr. Fu has served in the Sifl Institute since 2003 in various
positions including Assistant President and Vice President. Dr. Fu
became an executive director of E/8ZF B & EEREGR A F from
2023. Additionally, he is an adjunct professor at Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics (SHUFE), Shanghai Normal University and
other universities. Besides this, he served as an independent director
of Kingnet Network Co., Ltd.
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Dr. WANG Shibin, aged 45, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 11 October 2021. Dr. Wang obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in International Trade from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics in 2000, a Master’'s degree in Economics from the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 2004, and a PhD
degree from the PBC School of Finance (PBCSF), Tsinghua University
in 2010. Dr. Wang has nearly 20 years’ experience in international
finance and investment banking. He served as a foreign currency
trader at China Development Bank from 2004 to 2008 and the vice
president in the Fixed Income Rates and Derivatives Department of
Goldman Sachs Asia from 2008 to 2010. Dr. Wang was appointed as
the executive director of Deutsche Bank, Greater China region, from
2010 to 2015. Dr. Wang served as the managing director as well as
chief marketing officer of the Company from 2015 to 2017.
Currently, Dr. Wang is the co-founder and chief operation officer of
Hong Kong Digital Asset Ex Limited.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Yuming, aged 60, has been re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director since 15
July 2019. He has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, a member of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee since 23 October 2019. Mr. Chen obtained a
bachelor degree and a postgraduate qualification from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1983 and 1999 respectively.
He also obtained an EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business in 2010. Mr. Chen has more than 30 years of experience in
banking, securities, fund management and auditing. He is currently
Chairman of Shenzhen Leaguer Financial Holdings Company Limited,
Chairman of Shanghai Leaguer Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.. Prior to
that, Mr. Chen had served in Bank of East Asia (China) Co., Ltd. from
2007 to 2011 in various positions including President of its Shenzhen
Branch and Vice President of its head office. From 1999 to 2006, Mr.
Chen had worked in the Shenzhen Commercial Bank, where he had
first served as Vice President, and later as President and Vice
Chairman. From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Chen had held various positions
in the head office of Shenzhen Urban Cooperative Bank, including
Assistant to President, General Manager of Credit Department and
Director of Business Department. He had served as Deputy Director of
Jiangsu Provincial Auditing Department from 1989 to 1992. He had
also served as Division Chief and Deputy Director of Jiangxi Provincial
Auditing Department from 1983 to 1989.
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Mr. YAN Xiaotian, aged 63, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of Corporate Governance
Committee and member of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee since 22 April 2022. Mr. Yan
obtained his master degree in economics from Graduate School of
the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China in 1986
(now known as PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University) and is a
senior economist. Mr. Yan has extensive experience in economic,
financing and management. Mr. Yan served as the president of the
head office of Bank of China Limited, the vice president of the
Guangzhou branch of CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (formerly
known as CITIC Industrial Bank Limited), the general manager of
CITIC Securities Co., Ltd. (Guangzhou), and a director and an
executive president of South China International Leasing Co., Ltd. Mr.
Yan is currently an independent non-executive director of ISP Global
Limited, a company which shares are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8487) and an independent director of Dagang
Holding Group Ltd., a company which shares are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300103.5Z). Mr. Yan
previously served as an executive director of China Youzan Limited
(formerly known as China Innovationpay Group Limited, a company
which shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8083)), and, an independent non-executive director of both
Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Ltd (formerly known as China
Billion Resources Limited) (stock code: 274) and Prosperity
International Holdings (H.K.) Limited (stock code: 803), companies
which shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of Remuneration Committee and
member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee since 22 April 2022. Mr. Zhao obtained his
Bachelor degree in Monetary Banking from Southwestern University
of Finance and Economics in 1989, and a Master degree in
International Finance from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank
of China in 1992. Mr. Zhao previously served as the general manager
of Guangzhou Business Department (from 2000 to 2005 and from
2009 to 2011) and Beijing Business Department (from 2005 to 2009)
of Southwest Securities Company Ltd. From 2012, Mr. Zhao became
the deputy general manager of the Institutional Client Department,
Southwest Securities Company Ltd..
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. QIAO Bingya, aged 52, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer
of the Company in March 2022. Dr. Qiao obtained a Bachelor degree
in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1993, a Master
degree in Economics from Graduate School of the Financial Research
Institute of the People’s Bank of China in 1996 and a Doctor of
Philosophy in Economics from Renmin University of China in 2001. Dr.
Qiao has years of experiences in securities regulation and inspection.
Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Qiao held a number of senior
management positions at the China Securities Regulatory Commission
from year 1998 to year 2012 and he also served as an assistant
executive president and a member of the executive committee at
Bank of China Investment Management Co., Ltd from year 2012 to
year 2016. From June 2019 to September 2021, Dr. Qiao served as an
executive director of Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited
(formerly China Billion Resources Limited), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange. Currently, Dr. Qiao also serves as the director of a
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. MEI Bing, aged 58, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of
the Company since January 2019. Mr. Mei is a seasoned financial
executive with a distinguished career of more than 20 years of
successful financial management experience in the U.S. and China.
From 2016 through joining the Company, he served as Chief Financial
Officer and Board Director of Kandi Technology, a NASDAQ listed
leading new energy vehicle manufacturer in China. From 2011
through 2016, he served as Chief Financial Officer and Board
Secretary of Skystar Bio-Pharmaceutical Company, a NASDAQ Listed
biotechnology company in China. From 2015 through 2016, he also
served as an independent Board Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Jiangsu PharmaMax Corporation. From 2006 through
2011, Mr. Mei served as Chief Financial Officer of Avineon, Inc., a
multinational technology company in the U.S., where he managed its
global financial operations in North America, Asia and Europe. Prior to
that, he served as Financial Controller of Arrowhead Global Solutions,
Inc. (now part of Harris Corporation) and Thompson Hospitality
Corporation, a member of the Compass Group family of companies,
in the U.S. Mr. Mei received a B.S. degree in Economics from Zhejiang
University in Hangzhou, China and holds an M.B.A. degree from The
Fugua School of Business at Duke University in the U.S., where he
graduated with distinction as a Fugqua Scholar. He is a Certified Public
Accountant (CPA) in the U.S. and Hong Kong, a Certified
Management Accountant (CMA) in the U.S., and a Chartered Global
Management Accountant (CGMA). Currently, Mr. Mei also serves as
an independent Board Director of Jiangsu PharmaMax Corporation
and the director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
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Ms. LI Xining, aged 32, joined the Company in November 2019 and
has been the Managing Director of the capital market department of
the Company since June 2021, and is responsible for the capital
market and private equity investment businesses. Currently, Ms. Li
also serves as the director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Li has over eight years of related experience in capital investment,
compliance management. From July 2015 to July 2019, she worked at
the Anti-Money Laundering Center of the People’s Bank of China and
has extensive experience in anti-money laundering matters. From
December 2020 to December 2022, Ms. Li served as the director of
Bestone Capital Limited and was responsible for managing the
acquisition of licensed corporations and completing internal
monitoring in accordance with the compliance requirements of
Securities and Futures Commission. Moreover, since August 2021,
Ms. Li also serves as the director of Guotai Junan Fund Management
Limited.

Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Tsinghua
University in 2013, and subsequently obtained a master’s degree in
finance from the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University in
2015.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Wealthking Investments Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

March 2023 (the “Year”).
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment company incorporated with limited
liability as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands on 26 July
2002. The principal investment objective is to achieve earnings for the
Company in the form of medium to long term capital appreciation
through investing in a diversified portfolio of global investments in
listed and unlisted enterprises. The activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in the section headed “18. Subsidiaries” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in the section headed
“8. Segment Information” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity and the section headed “33. Reserves” under
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity and the section headed “31. Share Capital” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2023 amounted
to HK$8,772,897,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders (“Shareholders”).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out in Financial Summary.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622, laws of Hong Kong) when this report prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTIONS

Information about the share options of the Company during the Year
is set out in the section headed “35. Share-based Payments” under
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Director

Dr. LIU Zhiwei

Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin (appointed on 31 May 2023)
Dr. FU Weigang
Dr. WANG Shibin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. HE Jia (resigned on 22 April 2022)

Mr. WANG Xiaojun (resigned on 22 April 2022)
Mr. CHEN Yuming

Mr. YAN Xiaotian (appointed on 22 April 2022)
Mr. ZHAO Kai (appointed on 22 April 2022)

Article 113 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that at
each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation. Dr. Fu, Dr. Wang Qin and
Mr. Chen will retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with Article 113 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. All of them, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the INEDs an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers the INEDs are independent.
The reasons are given in the “Corporate Governance Report” to this
report.

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” to this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors either has entered into a service contract or
appointment letter for a specific term with the Company or was
appointed for a specific term, any of which is not more than three
years. All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles. No director offering for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into a service
contract with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than the
normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected transactions”
in this report and in the sections headed “12. Directors’ and Five
Highest Paid Employees’ Emoluments”, “22. Accounts and Loans
Receivables” and “39. Related Party Transactions” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, no other contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The following Director is considered to have interests in business
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Company (“Competing Business”) during the
Year:

Name of Director Name of Company

Competing Business

EERBEL

BEEZCEARFRIZEE ERORBEE LK
ZEHSEZEETESR  BEERIEZR=
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FIRBEESN  MAFE IR AFE NI
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Description of

Nature of interest

EEgE YNCIECE 3 SR At EatE
Dr. LIU Zhiwei GoFintech Innovation Limited Money lending Director
MEREEL B=RI¥ AR A A e 5=
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporation(s) (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code"”) in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions and/or short position in shares and underlying shares
of the Company:

L) denotes Long position
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L R

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company
RARBFAEZER HERGHE

As to % to the

Interests under capital of the

Interests in equity Company as at
Name of director Nature of Interests shares derivatives 31 March 2023
RN
R-B-=F
RAELTE SHI= s
EEgE EEME R 2 Em THRET#ER ZBREFDL
(note 1)
(BaE1)
Dr. LIU Zhiwei Beneficial owner and interest of 2,461,279,130 (L) - 23.40
controlled corporation
MEREEL BERfEAARZEHEEER
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Note:

(1) The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the
Company'’s issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31 March
2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as the Directors or Chief Executive of the
Company are aware, the following corporation and persons other
than a Director or the chief executive of the Company had an interest
or a short position in the Shares and underlying Shares, which were
required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein:
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REXAROGENEBRO ZFR

Long positions and/or short position in shares and

underlying shares of the Company: k/BHER
(L)  denotes long position. L IBWFE -
(S)  denotes short position. (S)  fEHKE o

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

REARBHEEER HBEROBE

Interests As to % to the
under capital of the
Name of Capacity in which equity Company as at
shareholders interest are held Interests in shares derivatives 31 March 2023
AR AFE
N-B—-=&
IRALTHE =A=+—H
R A BEEERZZEHR BB Rz R THETER ZBRAEAESL
(note 1)
(BFEET)
Acorn Harvest (note 2) Beneficial owner 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
Acorn Harvest (Ffi7E2) EmEA A
Blossom International (note 2) Interest of controlled 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
corporation
Blossom International (Ff3¥ 2) gk /NI
YANG Fang (note 2) Interest of controlled 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
corporation
YANG Fang (FffzE2) VRS 2 A RS
Bright Victory (note 3) Beneficial owner 1,268,260,870 (L) - 12.05
Bright Victory (&£ 3) BEnlEE A
TCHL (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,268,260,870 (L) - 12.05
corporation
TCHL (Ff#7E3) P 2 A Bl
TIMGCL (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,268,260,870 (L) - 12.05
corporation
TIMGCL (Bff5E3) R ]| WA/NCI b Ty
TJIHCL (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,268,260,870 (L) - 12.05

TJIHCL (Bf7£3)

corporation

S 2 A EEs
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Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

REARBEEER HBRROBE

Interests As to % to the
under capital of the
Name of Capacity in which equity Company as at
shareholders interest are held Interests in shares derivatives 31 March 2023
HARAF
N-—E—-—=
RALTHE =A=+—H
RERHEA LEEZ R REGz R THETER ZRAEAES L
(note 1)
(BFEE1)
WU Gang (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,268,260,870 (L) - 12.05
corporation

WU Gang (F§5E3) R ]| WA/

Hong Sheng (note 4) Beneficial owner 812,263,200 (L) - 7.72
Hong Sheng (FfizE4) EnEBA
CHEN Jiabin (note 4) Interest of controlled 812,263,200 (L) - 7.72
corporation

CHEN Jiabin (Fff5E4) VRS 2 A RS

Grand Link (note 5) Beneficial owner 652,173,913 (L) - 6.20
Grand Link (Ff5¥5) EnEEA

WANG Delian (note 5) Interest of controlled 652,173,913 (L) - 6.20

WANG Delian (Fi#£5)

corporation
ek AN
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Notes:

(1) The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the
Company'’s issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31 March
2023.

2) This represented 1,605,150,622 shares held by Acorn Harvest Holdings
Limited (“Acorn Harvest”). Acorn Harvest is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Blossom International Investment Holdings Limited (“Blossom International”).
Blossom international is in turn beneficially wholly owned by Ms. YANG
Fang. By virtue of the SFO, each of Acorn Harvest, Blossom International and
Ms. YANG Fang is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company held by Acorn Harvest.

(3) This represented 1,268,260,870 shares held by Bright Victory International
Limited (“Bright Victory”). Bright Victory is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Tong Chuang Holdings Limited (“TCHL"). TCHL is in turn a wholly subsidiary
of Tongchuangjiuding Investment Management Group Co., Ltd. (“TIMGCL")
while 46.29% of the issued share capital of TIMGCL is owned by
Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (“TJIHCL"). 35.00% of the
issued share capital of TJIHCL is beneficially owned by Mr. WU Gang. By
virtue of the SFO, each of TJIHCL, TIMGCL, TCHL and Mr. WU Gang is
deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
held by Bright Victory.

4) This represented 812,263,200 shares held by Hong Sheng Universe Limited
(“Hong Sheng”). Mr. CHEN Jiabin owns 100% of the issued share capital in
Hong Sheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. CHEN lJiabin is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Hong Sheng.

(5) This represented 652,173,913 shares held by Grand Link Finance Limited
("Grand Link"”). Mr. WANG Delian owns 100% of the issued share capital in
Grand Link. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. WANG Delian is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Grand Link.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company has not
been notified by any other persons, not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company, who has interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme disclosed under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, at no time during the Year was
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its associated corporations a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executive
of the Company to acquire any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are subject to
review and recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration
Committee and then fixed by the Board with the authorization of the
Shareholders at a general meeting.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is a public float of more than 25% of the issued capital
of the Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at 31 March 2023, no convertible securities, options, warrants or
similar rights issued or granted by the Company remained
outstanding.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph below the Investment Management
Agreement and the section headed “39. Related Party Transactions”
under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and
employment contracts, no other contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following connected
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance with
paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange.

The Company’s INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that all continuing connected transactions
have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.
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(a) BRR2BER(BEBLMBERR)

(a) Continuing connected transactions exempt

from the circular (including independent
financial advice) and shareholders’ approval
requirements

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 8
April 2021 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the
Company appointed Bestone Capital Limited (formerly known
as Venture Partners Asset Management Limited) (“Bestone”) as
its investment manager to provide investment management
services for a period commencing on 7 April 2021 to 31 March
2024. Under the Investment Management Agreement, the
Company will pay Bestone a management fee and performance
fee. The management fee for the first year of the Investment
Management Agreement was calculated at 0.012% per annum
of the net asset value of the Company. From the second year,
the management fee was calculated at such other percentage
figure as agreed between Bestone and the Company. The
performance fee was calculated by reference to the increase in
the net asset value per share of the Company.

During the Year, the management fee paid/payable by the
Company under the Investment Management Agreement to
Bestone was HK$280,000 (2022: HK$668,000).

Bestone is regarded as a connected person of the Company (i)
by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules because it is the
investment manager of the Company; and (ii) by virtue of Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules because Bestone is an associate of
Dr. Liu Zhiwei, an executive director and substantial shareholder
of the Company. The Investment Management Agreement
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the Company.
As all the applicable percentage ratios with reference to the
largest annual cap of the Investment Management Agreement
are less than 5%, the Investment Management Agreement is
exempt from shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Bestone ceased to be the investment manager of the Company
on 30 August 2022.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ERNEAFRAR [ F52022/23

ERRMEREZFEBERS

REEEW =R

BE—E-_—FMNANBUZEEE
BipZ((RETERE]  KAQREE
HEERERAA (AIBEKEEERES
BRARED ([BADARNARZREKE -
NREREEERYE  BHA-T——
FUALtBEBRE-_T_ME=ZA=+—
H-REKEEERHZE  ARABRAK
ERBEAYTNEBERKEER -5t
MREABERENE—F TEEBEKA
NEINEEFER0.012% FERFE -
FE_FRK EBRBKREAREAQFT
HHEMEMma XA E - RBEAH
SEL2BRAARZEREEFEAR

A Ay
=T EHE o
Al 7+

NAREE  RARIREBEREEERHD
R TR A 2 IR B ABEE 280,000
TT(ZEFE = —4F : B¥668,0007T) °

A ()R E AR RIS 14A.08 1K #E1E 7=
ARABZBEEAL  THREAKRDT
ZHREKE ) RMBE E™HEAE
TAA07 EW R BARB ZBEALT - T)
BREBARBRARNITEEREERR
MEBB LT Z2HEA - REBTERAE
RARRZHEBERS - HRELZE
BREEERHBERAFE LR ZABEA
B O RGER 5% @ I E B HET
2HEETFT EMRANE VAT ZREH
ERTE ©

BAR_ZE-_—_FNA=Z+HBHTBEL
RABZIHEKLIRE -



(b) Fully exempt continuing connected transactions

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 13
September 2022 (the “Investment Management Agreement”),
the Company appointed Fortune Asset Management Limited
(“Fortune Asset”) as its investment manager to provide
investment management services for a period commencing on
13 September 2022 to 12 September 2025. Under the
Investment Management Agreement, the Company will pay
Fortune Asset a management fee and performance fee. The
management fee for the first year of the Investment
Management Agreement was calculated at 0.012% per annum
of the net asset value of the Company. From the second year,
the management fee will be calculated at such other percentage
figure as agreed between the Company and Fortune Asset. The
performance fee was calculated by reference to the increase in
the net asset value per share of the Company.

During the Year, the management fee paid/payable by the
Company under the Investment Management Agreement to
Fortune Asset was HK$643,000 (2022: nil).

Fortune Asset is regarded as a connected person of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules because
it is the investment manager of the Company. The Investment
Management Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company. As all the applicable percentage
ratios with reference to the largest annual cap of the Investment
Management Agreement are less than 0.1%, the Investment
Management Agreement is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b)
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(c) Non-exempt connected transactions

Loan Capitalisation Agreement

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the loan
capitalisation agreement (the “Loan Capitalisation Agreement”)
with Chunda International Capital Management Co., Ltd
("Chunda”). Pursuant to the Loan Capitalisation Agreement,
the Company agreed to allot and Chunda agreed to subscribe
1,521,739,130 Shares at the price of HK$0.92 per Share.

Completion of the Loan Capitalisation Agreement took place on
30 May 2022 and the aggregate consideration for the allotment
and issue of 1,521,739,130 Shares at the price of HK$0.92 per
Share which amounted to HK$ 1,400 million was settled by way
of set off against a portion of the loan granted to the Company
by Chunda on 10 December 2021 (details see disclosure relating
to “Shareholder Loan Agreement”).

Chunda is regarded as a connected person of the Company by
virtue of Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules because Chunda is an
associate of Dr. Liu Zhiwei, an executive director and substantial
shareholder of the Company. The Loan Capitalisation
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company.
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Subscription Agreement

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with
Bright Victory International Limited (”Bright Victory”). Pursuant
to the Subscription Agreement, the Company agreed to allot
and Bright Victory agreed to subscribe 978,260,870 Shares at
the price of HK$0.92 per Share.

Completion of the Subscription Agreement took place on 30
May 2022 and the gross proceeds received by the Company in
respect of the Subscription Agreement amounted to
approximately HK$900 million.

Bright Victory, being a substantial shareholder of the Company
directly holding 464,000,000 Shares (representing
approximately 11.42% of the then issued share capital of the
Company) at the time when the Subscription Agreement was
entered into, is regarded as a connected person of the Company
by virtue of Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The Subscription
Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company.
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(d) T2HRRBEXS

(d) Fully exempt connected transactions

Shareholder Loan Agreement

On 10 December 2021, the Company and Chunda entered into
the shareholder loan agreement (the “Shareholder Loan
Agreement”) pursuant to which Chunda granted loans of
principal amount of HK$1,500 million (the “Shareholder Loan")
to the Company for a period of one year commencing from the
date of the receipt of the Shareholder Loan by the Company at
an interest rate of 2.5% per annum.

The Company fully repaid the Shareholder Loan on 30 May
2022.

Chunda is regarded as a connected person of the Company by
virtue of Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules because Chunda is an
associate of Dr. Liu Zhiwei, an executive director and substantial
shareholder of the Company. The Shareholder Loan Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. The
Shareholder Loan Agreement was fully exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
following reasons: (1) the terms of the Shareholder Loan
Agreement (including the interest rate) were on normal
commercial terms or better; and (2) the Shareholder Loan was
not secured by the assets of the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair review of the Company’s business and likely
future development

Please refer to the section headed “Investment Review"” under
Management Discussion and Analysis.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Please refer to the section headed “5. Financial Risk Management”
under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Important events after the end of the financial year

Please refer to the section headed “Events after the Reporting Year”
under Management Discussion and Analysis.

Environmental protection

Please refer to the section headed “Environmental Responsibility”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Please refer to the section headed “Compliance Operation” under the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Operating policies

Please refer to the sections headed “Investment Responsibility” and
“Social Responsibility” under the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

Company'’s key relationships with its employees

Please refer to the section headed “Human Resources Responsibility”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Community investment

Please refer to the section headed “Social Responsibility” under the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “11. Profit for the Year” and “12. Directors’ and
Five Highest Paid Employees’ Emoluments” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
Amongst other duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee
are to review the interim and annual results and internal control
system of the Company.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and
Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Chen Yuming is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for years ended 31 March 2021
and 2022 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Wealthking Investments Limited

WANG Qin
Chairman

Hong Kong SAR, 21 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

Wealthking Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its board (the
“Board”) of directors (“Director’) strongly believes that strict
adherence to the highest governance standards is vital to fulfilling its
corporate responsibilities as a listed company. The Directors and
employees all endeavor to uphold and nurture accountability,
transparency, fairness and integrity in all aspects of the operations of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). We are committed
to the highest governance standards by regularly reviewing and
enhancing our governance practices.

The principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules have been adopted to
shape our corporate governance structure. Except otherwise stated in
this corporate governance report (“Corporate Governance Report”),
the Company has complied with the principles of the CG Code during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year"”). This report
describes how the principles of the CG Code were applied during the
Year under different aspects.

VALUES AND CULTURE

The primary purpose of the Company is to create value for our
shareholders. In recognition of the Company’s commitment to
corporate responsibility, the Company strives for maintaining
accountability to its employees, shareholders, investors and the
community. These purpose and values shape the Company’s strategy
and business model, which are geared towards building a
professional, market-oriented and international investment platform
whereby identifying opportunities and creating values for
shareholders.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations of
the Company’s corporate culture. Our corporate culture is based upon
adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable corporate development.
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In an effort to uphold high ethical standards and practices in all
aspects of the operations of the Group whereby promoting alignment
of our purpose, values and strategy with that of our culture, the
Board approved the adoption of the “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery
and Corruption Policy” in December 2022, embodying and replacing
the “Policy on Acceptance of Advantage and Handling of Conflict of
Interest” which had been implemented since 2011. Details of the
Company’s “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy” are
available on the Company’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG")

The Company believes that a good corporate governance system is
the key to sustainable corporate development. As one of the leading
cross-border investors with its focus on China’s fast-growing
industries, the Company recognises its social responsibilities to run a
sustainable business that benefits its stakeholders, namely its
employees, shareholders, investors and the community. To this end,
the Company has been embracing environmental, social, and
governance concepts in its daily operations and apply those concepts
and considerations in investment analysis (including evaluation of ESG
risks) and decision making.

The Company adheres to the principles of responsible investment and
strives to direct funds to solve urgent issues such as environmental,
social and governance issues while continuing to explore green
investment opportunities. During the Year, the Company targeted its
investments in “green” industries to account for not less than 5% of
the Company’s total investments. In addition, the Company has paid
particular attention to the ESG-related risks associated with new
investments and investment targets, and is committed to leveraging
its capital strength to address the pressing ESG issues, including
environmental degradation and climate change. More information
can be found in the Company’s Environmental, Social, and
Governance Report 2022/2023, which is available on the Company’s
website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Except otherwise stated herein, none of the Directors is aware of any
information that would reasonably indicate that the Company is not,
or was not, at any time during the Year, in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code.

Code Provision D.1.2

Under Code Provision D.1.2, management should provide all members
of the board with monthly updates which may include monthly
management accounts. During the Year, although management
accounts were not circulated to board members on a monthly basis,
regular verbal reports were given by management to Directors from
time to time, which Directors consider to be sufficient and appropriate
in the circumstances in giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance to enable Directors to
discharge their duties.

DIRECTORS” SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a “Policy for Director and Employee
Dealings in the Company’s Securities” the terms of which are no less
exacting than the required standard set out in the model code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. It is also a regular practice
of the Company to remind all Directors of the black out period and
the Model Code immediately before the commencement of each
black out period.

All Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
Model Code and the aforesaid internal policy regarding Directors’
securities transactions throughout the Year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive's interests and/or short positions in
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation are disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and/or Short Positions in the Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company or Any Associated Corporations”
in the Directors’ Report.
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THE BOARD
Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, namely one executive
Director, three non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The INEDs are either
accounting or financial experts.

The Board'’s constitution is governed by (i) Article 105 of the Articles
of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) under which the
number of Directors shall not be less than two; and (ii) Rules 3.10 and
3.10A of the Listing Rules under which every board of Directors of a
listed issuer must include at least three independent non-executive
Directors, at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and an issuer must appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the board.

Guided by the principles laid down in the GC Codes, the Board has a
balanced composition of executive Director, NEDs and INEDs to ensure
that there is a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the business of the Group and strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement. There is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material relationship) among members of the Board.

Executive Director

The executive Director of the Company is Dr. Liu Zhiwei. During the
year, Dr. Liu Zhiwei was the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”). He
resigned as the Chairman on 8 June 2023.

Non-executive Directors

The NEDs of the Company are Dr. Wang Qin (appointed on 31 May
2023), Dr. Fu Weigang and Dr. Wang Shibin. Dr. Wang Qin was
appointed the Chairman on 8 June 2023. During the Year, Dr. Fu
Weigang and Dr. Wang Shibin did not hold any management or
executive role in the Company other than holding the office of NEDs
and attending Board meetings.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

As at the date of this report, the INEDs of the Company are Mr. Chen
Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.

Prof. He Jia has been appointed as INED since 2002 and Mr. Wang
Xiaojun has been appointed as INED since 2004. Both of them
resigned as INEDs on 22 April 2022. Mr. Chen Yuming has been re-
designated from NED to INED with effect from 15 July 2019. Mr. Yan
Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai were appointed as INEDs on 22 April 2022.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

To determine the independent non-executive Directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration. The appointment of the INEDs are subject to
retirement by rotation of at least once every 3 years in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the INEDs an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers the INEDs are independent
in character and judgement, and fulfill the independence guidelines.
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Since the re-designation of Mr. Chen Yuming from NED to INED and
the appointment of Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai as INED, they
have not held any management or executive role in the Company
other than holding the office of INED and attending Board meetings
and committee meetings. They and their immediate family members
are not connected with any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company. They and their immediate family
members did not have any material interest in any business activity of
or were involved in any business dealings with the Company, its
holding company or any of their subsidiaries or with any core
connected persons of the Company. They and their immediate family
members are not financially dependent on the Company, its holding
company or any of their subsidiaries or core connected persons of the
Company. As at the date of this report and within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Chen Yuming,
Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai do not have any interests in the
shares of the Company.

Other than the above, the Board is satisfied that none of the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules applies to their redesignation
or appointment as INEDs. Accordingly, the board is satisfied and has
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Stock Exchange that they are
independent to act as INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.14 of the Listing
Rules.

The list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether
they are INEDs are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Chairman and CEO

During the Year, Dr. Liu Zhiwei and Dr. Qiao Bingya respectively
served as the Chairman and CEO of the Company. There is a clear
division of the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of business of the Group between the roles of the
Chairman and the CEO to ensure that power is not concentrated in
any one individual. The Chairman is mainly responsible for providing
leadership for the Board and ensuring that the Board works effectively
and performs its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The CEO is
mainly responsible for implementing the strategies and policies
approved by the Board, monitoring the performance and managing
the day-to-day operation of the Group. There is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material relationship)
between the Chairman and the CEO.
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Board Diversity

The Board adopted its Board Diversity Policy in August 2013. A
summary of the policy is as follows:

Board diversity can be achieved through consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience appropriate to
the Company’s business model and specific needs. The Nomination
Committee will: (i) discuss, agree and review annually all measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommend them
to the Board for adoption; (ii) report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report of the Company’s annual report, a summary of
the policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives; and (iii)
review the policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
policy and discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board will review the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
on an annual basis with a view to ensuring that the Board will have a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company’s operation. The Board is committed to gender
diversity, and targets to appoint at least one director of a different
gender no later than 31 December 2024.

During the Year the gender ratio of the employees of the Group was
0.45:0.55 and the gender ratio for senior management was 1:1. More
information regarding the Group’s gender diversity at workforce levels
can be found in the Company’s Environmental, Social, and
Governance Report 2022/2023, which is available on the Company’s
website.
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Responsibilities

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting success of the
Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group. The Board
takes the responsibility for all major matters of the Company
including: the preparation of the accounts, the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies, risk management
and internal control systems, appointment and retirement of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. It will regularly
review the contribution required from a Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company, and whether he is spending sufficient
time to perform his duties. The executive Director is responsible for
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group's operations
and implementation of the strategies set by the Board. The NEDs and
INEDs participate in board meetings bringing in their respective
expertise and experience to the Board. In addition, the INEDs serve on
the audit, remuneration, nomination and corporate governance
committees to bring an independent judgment on issues of strategy,
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments,
standards of conduct and potential conflicts of interests, if any. The
management team, led by the CEO, is delegated with the
responsibilities of implementing the strategies and policies approved
by the Board, monitoring the performance and managing the day-to-
day operation of the Group. As the Company is an investment
company, investment management services have been delegated to
the investment manager; the custodian services have been delegated
to the custodian. The delegated functions and performance are
reviewed periodically by the Board.

Independent Views

The Company has established the following mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the Board:

o When selecting and recommending candidates for directorship,
the Nomination Committee is required to consider whether the
candidates for INEDs satisfy the independence requirements of
the Listing Rules;

o The chairman would hold meetings with the INEDs without the
presence of other directors at least annually; and
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o the Board may seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to ensure that they will have access to
accurate and relevant professional views in the performance of
their responsibilities.

During the reporting period, the Chairman has held 2 meetings with
the INEDs without the presence of other directors to discuss the
Company'’s strategy, director’s contributions, and their independent
view. The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of
the above mechanisms on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should keep abreast of their responsibilities as Directors
and the Company’s business and activities. The secretary of the
Company (the "Company Secretary”) continuously updates all
Directors on the latest developments regarding Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same
by all Directors. All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant
training courses and seminars that may require keeping abreast with
the latest changes in laws, regulations and the business environment.
Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4, Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business,
corporate governance, the latest development of the industry or the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each Director has confirmed that
he has participated in continuous professional development by
attending training course or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations. During the Year,
Ms. Ng Sau Lai, the Company Secretary, undertook no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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Meetings

Each Director makes every effort to contribute to the formulation of
strategy, policy and decision-making by attending each meeting,
whether in person or by telephonic conference, and each of them is
prepared to contribute to the Group's business.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders.
Besides general meetings, regular Board and committee meetings are
held for reviewing, discussing, considering and approving the financial
and operating performance, the overall strategies and policies of the
Company.

There were 4 full Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee’s meetings, 1
Remuneration Committee’s meetings, 1 Nomination Committee’s
meetings, 2 CG Committee’s meetings and 2 general meetings for
the Year. The attendance record of each Director during the Year was
as follows:

L

REEORGINEFGENA28ZRE
& WIBTPTEERTIERE - BURFOREKIED
R SESOFHEFEAKRERBKELRE
Eﬁ o

EREFHRZHS2ERERE - LEBHKR
RERZTFERME - BRIRRAREIN - KARIE
HRTEFGREESEHE - R - B
ZERIEARRNRI B REERT - BHEK
B R BSR

RARRAFERBITTARNERESTS S
?&*ZP’R%T §§§§§§ 1RFNEESE
CTRIRBEEEER 2RBEETRETE

QQ%&ZMH&%K@ c RERZHELHET
/(I

Meetings attended/held
BHE/BTEE
Regular Audit Remuneration  Nomination G
Name of Directors Exps General Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Committee
BRRAE Ezeflg BHZEE yHzEe REZEE LEEREES
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
(PzE) i3] Ci3) (P3E) (PsE) GBS
Executive Director YTEE
Dr. Liu Zhiwei MEREEL 22 44 - - vy -
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Fu Weigang {BREFE L 2 4/4 - - - -
Dr. Wang Shibin FHEEL 2 4/4 - - - -
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BYFHTES
Mr. Chen Yuming BRERLE 22 4/4 22 1 1 2/2
Mr. Yan Xiaotian BEMLE 2/2 4/4 212 1n 1n 2/2
(appointed on 22 April 2022) (R=E-=%
MAZ+=BEZf)
Mr. Zhao (appointed on 22 April 2022)  #sl&4 22 4/4 22 17n 17n 2
(R=Z==F

MA=+=REZfM)

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
a director is entitled to attend throughout the Year.
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Performance Evaluation

The executive Board conducts an evaluation of the Board’s
performance on an annual basis with the aim of ensuring continuous
improvement in the functioning of the Board. The evaluation will
focus on the Board structure, culture, decision-making processes,
proceedings of meetings as well as the performance of the Board as a
whole, with a view towards recommending areas for further
improvement. The results of the evaluation will be presented to all
Directors, including the INEDs, for review. The executive Board has
conducted an evaluation for the Year which revealed that the Board
performed well with a strong composition. The Board continued to
operate efficiently and was well aligned with the Group's overall
objectives.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A total of 4 Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the CG
Committee (collectively referred to as the “Committees”) have been
formed, each of which has specific roles and responsibilities delegated
by the Board.

The Committees’ terms of reference are reviewed and updated
regularly to ensure they continue to be at the forefront of best
practice, and they are available on the Company’s website. Each
Committee’s membership is also reviewed by the Board annually.

The member lists of the Committees are set out below in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr.
Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Chen Yuming
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The major role and function of the Audit Committee are to review the
interim and annual results and risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and perform other duties under the CG
Code. More details of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following
duties:

o made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of
the external auditor, the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

o discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations;

o made recommendations on the engagement of the external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

o monitored integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report and reviewed significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

o held two meetings with the external auditor;
. held one meeting with the internal auditors;

o reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control systems with the management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective systems;
and

o reviewed and discussed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr.
Zhao Kai is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major role and function of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and provide recommendations on the policy for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management. It will make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. More details
of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee has determined the policy for the
remuneration of the executive director, assessed performance of the
executive director and approved the terms of the service contract of
the executive director.

Nomination Committee

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprised one executive
Director, Dr. Liu Zhiwei and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming,
Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Dr. Liu Zhiwei was the chairman
of the Nomination Committee during the Year. On 8 June 2023, Dr.
Liu Zhiwei resigned as the chairman and a member of the Nomination
Committee, and Dr. Wang Qin was appointed the chairman of the
Nomination Committee on the same date.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
review and provide recommendations on the policy for the
nomination of directors. The policy for the nomination of directors
during the Year is set out in the subsection headed “Nomination
Policy” under this Corporate Governance Report. More details of its
duties are set out in its terms of reference.

The Nomination Committee has also reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of INEDs and
made recommendations on the re-appointment of retiring Directors
to the Board. Re-appointments of Directors were approved by the
Shareholders at the AGM held on 26 August 2022.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.
Prof. Mr. Yan Xiaotian is the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee.

The major role and function of the Corporate Governance Committee
are to review and provide recommendations on the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company. More details of its duties are
set out in its terms of reference.

During the Year, the Corporate Governance Committee developed
and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reviewed and monitored training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, as
well as compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. Except for
the Company’s non-compliance with Code Provisions C.1.6 of the CG
Code, which have been disclosed in this Corporate Governance
Report, the Corporate Governance Committee concluded that the
Company has complied with other requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code and all other Directors have fully complied with the
Model Code during the Year. The disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report has also been reviewed by the Corporate
Governance Committee.
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NOMINATION POLICY

1. Criteria for the selection and recommendation
of candidates for directorship

The Nomination Committee should consider the following

criteria when selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Experience and expertise: whether the candidates have
the professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, expertise
and experience relevant to the business development of
the Company.

Integrity and character: whether the candidates are a
person of honesty, integrity and have a good reputation.

Time commitment: whether the candidates can provide
sufficient time to discharge their duties as a director,
including attending board meetings, participating in
director training and other matters of the Company.

Diversity policy: whether the candidates satisfy the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background.

Independence: whether the candidates for independent
non-executive Director satisfy the independence
requirements of the Listing Rules, have a conflict of
interest with the Company, are independent in character
and judgment, and able to act on behalf of and in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

Other factors that the Board or the Nomination
Committee may further consider from time to time.
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i

2.

Nomination procedures

4))

(2

Appointment of new director or replacement of

director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new director or replacement of director, the
Nomination Committee identifies and selects
candidates through various channels, including but
not limited to shareholders, Directors, management,
the Company’s human resources department and
external headhunting companies.

The Nomination Committee may evaluate
candidates in such manner as they think fit,
including but not limited to face-to-face interviews,
background checks, and third-party verification.

The Nomination Committee submits the list of
shortlisted candidates to the Board for
consideration. The Board, after consideration, makes
the final decision on the appointment of the
candidate based on the recommendation by the
Nomination Committee.

Re-election of director and nomination by

shareholder

(i)

The Board should review the contribution of the
retiring director to the Company and his/her level of
participation and performance on the Board. The
independence and the year of service should also be
considered for the retiring non-executive director.
Where a retiring director, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election, and the Board considers
appropriate, the Board shall recommend such
retiring director to stand for re-election at a general
meeting. A circular containing the information on
such retiring director will be sent to shareholders
prior to a general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules.
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(i) No person shall, unless recommended by the Board,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting unless, during a period, which
shall be at least seven days, commencing no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and ending no
later than seven days before the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company
Secretary notice in writing by a member of the
Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, of his intention to propose such
person for election and also notice in writing signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
accounts for each financial period and to ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the consolidated financial statements. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed with the external
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, of the Group with regard to
their independence, their appointment, the scope of their audit, their
fees, and the scope and appropriate fees for any non-audit services
provided by them.

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited in respect of audit services and non-audit services amounted
to HK$1,350,000 and HK$118,000 respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. NG Sau Lai, is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as communication among the Board
members, with the Shareholders and management of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT
Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the Company’s
performance and activities. It recognizes the importance of promoting
mutual understanding between the Company and the Shareholders
through ongoing engagement and communication.

The Company maintains ongoing dialog with the Shareholders, for
example, through annual general meeting or other general meetings
to communicate with them and encourage their participation. The
Board always ensures that the Shareholders’ and other stakeholders’
views are heard and welcomes their questions and concerns relating
to the Group’s management and governance.

The Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Company by addressing them to the
Company Secretary or the Investor Relations Officer by post or email
at ir@wealthking.com.hk. The contact details of the Investor Relations
Officer are set out in the Company’s website.

Details of the Company’s “Shareholder Communication Policy” are
available on the Company’s website. The Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the policy and the results were satisfactory.

Dividend Policy

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to the Shareholders, the Board will take into account factors
including but not limited to the Group’s overall financial position; cash
flow; future operating and administrative expenses; future investment
plans; the regional and global economic conditions and other factors
that may have an impact on the investment market.
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Convening EGM

Pursuant to Article 79 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings shall also be convened
on the written requisition of:

o Any two or more members of the Company; or

o Any one member of the Company which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, and such requisitionist shall hold as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 80(a) of the Articles, subject to section 578 of the
Companies Ordinance, an annual general meeting shall be called by
notice in writing of at least 21 clear days (or such longer period as
may be required by the Listing Rules), and a general meeting other
than an annual general meeting shall be called by notice in writing of
at least 14 clear days (or such longer period as may be required by the
Listing Rules), which notice shall be given in the manner prescribed by
these Articles to all members, to the Directors and to the Auditor.
Notice of a general meeting shall be given to such persons as are,
under these Articles, entitled to receive such notices from the
Company. The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is
served or deemed to be served and of the day for which it is given,
and shall specify the time, place, and agenda of the meeting,
particulars of the resolutions to be considered at the meeting and in
the case of special business (as defined in Article 82) the general
nature of that business. The notice convening an annual general
meeting shall specify the meaning as such, and the notice convening
a meeting to pass a special resolution shall specify the intention to
propose the resolution as a special resolution.

Further details of the procedures for shareholders to convene general
meetings and put forward proposals at a general meeting are set out
in the Company’s Articles which is available on the Company’s
website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional Documents

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

General Meetings

A general meeting is an important forum where communications with
the Shareholders can be effectively conducted. During the Year, one
annual general meeting was held at the then principal place of
business of the Company on 26 August 2022 and one EGM was held
in Hong Kong on 17 November 2022. In response to seriousness of
the COVID-19 pandemic and in view of the prevailing Prevention and
Control of Disease (Prohibition on Gathering) Regulation (Cap. 599G,
laws of Hong Kong) and Prevention and Control of Disease
(Requirements and Directions) (Business and Premises) Regulation
(Cap. 599F, laws of Hong Kong), both the AGM and the EGM took
the form of a hybrid meeting whereby Shareholders were able to
attend the EGM via the e-Meeting System from any location with
access to the internet via smartphone, tablet device or computer.
Details of the poll results were posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group is committed to set up and maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems which is devised to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss, and to manage and minimize rather than eliminate the risks of
failure in the Group’s operational systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are subject to review on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems particularly in respect of
the controls on financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, to achieve the Group’s business strategies and business
operations and safeguard the Shareholders” investment and the

Group'’s assets.
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During the Year, the outsourced internal auditor, Cheng & Cheng Risk
Advisory Services Limited, has reviewed and appraised on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems. The
objective of this internal audit service was to assist the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors in carrying out their
responsibilities in accordance with Code Provision D.2.1 to conduct a
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and to report the findings in the Corporate
Governance Report. Such review is based on the Integrated
Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") Framework and the Internal Control
and Risk Management, and covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. The internal auditor’s reports concluded that there was no
material defect and mistake in risk management and internal control
system.

The Audit Committee accepted the reports and then report to the
Board. After discussion with the Audit Committee, the Board was of
the view that the existing risk management and internal control
systems were generally effective and adequate, but the Group should
consider the internal auditor’'s recommendations regarding risk
management and internal control to support the growth of the
Group.

During the Year, the Company adopted the “Whistleblowing, Anti-
bribery and Corruption Policy”, replacing the “Policy on Acceptance
of Advantage and Handling of Conflict of Interest” which had been
implemented since 2011.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY & PRINCIPLES

In strict compliance with the requirements under Appendix 27 — ESG
Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide"”) of Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock
Exchange”), the Group has made detailed disclosures in its
Environmental, Social and Governance report for the year ended 31
March 2023 (“FY2022/2023"), which demonstrates the Group's
approach and performance in terms of ESG management and corporate
sustainable development for FY2022/2023. For the corporate
governance section, please refer to the Group’s 2022/2023 Annual
Report on pages 65 to 86.

Basis for Preparation

The Guide for Business Action on the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) issued by the United Nations

Sustainability Reporting Guidelines (GRI Standards) issued by the
Global Reporting Initiative

Guidelines on Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting for Chinese
Enterprises (CASS-ESG 5.0) issued by Chinese Academy of Social

Sciences

China National Standards — Guidance on Social Responsibility
Reporting (GB/T 36001-2015)

SASB Standards issued by Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
of the Listing Rules in Hong Kong
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Reporting Boundary

Given the business nature of the Group, the boundary of the ESG
report remains the same as in previous years that covers the
performance and management policies of the Group's investment
business. Other than the specified environmental performance
disclosed which only focus on the operations based in Hong Kong,
other disclosures in this ESG Report covers the operations of the
whole Group.

Description of Data

The sources of data used in the report include the raw data of actual
operation of the Group, publicly available data from the government,
annual financial data, relevant internal statistical reports, third-party
guestionnaires, third-party evaluation interviews, etc. The financial
data in this report are expressed in Hong Kong dollars.

Description of References

For easy reference and reading, Wealthking Investments Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have fulfilled their
environmental, social and governance responsibilities, information of
which is disclosed in the report, and the relevant cases are from the
companies under the Company. For the specific list of subsidiaries
involved in this report, please refer to the 2022/2023 annual report of
the Group.

MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

In FY2022/2023, Wealthking Investments upholds its mission as an
investment company and continues to respond to the call for green
finance in China while actively integrating into the national
development pattern and coordinating with the development strategy
of the government. Its investments closely follow the development
trend of Chinese economy, technology and people’s livelihood.
Moreover, when the economy was going downward, it continued to
promote investment business with the focus on investment
opportunities in high-growth industries including biotechnology,
intelligent manufacturing, and financial technology, in order to carry
out responsible investments for investors. The Group focused on
sustainable and long-term development and complied with the ESG
ideals in its daily investment to create positive environmental and
social impacts.
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Our Environmental, Social and Governance Strategy

As a financial company, the Group attaches great importance to
responsible investment, selecting high-growth investment
opportunities and also paying attention to environmental, social and
governance factors on the other hand. In addition, it incorporates
environmental, social and governance performance into selection
criteria for investment projects to prevent relevant risks and build a
risk identification system.

The Group also values environmental and social impacts in terms of
operations. Regarding environmental impacts, energy conservation,
emission reduction and green office are achieved while energy
utilization efficiency is fully improved. The concept of green office is
advocated in the office where various energy-saving and creative
slogans are posted in order to improve awareness of environmental
protection among employees. Regarding social impacts, employees
are treated equally in compliance with the talent development
concept of “T.E.A.M=Together, Everyone Achieves More"”, while
providing employees with benefits for the mutual development with
our employees. Suppliers are selected after careful consideration to
establish win-win cooperation with suppliers, bearing social
responsibility and making our contributions to the community.

In addition, on the basis of last year, we continue to focus on the
participation of internal and external stakeholders. The Group pays
attention to the assessment update of material issues for this year to
identify the Group’s priority during the process of formulating
sustainable development strategies. The updates from stakeholders’
feedback are discussed internally in the meeting of the Board of
Directors, during which significant responses are made to the issues
that concern stakeholders the most. On 19 December 2022, the
Company stood out among more than 1,000 listed companies in
Hong Kong and the United States, and won the “Best Financial Stock
Company” award in the “7th Zhitong Caijing Listed Company
Awards”.
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Looking into the Future

Looking back on the previous year, under the severity and complexity
in the external environment, Wealthking Investments showed
resilience in terms of development. In addition to the further
development of its own favourable businesses, it did not ignore the
ESG governance of the Group and the materiality identified by
stakeholders. In the future, the Group will continue to seize
opportunities in the market and create diversified opportunities for
investments. Moreover, it will also work on to build an ESG
management system and integrate ESG strategies into the daily
operations of the Group for the promotion of the Group’s sustainable
development in the long run.

SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT
ESG Management Structure

The Group focuses on the responsibility in the area of environmental,
social and governance management and continuously strengthens its
responsibility governance. In addition, it cultivates a responsible
corporate culture and improves the construction of a responsibility
management system to enhance its environmental, social and
governance effort in a pragmatic manner. The Group regards the
Board of Directors as the highest authority for environmental, social
and governance management. The Board of Directors is fully
responsible for supervising and handling the environmental, social and
governance issues of the Group, and includes major responsibility
issues related to environmental, social and governance issues in the its
agenda.

In order to facilitate the coordination of daily environmental, social
and governance management, the Group has established an ESG
Working Task Force, comprised of the Company Secretary,
Compliance Department, Investment Team, Investor Relations
Department, Human Resources Department and Administration
Department. Under the leadership of the Board of Directors, the CEO
is responsible for supervising and managing the ESG working group.
Team members are responsible for formulating and implementing the
annual environmental, social and governance plan, organizing internal
ESG-related activities, and report on material affairs in performing
duties. All employees of the Group participate in ESG-related
activities.
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Board of Directors
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ESG Management Structure

ESGEEEE

In order to have a better assessment of its ESG-related risks during
business development, the Group has integrated ESG considerations
into operations including investment analysis, due diligence, decision-
making and investment portfolio management, etc. The Group'’s
management framework and community strategy enable timely
identification, report, discussion, and analysing of material ESG risks
and opportunities faced by different departments, which allows the
formulation and implementation of effective countermeasures in an
efficient manner. The Group pays particular attention to the ESG-
related risks associated with new investments, and is committed to
leveraging its capital strength to address the pressing ESG issues,
including environmental degradation and climate change.

To manage the ESG-related risks in its investment portfolio, the Group
acquires relevant ESG information via regular reports and feedback
from various departments, and monitors and measures the ESG
performance and associated underlying risks in the investees.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group attaches great importance to the communication and
exchange with internal and external stakeholders, and conducts
dialogues with stakeholders through various channels to gain a
profound understanding of the demands and expectations of each
stakeholder. Moreover, it strives to win the trust and support of all
parties for the continuous improvement on environmental, social and
governance management.
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Government and Law and regulation compliance Supervision on the compliance with
regulatory authorities Adherence to the development policy local laws and regulations

of the government
Anti-corruption policies
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Stakeholders

Expectations and Demands

B HEREARE

Communication and Response

MEEES HABERER R BIEEE
Employees Remuneration and benefits Performance appraisal
Career development and training Diversified training courses
Health and safety in the workplace Unhindered and democratic
communication channels
Medical Insurance
BT Fr M N rE A BRETE
BB R B % TR IR
TSR EZ 2 BENRFBBERE
BRERRE

Environment

Low-carbon operations
Response to climate change

Green office
Focus on environmental investment

RE EAGES QRN
RIRE M R FTRIBEEERE
Suppliers Honest and friendly cooperation Supplier selection and examination
Green procurement Green supply chain management
HrEm HIERFAE HEEGERREDS
RERE meEftrEER

Community and People

HEFAR

Involvement in communities

Environmental, social and economic
impacts of investments

Employment opportunities

2EM R
REHRE HERQBENTE
e

Media conferences and responses
to enquiries

Corporate website

Social media platforms

Volunteer services

REezEARNEE

YNSIE A

HREBTA

S REBR TS
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B HEREARS

Materiality Analysis

To better respond to the expectations of stakeholders in this report,
the Group identified and assessed materiality for the clarification of
materiality that had a significant impact on the Group and
stakeholders. Key disclosures and responses were made in the report.

High
w e Opportunities from clean energy

BRI S

* Employee’s rights
ET#H

e Employee Remuneration and Benefits
B T8 kA7

* Employee Development and Training
8 TEREEE

* Corporate Data Security
RABELE

® Occupational Health and Safety
BERERTE

* Energy Management gE/RE

* Water and Wastewater Management
IREEKER

* Climate Change Mitigation and
Adaptation
RIRECR S K

* Responsible Marketing & & T4

* Intellectual Property Rights s EHE

e Participation in Philanthropy
Sl

® Cultivation of Local Employment
REARMpERE

e Support of Local Economic Development
R IR R g

* Green Procurement 4k 2 558

e Stable Supplier Management
RENfERER

HREAEINERN

Importance to Stakeholders

BEEMBRESN

AR AR 5 B % 5 4f 3th (2 8 ) 5 48 B 5 O A
P AREHEEMEREETT T MR R
REENEBNNEAETABEEVENE
EMEE  ERESTPEHWENLE -

Importance to the Group High

HAKENERM
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CHAPTER ONE ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Wealthking Investments advocates the concept of low-carbon and
environmental protection. Environmental protection is the obligatory
commitment of the Group as well as one of the most significant
pillars of sustainable development. In daily operations, it enhances
employees’ awareness of environmental protection to achieve energy
conservation and emission reduction and make our contribution to
the green economy.

Section 1 Environmental Management

As a capital management and investment institution, Wealthking
Investments is principally engaged in investment management and
does not have any direct effect on the environment. The
environmental management concept and strategy of the Group put
emphasis on improving energy efficiency, reducing resources usage,
promoting the Group’s green development, and formulating a
sustainable development mechanism for operation. In addition, its
business strategy has included the concept of sustainable
development and ESG system to create a green workplace with
sustainable development elements.

B HBREARS

A

£F—F REEHE

EMENREEFRROED  REREETA
SEETRBNEL  CRABBERREE
MXEZ — - ERERQELED  EBE TR
REZ - MEIEHREREE AREKEERMBEE
& -

F— RREEE

EMERER—RKENEERERE - TEX
BIERREETE TeEERYRRBEKFY
2 AEENRREREINBEE INRES
BERMm - BALBRER  HHRERER
B BERIELAREERES - U X
BEEE KK AR EEE R ESGRANBIE
A REE—EARARKEERIRNGET
1S5 P -

Case: Green Office Award won by Wealthking Investments

RA| ENEFBEBEREPAERE

The Group has won the 2019 and 2020 Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling Scheme issued by
the World Green Organization (WGO), and has for two consecutive years participated in the responsible management
training organized by the United Nations to make contribution to the realization of SDGs goal for the world.
NEE E TS R AR 4 4% World Green Organization (WGO) JBE M — T —NE-—T -_TFEHEHRATHIRER
IS HRIE - WEBRF2NEESBEASNBRAEEEI - REXERSDG EEEBERMBECNE °

Certificate z;\nd trophy awarded by the WGO
WGOAABABMNEBERRNA

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENERBRDA / F72022/23



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRE

The Group strives to become a leading enterprise in terms of AEBERNKAESIBREAISERRENDE
environmental sustainability. It implements various green projects in  EHIKREFEHSESEIER  TEHOERE
its investment and creates an energy-saving workplace. In addition, it B T{EHFT - £ H &AL RIRIZE 1P 250
provides environmental management equipment and measures in  &IEH C RS2 EHNIERERERNITAIRE - A
daily operation to raise the awareness of environmental protection {E¥IRBHZZE -

and behavioral standard among all employees and reduce

environmental impact.

Green Office
RERA
° Set up recycling box next to photocopiers to facilitate waste recycling

BENH R B READUAS - EAMRERERY DB LUK

Paper recycling

R4 11

° Encourage electronic means as a principal means for communication to reduce the use of paper
ERFAEBEFAE  RMAOMKREHR

o Replace energy-intensive lights with LED lights
LED BB R B EE

° Post stickers with environmental-friendly slogan such as saving paper, green office, saving water, reducing use of
plastics, etc., in prominent places

ERRUERMRRIZENAR  WEHRR - RERAE - K RO ERERE

Stickers printed with environmental-friendly slogans

REREERHA
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Section 2 Energy Use

Due to the nature of the business of Wealthking Investments, in
FY2022/2023, the main resources and energy consumed were
electricity, water, paper and unleaded gasoline. For specific
consumption, please refer to Table 2 in the appendix, which discloses
the year-on-year data of the Group’s resource consumption in
FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022. In the FY2022/2023, the Group used
and fully recycled 200 cartons for moving purpose.

Electricity

72,835 71,706

B HEREARE
S RERER

EMERANEBLE T /=%
“ZWE OHRNIZERERR/EN K-
ARoR M UM - AREMER A2EM P

R WEITASEEE_ZT-_— /T -=§
Fx ”_*/ T _BEERERNRLL
i -RZZ-— /T -Z0F AEE(F

PRI % &R [E1U 200 fEAEAE - ARIREK A& -

49,100
B

FY2020/2021 FY2021/2022 FY2022/2023

=R=1 7 ===/

—E--

T -UF T 2 -ZHF

Electricity Consumption

(Unit: kWh)
ELFERE
(B : E)

The Group saves electricity and reduces electricity consumption, which
will also reduce scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions. The Group has
incorporated “power saving” into its business strategy and operation.
Electricity consumption decreased significantly, the electricity
consumption in FY2022/2023 decreased by 31.53% compared with
FY2021/2022.

REBEBSHHNENER  BLOBEEE - LERKE
BIESEEEREHN  A5EEK &L

B MAEEBREREE AEEBRET
RN T-—— /T -_—BF REER_
T /T _HERHLT31.53% -
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iﬁ%% %tééﬁi &A#&EJ

The Group's office has implemented the specific measures during the
year under review:

o Turn off all lights, electronic equipment and other power-
consuming equipment at the end of work and when working
from home;

o Switch off all idle electrical appliances including lights and air
conditioners;

o Use energy-efficient electrical systems, replace high-energy-
consuming lamps with LED lights, and utilize energy-saving
equipment;

o Maintain indoor temperature at 25 degrees, and adjust the
usage of lights and air conditioners in the office properly during
non-full hours;

o Relocate to a new office in November 2022 to reduce electricity
consumption per month from an average of 5,000 kWh to
1,500 kWh;

o Appoint a representative to coordinate the energy saving plan;
and

J Cooperate with the property management company to clean
the dust filter and fan coil unit regularly.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
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Water

The Group considers water as a precious natural resource, thus puts
forward various practical measures to help its employees better
understand their water footprint and achieve water conservation. In
FY2022/2023, the Group consumed 220.6875 m? of water' which
almost remained stable as compared with FY2021/2022. The water
used by the Group was for office use, which did not exceed the scope
of daily use. During the year under review, the Group did not face any
problem in sourcing water fit for its purpose. The Group has
formulated policies and raised recommendations to guide its
employees to use water smartly. Committed to improving its
performance in water efficiency, the Group will continue its efforts on
monitoring and benchmarking the water usage in its operations:

o Educate employees on a daily basis for them to understand the
concept of water conservation;
o Make timely report on dripping faucets for repair and maintenance;

o Cooperate with external parties to promote employees’ active
participation in water conservation actions;

o Set up water quotas and targets, and procure employees to
save water;

o Adjust the water supply according to the season and non-
business hours;

o Install water filters and advocate water reuse; and

o Post water-saving slogans next to faucets and in pantries in the
office to raise employees’ awareness.

RIE - HERERWSE

K

REBRAEKE—RBEENEALER B
HETEY)E AT - BB TR 47t T A%
HOR/KEHEEREK - RZF=Z=Z /=F
T E REEFEK220.68753 5K - £
TR /B CBFERKEETET - Z’»‘
ESEAKARBHAZEANK  NEBHAB %1@%
#HE -CEFEN AEBTEREBESHER
/7K 75 B I B B (] R RE o ZIS;%I%IJEE@%
Wik TEEBLEHNAK REBERS
RAARKBEES  BEESNERREHEZR
EBEPRAKE

. HEESHEES T THREVKES

e  KEHE
MIRE

o  HINERFEE REBIREGLHER
HFAKITE

o  HREF/KERHEBEZE  B{EEIEK:

TKEIKBESR » DAfEAETT A

\\\Yr

o  REFHEBKRME  FHEMEKE

o BIMIBKERIRFKMEENA : &

o HEMARE/KEERE - AKEMIRL LEK
R ERBTEM -

WA'IEII SAVING
i 2K

Water-saving slogan on a water cooler

B E B ARRE

L Given that the water consumption of the Group was provided and managed
by the property management company of the building where it was located,
it is difficult to obtain accurate figures of water consumption and, therefore,
water consumption data was obtained by estimating the daily water
consumption per person.

4 ERNAEBRKERBMERBTNYEEEQR
RERERE - ERKNEESFHARS - KIE
HEABRAKERSEKERE -
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Paper ik
378.96
337.2
FY2021/2022 FY2022/2023
—E=-—/ —ZE-=
—E-HEF - S
Paper Consumption
(Unit: kg)
HRERE
(B : F%)
Given the business nature, paper is one of the primary resources — sspAH %3142 4195 2 H 3 (F 48 052 Y
consumed throughout its operation. During FY2022/2023, the Group  #HFrBEEEY — c R—T—— /—T——§f

consumed 67,445 pieces of paper and the corresponding weight was
337.20 kg (approximately 0.337 tonnes), which dropped by
approximately 11.01% in consumption as compared to that in
FY2021/2022. The Group has long been promoting the concept of
“Paperless Office” and "Office Automation” and encouraging its
employees to use less paper in the workplace while strengthening
their efforts to recycle the wastepaper.

Specific paper-saving measures in office adopted by the Group for the
year under review:

o Promote office automation and communicate by electronic
means online as much as possible;

o Collect single-sided paper for reuse, with double-sided printing
set as default;

o Put a single-sided paper collection box and paper-recycling box
near the photocopiers;

o Encourage all staff to reuse one-side printed papers as drafts;
and

o Give priority to recycled paper instead of virgin paper during
procurement to promote the recycled paper industry.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
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Unleaded Gasoline

RIE - HERERWSE

T
8,762

6,800.96
5,400.38

o

FY2020/2021 FY2021/2022 FY2022/2023
—E-F —g2-—/ =—E-=

R -UF DT 0F T =8F

Gasoline Consumption

(Unit: litre)
FURERE
(B8fr @ #)

Due to its business nature, the Group needs vehicles for research and
travel, and the major energy for transportation is unleaded gasoline.
In FY2022/2023, the gasoline consumption of the Group was
5,400.38 liters, representing a decrease of approximately 20.59% as
compared with FY2021/2022.

The Group has reduced the consumption of gasoline resources, and
at the same time controlled scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions.
Specific gasoline-saving measures are as follows:

o Promote low-carbon travel and encourage public transportation
such as subways;

o Coordinate employee travel plans and carpool as much as
possible; and

o Use technological applications such as online visualization to
organize more online conferences.

AEEENEESHETEEFEMATEE
EEIEQ@@E/&E@%H/I/E“E/\\\*%@
- :g:£%¢’$%lmﬁﬂﬁﬁ§ﬁ
540038ﬂ BM_T_-— /T __#FH
BB TR T #20.59% ©

AEER D THEREMRE - RN BEEHE
EUREREBEIN - ARG UREREREE -

o REBEHRHTT  HEMEFARE

o WHABTHITAE > FAIEHIELTT:

X

e FARLAGLEREER A8EZ
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HERE

RiE -

Targets for Resource Usage and Solutions

Resource Category

ERER

CA

#&c:

BREMABRRERE N
Targets for usage Solutions
ERER R e

Electricity Taking FY2021/2022 as the benchmark year, the e Increase employees’ awareness
Group targets to keep its power consumption of power saving
intensity within the same range at the same level e Power saving equipment
in the next 5 years. o Switch off when not necessary
B “E T _MEREEFE AKE o  HRETIHEEH
WEH%#$X5¢WHH@IWWﬁ BRE o HERE
REFFER —KF o e  EUERUHE
Water Since the data of water consumption of the Group Increase employees’ awareness
is collected and processed in the building of water conservation
collectively, accurate consumption data is not e Report leaking equipment
available. Therefore, specific water consumption e Install water filter
reduction targets cannot be formulated.
X NMRAKBEFKEREFAER —WERIE - o HRETEKER
BEARERAE  RREENTABNFEKE o EIRKER M
mﬁﬁ%° o RIUBKES
Paper Taking FY2021/2022 as the benchmark year, the e Paper recycling bin
Group targets to keep its paper consumption e Double-sided paper
within the same range at the same level in the e Paper saving slogan
next 5 years.
AR AZTZ— /“E__MFREEFE  AEE o HREKE
WE%%%*XS@W%E%EWW%%%%% e ZEHEHAR
FER—KF o o HRENKIIRGE

Unleaded Gasoline

Taking FY2021/2022 as the benchmark year, the
Group targets to keep its gasoline consumption
within the same range at the same level in the
next 5 years.

A=—T—— /T —BEARREEE  AEH
8 B R AR AR5 F A R 6 B AR EFH)TH
/Iélﬂt‘%i °

Encourage the use of public
transportation

Online conference

Reduce unnecessary business
trip

SEIAHRA

BRLes

WD RIS = I
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Section 3 Climate Action

Climate change is an issue that has become the focus of society
today, which has already had an irreversible impact on the world.
Global warming, rising temperature, and increasing extreme
weather have brought many adverse effects on society. Wealthking
Investments attaches great importance to climate change and actively
participates in the climate action initiated by the United Nations. In
FY2022/2023, the Group did not find any violations of laws and
regulations related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge to
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste,
and noise that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Emissions

Due to its business nature, the Group does not generate significant air
emissions during its business operations, which were mainly from fuel
combustion and electricity consumption of vehicles. In FY2022/2023,
the air emissions of nitrogen oxides (SO "), sulfur oxides (“NO ") and
particulate matter (“PM") were 0.079 kg, 2.33 kg and 0.17 kg
respectively. In response to China’s commitment to the “Dual-Carbon
Strategic Goal”, the Group has been striving to reduce its carbon
footprint during business operations. In FY2022/2023, the Group’s
greenhouse gas emissions were mainly due to the burning of gasoline
by vehicles and electricity consumption. Specifically, the total amount
of greenhouse gas emissions was tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent,
with a total consumption of 53.64 tonnes, representing a decrease of
approximately 21.88% as compared with FY2021/2022.

Since the solid waste and sewage generated by the Group were
collected and managed collectively by the building property
management company where the Group operates, the Group had no
detailed records of the amount of waste in FY2022/2023. Due to its
business nature, the Group did not generate any hazardous waste in
FY2022/2023. The Group’s emissions for FY2022/2023 are
summarized in Table 1 in the Appendix.
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RIE - B RERRE

Risk of Climate Change

The principal business of the Group is not directly linked to climate
and environment but is subject to the indirect effect of climate
change. Global climate change and the increase in extreme weather
will indirectly affect the operations of the Group's investees, leading
to possible capital expenditures, capital reallocation or allocation,
acquisitions and asset divestitures. The following table sets out the
potential risks that may be brought by climate change:

Risk Category Current Status
o ki Bk

RIRBCER

AEETEXBTERE  REARHB B
RHRREBECNOEEZE - RIRRREE &
mARBNERERFEARERRE QAN
& BYAIREMEAI L - EAEFH DB KA
B UWBNEEXBESERELE - THRES
[HRIRE(CARESHRABEERR -

Solutions

PR R B

Risk of Extreme Weather o Affect the safety and health of
employees
o Damage office equipment
o Communication failure
o Damage the business of investees

15 K SRR R s FEBEBELZERE
o MARHBXE
o EMEE

s REMNRREBXIE

o Work from home when necessary to
reduce commuting risks

o Reserve additional communication time

J Strengthen the disaster-resistant
construction of the office

o Carry out responsible investment and
diversify investment

] VERIRFERRER - R BEER

. ?ﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁhi_éﬂﬂ%Fﬁ

o IMEBPAEHRK

. EEE&§'§§&§EE

Brand Risk o Environmental pollution or product
quality problems exist in the
production process of the investee

o High carbon emissions in the
production process of the investee
lead to a risk of stranded assets

o The Group will take climate change into
consideration when investing in new
projects, and actively pay attention to
investment opportunities in areas such
as clean energy and environmental
protection

o Support public relations policies to
address social issues related to climate

change
an R B o RENARAEBRETHFERFSE o AKEEEREHEER  SHRKRE
EmEERE EMAZREEZA - BIREIFR
o REMNANRIEEBRFHMEENS - & R RRFAFEMRERS
EFERERR e  XFERHREZEBLERENR
R R
Market Risk o Climate change may lead to rising o Regular industry analysis

prices and fluctuations in the supply

o Focus on the follow-up action of

chain climate-related indicators and target
information
iRk o RIREMCAIRREBME LR HEE o TEHITERSN
RE e EBRREEBEEFENEFREENRE
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Risk Category Current Status Solutions
g ki) Bk fRR 1B HE
Policy Risk J The government may increase ESG J Focus on the promulgation and update
report disclosure requirements and of relevant laws and regulations, and
standards, resulting in increased the Legal Department will follow up
operating costs and make improvements
o Existing businesses may be adjusted
due to policy changes which may
result in diminished gains
R R o BUTFTREEIEIMESGMEWRBERM o  ERIEBERERNBMANER &
REIRLE - BEUBEKA LT B BR M U
o REXBIREABRKEHHE - Wa
X8
Emission Targets and Solutions B BERRRERE
Resource Category Targets for usage Solutions
ERESR ERER R R e

Air Emissions

2= R

Taking FY2021/2022 as the benchmark year, the
Group targets to keep its air emissions within the
same range at the same level in the next 5 years.
N—B-— /—E-_MEREREFE A&H
8B REMEREEN S FARFEZREENE -

Public transportation

Improve usage efficiency in office
space and save idle space
NEZBHT
REPAZEREARE - GHLR
EZME

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BEREHNX

Taking FY2021/2022 as the benchmark year, the
Group targets to keep its greenhouse gas
emissions within the same range at the same level
in the next 5 years.

NZZB-Z— /T _BEREEFE A5H
&8 B IREA RIS E #) 5 F AR R E REBHEN

B -°

Purchase emission-reducing
furniture for new offices

Control energy consumption in
energy-saving office

P A EBERRA
BRI - IEHIEERERER

Waste and Sewage

REZEY) B2 RE 7K

Due to its business nature, all wastes are domestic
wastes which are collected and processed in the
building collectively. Therefore, accurate emission
data is not available. Specific waste reduction
targets cannot be formulated.

EEBME AREEEY  HEFRES I
SRR - MERERERYNE - B AR
FRBEB AR

Strengthen daily environmental
protection promotion

Increase data collection and
further effective supervision in the
future

g B HIRREE
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RIB- HERERBE

CHAPTER 2 INVESTMENT RESPONSIBILITY

As an influential investment company, Wealthking Investments has
formulated strict requirements for responsible investment
management and incorporated sustainable development concepts
such as environmental protection and social responsibility into
investment strategies and investment objectives. Meanwhile, the
Group continues to improve anti-corruption management to
safeguard information security of the Group and improve the level of
compliance operations of the Group. Moreover, it assumes investment
responsibilities for the benefit of all stakeholders.

Section 1 Responsible Investment

As a leading investment company, Wealthking Investments actively
responds to the strategic requirements of accelerating the
transformation of green finance on which the " 14th Five-Year Plan”
in China has been focusing. It proactively assumes its responsibilities
for all stakeholders. In addition, it adheres to the principles of
responsible investment and strives to direct funds to solve urgent
issues such as environmental, social and governance issues while
continuing to explore green investment opportunities.

Responsible Investment Strategy and Targets

After almost 20 years of experience and strategic upgrade, the Group
has determined three synergistic driving forces, namely core-holding-
centered private equity, portfolio management and short-term trading
with an investment strategy of rational matching of background,
industry and cycle. In addition, the Group always integrates ESG-
related non-financial information assessments into investment
strategies and actively grasps ESG-related investment opportunities.
Comprehensive analysis is conducted for ESG risk exposures.
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In order to fulfill the social responsibility as an investment company,
the Group has formulated and continuously targeted its investments
in “green” industries to account for not less than 5% of the Group's
total investments. Based on investment strategies and investment
objectives, the Group selects, invests in, and holds long-term high-
quality industries and enterprises with long-term development
potential. It shifts its investment focus to new energy sector which
comprises of photovoltaics and wind power, as well as biological
products and smart manufacturing industries that serve the national
economy and people’s livelihood. Moreover, it increases the
proportion of investment that can mitigate climate change to
contribute to respond to ESG risks and climate change risks.

The Group is committed to improving the internal system and
researching the scientific method to establish an ESG committee and
incorporate it into the optimized ESG investment management
system. Currently, due to the impact of the market environment, the
Group is in the preparatory stage for the establishment of the ESG
Committee. In the future, it hopes to establish an independent and
effective ESG Committee to achieve the Group’s ESG investment
targets and expand the influence of the Group’s responsible
investment.
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Responsible Investment Management Policy
Management System of the Investment Committee
The Group formulates and strictly abides by the “Investment
Committee Management System” and “Secondary Market Investment
Management System”. The Investment Committee under the Board
of Directors (the “Investment Committee”) is authorized by the Board

of Directors to be responsible for the evaluation and decision-making
on major investment projects of the Group.

The Board of Directors stipulates two major decision-making authority
standards and four decision-making tasks for the Investment
Committee:

Decision-making Authority Standards 1)
of the Investment Committee

REEREEESE

REZESEHEHE

AEEBELEBET(RERZESEEHE)
FAZRMBREBEGE) EFG TREE

ZEEUUTHBEIRZE]) YHESFER
B AEUAKENEARERBETHER

EZERTETREZGMARKERSZE - MIA
RREBAR

Threshold of investment amount linked to a specific percentage of the
total net asset value of the Group

EASEREEFERE L OB E S EPIE

2)  Whether the investment project is @ connected transaction

BEGRREREE
WERE RS REE
Specific Decision-making tasks of 1)

the Investment Committee

B e ARRRER REHRERBZ

Decide whether to implement the investment project, and put
forward guiding opinions on the development direction of the project
BEME - YHIRAERSWRELES

HER

2)  Decide the major changes of the project after the investment

REHBERBHEAEE F1R

3)  Decide whether to implement an exit plan
REEBEMEHTER

4)  Propose investment decision-making suggestions to the Board of

Directors

FAEEGRORERKER

The Group requires all members of the Investment Committee to
abide by the law, be diligent and honest, be professional and
responsible, strictly observe business confidentiality, avoid conflicts of
interest, and safeguard the Group's interests. They should also
conduct regular self-examination and proactively make timely reports
on conflicts of interest.
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In the Event of
Conﬂict of Interest

B RFm

[BES

SEIH

Members of the
Investment
Committee

REEZEB

Role in the Investment
Committee

ERZTHENAEG

Solutions for Conflict
of Interest Matters

NSERBERRAR

Avoid and/or withdraw from the
Investment Committee meetings
in relation to such project
EpEE (‘%L ZIRA N

X EElu?ﬁz

Chairman of
the Investment
Committee

RERETR

Such investment projects
should be directly submitted to
the Board of Directors for decision

*ﬁ‘ﬁ?&élﬁﬁ 5 B

EE $E/ u?ﬁz

Solutions for issues involving conflicts of interest

BRABERERBRIR

New Project Introduction Management

The Group has adopted a two-way model of “top-down” and
“bottom-up” to control responsible investment. “Top-down”
represents the discovery of investment opportunities and participation
in research and due diligence with the investment team by the
management. “Bottom-up” represents the discovery of investment
opportunities and the preparation of research report by the
investment team before submitting the report to the management for
approval and conducting due diligence afterwards. Any new
investment projects are subject to approval by resolution of the
Chairman of the Investment Committee and (or) the Board of

Directors.

External Investment Manager Selection

The Group recognizes the concept of responsible investment and
integrates this concept into the selection and management of external
investment managers. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
team specifies the requirements for external investment managers to
be able to conduct responsible investment and proposes three
standards and management regulations related to responsible
investment, so as to reduce the ESG risk and climate-related risks of
the portfolio and the Group.

MIEESIAERE

AEEHEA LM TIMIBETHE] MER
EXAEBEAKRE#HTEN - [BELMTIIE
WEERERRKERs  BREEK B2
HAMMRBRAS: (BTMLE] BRIRER
BEBREERSWRZAMRE  RXEERE
R ARZFRAS - ERFHRREER Y
BESERZEEFEM(R)EBTNEIRZE

WA A B

SMERIR BRI

$%Emgwﬂﬁaﬁhﬁﬁwlﬁﬁ—ﬁé
BRSNS B AR IR R IR o ?%
%E%%L&¢%%7£%%&£W REEE

BEERENER  YRET=GREGHEER
ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁ%'%ﬁﬁﬁ&éﬁé
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Selection Requirements for External Investment Managers: SN IRE R MIBESR

(1)  Good investment management performance and no record of (1) EHFRIFMKREETIEEE  EELER
violation of laws and regulations; 08 s

(2) Compliance with anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and  (2) MAREYN - RAESHEEEEER
other relevant laws and regulations;

(3) Compliance with the labour laws in Hong Kong in terms of  (3) (EEEBMEIEFEEBLIIEN -
employment and management of employees.

Investment Decision-Making Tool BERETER

In order to conduct responsible investment efficiently and accurately, AT =S - EBHERE TTRE - NEFEE
the Group has adopted positive screening and negative screening to  FRFEEH SN B EHE D - HITE @ EITERE
conduct strict and comprehensive evaluation of investment targets. It &)« 2FE ML - EMEREEIE - EHBE
actively responds to the dual-carbon goal of “carbon peaking and HE&FEHIRERFHEE - FEREESDEK
carbon neutrality” proposed by the Chinese government while  fFZEH [HEEE - TR A BWERBIE o
making scientific and reasonable investment decisions with

environmental and social responsibilities.

Positive Screening:

FHEE :

Negative Screening:

EEEHE

Take new energy as one of the key investment channels and conduct research, evaluation
and calculation of potential investment targets to select investment targets with both
social and economic benefits.

RHERIERERBINRERE L —  HERRERHETHEN  FHEFRAE - A
B WA ML AR IRERH] o

Exclude industries such as military industry, tobacco, gaming, and other industries with
significant ESG risks.

HREL  BE  BYETE  URAMFEERESGRRNITE -
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Results of Full-chain Responsible Investment EREFERERR

The Group has incorporated environmental, social and governance  ARNEEE EHIRE - L2 RERNZEEM AR
considerations into investment analysis, due diligence, decision- E&HH » BEEFALS RENEREHESEEEIR
making and portfolio management. The Group's internal &7 - ZN S [@] 920 E IR HE 28 I it [ 56 R B2 4003
management framework and community strategies are capable of  BI ~ 3% - 5w koW T REFIEEEA B AR
identifying, reporting, discussing and analyzing major issues faced by 35 - & RE AN ALK E - se S B Hl

different departments in relation to environmental, social and & & B EE T o
governance risks and opportunities. They can efficiently formulate and
implement responses.

In FY2022/2023, the Group invested in 58 projects, exited from 16 R=-T=—= /—F - =84 KEEIREIEE

projects, added 1 green finance project, and accumulated 3 green  #(581E - ERHIBE & 1618 « FHELEEH

finance projects. BE1E RFAHCeREEHER3IHE -

CASE: Investing in environmental protection enterprises for the green circular development

The Group continues to pay attention to the investment in the field of hazardous waste management. Since 2019, it
has invested in Dexing Yifeng Recycled Nonferrous Metals Co., Ltd. The target company is principally engaged in
resource regeneration, focusing on the development of circular economy, and carrying out projects of harmless waste
residue and comprehensive recovery and recycling of polymetallic materials.

In FY2022/2023, the target company added 1 invention and 37 utility model patents on the basis of the original 3
patents and 1 engineering technology research center. Through this investment project, the Group utilized its capital
to promote the green development of real enterprises and contribute to the green circular economy.

RO REBRLE  BHIRCERRRE
AEBRKBRIATEYERRENRE IR —F-NFRRRERHATREBLACEBEREEILRA - %
BHAREENRFERBLE  FTERXRBREE  THREAEEEZ(CRZBERS DKRERMBNIEAR -

TR /R CCBER ZIENRRERANIAERN R E TR O AR L o #E 1 BEAM37
RERMUEN - AEBEBEBZIRERE  FEANNERDERLEGERR  SRLEREENER -

CASE: Joint Establishment of BEFS to Promote Water Resource Protection

In 2017, the Group was in collaboration with Beijing Enterprises Water Group (“BEWG”) to facilitate the establishment
of BE Financial Service (Beijing) Investment Holdings Limited (“BEFS”). The Group has further emphasized the
importance of improving recycling of water and the aquatic environment through the establishment of BEFS, and
strengthened its influence on water resources management and protection from the perspective of capital, so as to
continue to contribute to environmental protection.

B GERAIZILEZESIR - EBKERRE

—F—+tF AREERKBEEER AR ([1EFKE D EKREE - (2 TSR LR) REZEBRER AT
(MEEER]) MBI - REBRBKRIIITSIRE — BB TRE/EMNAKIKERENERE  REXANA
gk EREELARENTE  FERRBEFREFELER -
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CASE: Investing In Dagang Holding Group to Reduce the Negative Impact of Waste

In FY2019/2020, the Group determined to purchase a total of 63,202,590 shares, or 19.9% of the total capital of
Dagang Holding Group Co. Ltd. (“"Dagang Holding Group”). Dagang Holding Group has developed into a
comprehensive high-tech enterprise specialising in high-end road equipment R&D and manufacturing, urban road
smart operation and maintenance, and comprehensive recycling of hazardous waste and solid waste. Dagang Holding
Group has penetrated into the environmental protection industry beyond its existing business and acquired 52% of
the total equity of Zhongde Environmental Science And Technology Co. Ltd. (R{ERERFAR AT in 2019, which
engages in non-ferrous metal recycling based in Hunan Province, China.

R ARBREEREZR BOBRVWEAERSE

“E-NCRCRRF  AEEYEBERIZEREERODER DR (DERER ) & #£63,202,590 A7 (3£19.9%
BRAEER) - ZEMZERDEREA—FTEAUESMREE  EREMNFSHERRBMERE MmERERER
AREEEDMEREDREBWHE - EREREREEHK I EFRRRITE  IR-_FT-NFRERRE
RARMRBER AT 52% H@HER - ZAFRTESEAREAEBEYK -

CASE: Subscribing for Green Term Deposits to Seize Green Financial Opportunities

In September 2022, the Group subscribed for the green time deposit launched by Shanghai Pudong Development
Bank, aiming to support green economic projects. All the funds raised will be invested in qualified green economic
projects, including renewable energy, energy efficiency improvement, and pollution prevention and control projects. By
subscribing for time deposits, the Group has further seized the opportunities of green finance and jointly promoted
the development of green and sustainable finance.

R ABRETHENR  CELECSHEE

“TFAA AKERBHBRTELNSEEHRER EEXRSEKLERE  MESKINESHER
RAGERNAEKERE BB BARR  ERIRAMSAN ASZELEER - BARBEHER  £&E
E—SEREERESTREE  KAESRENAIRFESRIER -
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Section 2 Information Security

The Group has formulated the “Employee Handbook”, “Disclosure
Policy” and other data security policies, which clearly stipulate the
protection and management of confidential information including
business secrets. The Group has adopted physical, administrative and
technical management measures, and made requirements for all
employees and data users in terms of network, hardware, software,
electronic information, data backup, anti-virus, account password
maintenance, and user responsibilities in order to avoid the risks
posed by data breaches or confidential disclosures.

The Group strictly implements the internal system and requires all
employees not to disclose any key information of the Group to
outsiders or colleagues who have no direct relationships with them,
such as investor information, department information, office
information, employee information, etc. The Group requires
employees to carry confidential information documents with them
before leaving the office, or place them in a filing cabinet dedicated
to storing confidential materials and lock the door. All confidential
documents that are no longer needed should be shredded. From the
perspective of information technology, the Group has implemented
encryption measures for computer terminals and record access that
store confidential documents to ensure the security of confidential
information storage. In addition, in business operations, the Group
will sign confidentiality agreements with counterparties or include
confidentiality clauses in commercial contracts according to actual
needs to protect business secrets and prevent the risk of information
leakage. In FY2022/2023, there was no incident of confidential or
sensitive data leakage in the Group.

B HEREARE
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Section 3 Compliance Operation

Compliant operation is the cornerstone of sound operation and
sustainable development. Committed to maintaining a fair, ethical,
and efficient working environment, Wealthking Investments adheres
to the core values of honesty, integrity, and fairness, strictly abides by
the laws and regulations of various countries and regions,
continuously improves the compliance management system, and
comprehensively improves the level of internal compliance operations.

Management System

The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations such as the “Civil
Code of the People’s Republic of China”, “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Listing Rules”, “Company Ordinance”,
“Securities and Futures Ordinance” of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. The Board of Directors and the Compliance
Department established the internal control system for a series of
specific compliance issues such as the “Director Diversity Policy” and
"Disclosure System”. The Board of Directors is responsible for
maintaining a sound and effective compliance management system.
The compliance management department is mainly undertaken by the
Legal Affairs, Compliance and Risk Management Department (the
“Legal Department”). Various departments such as the Finance
Department, Human Resources Department, Investment Department,
and Investor Relations Department assist in the implementation and
implementation of the compliance with various requirements within
their respective scopes.

The Group has established a normalized identification mechanism for
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on operations to
actively respond to the supervision from regulators and the capital
market and reduce policy risks. As the first responsible department,
the Legal Department identifies and reports to the management.
Other departments supplement and identify laws and regulations that
may have an impact in their respective work areas. Meanwhile, the
Legal Department coordinates, evaluates, and reports to the
management depending on the degree of impact. After analysis and
assessment, the Group believes that the revised Listing Rules and
Corporate Governance Code of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited, which came into effect on 1 January 2022, will have a
significant impact on the Company’s operations in this financial year.
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In compliance with the amendments to the corporate governance
code and Listing Rules, the Group has taken the following steps and
measures:

o The Board has established the Group’s purpose, value and
strategy, and disclosed the same in the Annual Report. The
Board is satisfied itself that these and the Group's culture are
aligned.

o The Group adopted the “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policy” in December 2022 that supported anti-
corruption laws and regulations. The “Whistleblowing, Anti-
bribery and Corruption Policy” embodied and replaced the
“Policy on Acceptance of Advantage and Handling of Conflict
of Interest” which had been implemented since 2011.

o The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and system
for employees and those who deal with the Group.

o The Group has established a policy to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board, and disclosed the
policy in its Corporate Governance Report. The policy will be
reviewed annually.

o The Group has established a Board Diversity Policy. The policy
will be reviewed annually with a view to ensuring that the Board
will have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Group’s operation. The Group is
committed to Board diversity, and targets to appoint at least
one director of a different gender on the Board no later than 31
December 2024.
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Business Ethics

Business ethics is the internal basis for the orderly and compliant
operation of an enterprise, also a necessary requirement for an
enterprise to fulfill its responsibilities to stakeholders. The Group
strictly abides by the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Anti-Monopoly Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, "Securities and Futures Ordinance”, “Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance” (Chapter 615 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” (Chapter 201
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other laws and regulations. Aimed at
matters related to conflicts of interest, business confidentiality, anti-
corruption, anti-bribery, etc., the Group issued and implemented the
"Reporting and Anti-corruption and Bribery Policy”, “Anti-Corruption
and Bribery Policy (Internal Use)”, “Securities Trading Policy for the
Company’s Directors and Employees”, “Employee Handbook”,
“Investment Committee Management System” and other policies.
The Group requires employees to strictly abide by laws, regulations,
and company regulations, abide by business ethics, and practice
standardized operations.

Conflict of Interest

According to the guidelines issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission, the Group has stipulated in the “Employee Handbook”
requiring all employees to declare their own interests and the
accounts of their directly related parties, report the transaction status
of the current account, and prohibit illegal operations and insider
trading wait for immoral situations. In addition, in order to prevent
the occurrence of related transactions, the Group has introduced
internal management systems such as the Declaration of Relationship
with Listed Companies and/or Listing Applicants And Outside
Directorships and/or Business Interests. Reports will be made to the
Compliance Department truthfully and in a timely manner regarding
the employees who have an affiliated relationship or commercial
interest with the target company. The relationship with the relevant
target company can be updated at any time.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for all forms of bribery and corruption,
strictly implements the management of anti-corruption and integrity
in all aspects of operation, clearly stipulates the requirements for
preventing bribery, accepting benefits, providing benefits, abusing
power and company information, etc., and sets up and implements
measures including investment compliance assessment form,
relationship declaration with listed companies and/or listing applicants,
anti-money laundering risk assessment form, investment management
form, and anti-corruption training to prevent any misconduct or
malfeasance. In FY2022/2023, there were no internal staff violations
or corruption lawsuits in the Group.
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CASE: Actively Carrying Out Anti-Corruption Training

In March 2023, the Group held an anti-corruption training for directors and employees for FY2022/2023. This training
was held in the form of an online meeting and divided into two core parts. The first part was about the specific
requirements of the listing rules on anti-corruption issues, including director responsibilities, formulation of policies and
codes of conduct, regular training, and disclosure requirements. The second part introduced the Group’s Corruption
and Bribery Policy” and “Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy (Internal Use)”, which was announced in this financial year
and focused on the analysis of the reporting channels, methods, and handling procedures provided by the policy, as
well as the code and requirements of conduct for Group’s behaviors on anti-corruption, honest business, and avoiding
conflicts of interest in each specific operation process.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism IR

The Group has formulated the “Reporting and Anti-Corruption and AEBEH|IE TCRBERETHERE) B
Bribery Policy”, which covers all employees of the Group and third- TAREEBEREEIRE=HE1EE A TR
party partners. It specifies the reporting matters and reporting  RETE M ERRFRE - RE 7 RERRE - WIRH
channels, standardizes the reporting process, and puts forward a  T/RERFANER  AFLSRESRETS
statement on the protection of whistleblowers, promising to protect  Ef#{E « BEH AR BIHRIE -
whistleblowers from dismissal, persecution, or any form of retaliation.

Reporting by post Reporting by email
WEER ERER
Correspondence address: Email address of the
. . Rooms 3910-13, 39/F, Audit Committee:
RePortmg in Pers?n to i Cosco Tower, Grand audit.committee@
the Audit Committee Written report Millennium Plaza, wealthking.com.hk
#am EE R SR 183 Queen’s Road Central,
BEREESERY Hong Kong

WAL BEZZEGEIHIL
BEEEAES audit.committee@
18354 LB wealthking.com.hk

IR KE391£3910-13%

Reporting Channels

Ending the reporting
process

4 gaspsgo

fi=] NLAE

Reporting to the Accepting the report . . .

Audit Committee and responding to iSr:\?étsltri]ga?% n iRrﬁ/ceeslzlima%igmer\éwgﬁten
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Investor Services and Marketing

In FY2022/2023, the Group abided by the applicable relevant rules,
regulations and standards that have a significant impact on the Group
with regard to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters with respect to its operations and services and methods of
redress, including the following:

° Main Board Listing Rules;

o Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited;

o Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs;

° Companies Act (2021 Revision), Laws of Cayman Islands;

o Company Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Trust Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

° Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

o Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong); and

o Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

The nature of the Group’s business is an investment company under
Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules, and no services or products are provided
to any investors during its business operations. Therefore, issues such as
“Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons” and “number of products and service related
complaints received” are not applicable to the Group and will not be
discussed here.

The Group attaches great importance to the relationship and
communication with investors in its operation, and has set up
reporting and communication channels to listen to the suggestions
and opinions of investors and partners. In addition, the Group actively
participates in activities such as industry exchanges and investor
roadshows to promote the development of the industry and establish
a good and mutual trust relationship with investors.
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CASE: Wealthking Investments Participated in the ” % - Jt 8 " Roadshow

On 13 July 2022, the Group participated in the "% - JT F B " Roadshow of “The 20th Scaling New Heights Asia
Investment Forum 2022". Through the group investor meeting roadshow of the summit, the Group conducted
comprehensive and in-depth communication with investors face-to-face, introduced and discussed the investment

layout and development prospects of Metaverse to investors, so as to gain a deeper understanding of the true nature

Pl ERNEXRZHE[Z - FH | KERKE
—E-=F+A+=H" K‘%l’%ﬁiﬂ F_TEREIEE —
@i@ttﬁﬁ@ﬁ’ﬂd\%ﬁ&ﬁ%@%
MIEEMH BTSRRI R fﬂ’T‘
HER « RAFEIR ©

fﬂéﬁ’ﬁﬁm?\? FRITEE R

of the investor group and further enhance the close and friendly relationship between the two parties.

CAEBERANEMEREEETEHRARARZR

TDNREEE T -—F|2[%  TFHIEREE -
ﬁ&é%f‘ MMITTH
SNEERZEREMIEE  WE—FREELT

The Group strictly prohibits any false or exaggerated publicity, and
strictly compliance with laws and regulations such as the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China. All advertising materials are
reviewed by the Compliance Department before its publication, and
are only released after review and approval. Once the advertising
material is found to have misrepresentation or exaggeration, the
Group will immediately correct and rectify the problematic

advertisements.
Section 4 Intellectual Property Rights

Wealthking Investments strictly abides by various laws and regulations,
attaches great importance to the application and protection of
Intellectual Property Rights, and manage Intellectual Property Rights
throughout the entire business process. The main business is
investment activities, and the operation process mainly includes the
Group's trademarks, research reports produced by the Group and
similar works, and does not involve Intellectual Property Rights such as
inventions and utility model patents.
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Trademark Management

The Group's trademarks, including words, graphics, and collections of
pictures and texts, have been registered at the Trademark Registry of
the Intellectual Property Rights Department of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, and are in force under the applicable
trademark category according to the actual business needs of the
Group. In addition, the Group will regularly review, and apply for and/
or change trademark registration as needed according to the
development of new businesses.

Copyright Management

The Group respects and protects the copyright of every work and
every material. Regarding the Group’s copyright, the Group will
attach a copyright description to the independently produced research
reports, industry analysis, and other materials of similar works, so as
to clarify the ownership of the Group’s copyright without affecting
the realization of the circulation purpose of the works. At the same
time, in order to avoid negative incidents such as infringement, the
Group requires employees to indicate the source or obtain their
consent and authorization in accordance with the requirements of the
original copyright owner when citing texts, statements, pictures,
videos, and other materials.
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RIE - B RERRE

CHAPTER 3 HUMAN RESOURCES RESPONSIBILITY

Wealthking Investments adheres to the talent development concept
of “T.E.A.M=Together, Everyone Achieves More", maintains a stable
and good labor relationship with employees, provides employees with
fair and competitive salary and development opportunities, creates a
healthy and safe working environment, and effectively protects

employees rights.
Section 1 Employee Rights

The Group strictly complies with labor and employment laws and
regulations such as The Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
The Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
regulates the recruitment process such as recruitment requirements,
interview screening, approval and employment management, looking
for talents that meet the corporate culture and development needs.
The Group has formulated the “Annual Recruitment Plan”, which
concludes the position vacancies of each department, and the Human
Resources Department is responsible for selecting talents in fulfilment
of the Group's business development. The Group treats all candidates
equally, eliminates discrimination in gender, race, religion or any other
aspect, and resolutely prohibits the employment of child labor and
involuntary labor. In FY2022/2023, the Group did not experience any
significant violations of labor and employment laws and regulations.

The Group enters into employment contracts with employees,
strengthens the compliance management of employee employment,
protects the basic rights and interests of employees in accordance
with the law, realizes fair and compliant employment and recruitment,
and establishes a stable and good labor relationship between the
Group and employees. In FY2022/2023,the employee contract signing
rate of the Group was 100% and the employee turnover rate was
24.24%. The total number of employees of the Group was 33, 30 of
which were based in Hong Kong and 3 were based in Shenzhen,
Mainland China.
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Key Performance:

By gender:

Proportion of employment gender in FY2022/2023
—EBC-C B8 THRILLA

By age:

Proportion of employment age in FY2022/2023
—E-- /CE_=ETEEBHH

Aged 30 or below
30BmR AT
15%

Aged 51
or above
Aged
between
31 and 40
31Z405%

43%

between

41 and 50

41E508%
12%

RIE - HERERWSE

BARARN

B7ItE -

Proportion of employment gender in FY2021/2022
B /R BTIMRILA

BEFR -

Proportion of employment age in FY2021/2022
B /R BIFRILA

Aged 30
or below
30mRIAT Aged 51
22% or above
51mRI L
28%

Age Aged

between between
31 and 40 41 and 50
31E408%

41E508%

34% 16%

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENEXRBRAT | F522022/23

123



124

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HERERBS

By employment position:

Proportion of employment position in FY2022/2023

BT

Proportion of employment position in FY2021/2022

—E-- /BB TR

Entry level
employee

—E - /B S TRuLA

Entry level
employee

HEST
43%

Middle
Management
PREER
24%

Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group strictly prohibits any
discrimination and promotes equality in the workplace. The Group
actively encourages its employees to report any incidents involving
discrimination to the Human Resources Department of the Group,
which takes the responsibility for assessing, dealing with, recording
and taking any necessary disciplinary actions in relation to the
substantiated cases.

The Group attaches great importance to the diversity of its employees
and advocates a corporate culture of respect, tolerance, diversity and
openness. The Group makes its decisions in the recruitment,
employment, salary and promotion and development of employees
based on factors irrespective of its employees’ gender, age,
nationality, religion, belief, color, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation,
political affiliation, family and health status, etc. The Group continues
to be committed to promoting gender equality and equal pay for
employees, and continues to increase the proportion of female
employees in the senior management, with women accounting for
27.27% of senior management in FY2022/2023.
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Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers fair and competitive remuneration and development
opportunities in accordance with the applicants’ educational
backgrounds, personal attributes, job experiences, and career
aspirations.

The Group has established a comprehensive welfare protection system
in accordance with national and regional laws and regulations. In
addition, the Group actively introduces various non-salary benefits,
and expands a number of benefits to cover all employees, so as to
continuously improve employee benefits, care for employees in need
and their families, and create a value-sharing and responsibility-
sharing enterprise atmosphere.

Statutory benefits

ETE R A
KRR -
R ERE

B HEREARE

HFIMEEER
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#50E -

Leave entitlements: statutory holidays, rest days, annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, marriage leave, funeral leave, examination leave, personal leave, etc.

EEEMBRA KSR FAR - BER - ER - FRER  BR - BREH

Social insurance: basic pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,

work injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing fund

TeRE  EARERR

Medical insurance, health check-ups
BEERR - @FRER

Health insurance

2B IRIE

Women's Care

pegid ol

BRERR - KERR

create a breastfeeding friendly workplace

THRE  £ERBREFLES

Provide adequate supporting mechanisms to achieve best breastfeeding practice and

RHEADHIHEFIRERFESAREEER - BUSARERENTIESMA

Enlightened Management

The Group attaches great importance to the opinions of its
employees, actively listens to their voices, and provides employees
with open feedback channels. The Group encourages employees to
actively put forward suggestions and make real-name or anonymous
complaints. Employees can get in touch with relevant departments
through email, bulletin boards, telephone, weekly company meetings,
weekly reports, quarterly reports, and team building activities. Upon
receipt of employee feedback or complaints, the relevant department
will send an email to the business unit for investigation and follow-up,
respond effectively and help employees solve the problem.
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Section 2 Employee Training

To retain high-calibre employees, the Group refers to market
benchmarks in relation to staff promotion and provides equal
opportunities for promotion and development for eligible employees
who have shown outstanding performance and potential in their
positions.

The Group sees its employees as its precious assets, based on the
long-term development of the enterprise, invests a lot of resources to
build a staff training system, continuously builds a talent team to
adapt to business development, and formulate training programmes
to strengthen its employees’ capability and competitiveness. To
address the deficiency in knowledge and professional skillsets of its
employees, the Group encourages and supports its employees to
further improve and develop their job-related skills and knowledge for
career development through taking courses with recognised
institutions.

In order to enhance its employees’ professional competence to further
strengthen the Group’s core competitiveness in the market, the Group
has been committed to designing and providing suitable training
programmes to its employees in accordance with their job nature. The
Group has covered the introduction to industry background,
professional knowledge and skillsets, laws and regulation in its
training programmes.

Given the business nature of the Group, it is crucial for its employees
to keep updated with the latest regulatory requirements and
significant changes to the economic market. The employees of the
Group are highly encouraged to take professional qualification
examinations and enroll in external training programmes to further
equip themselves with professional knowledge. Employees who have
taken professional qualification examinations and obtained vocational
qualification certificates relevant to their roles in the Group will receive
reimbursements from the Group. A copy of the “Examination &
Training Reimbursement Form” can be obtained from the HR
Manager with a list of pre-approved examinations and procedures of
reimbursement.

In FY2022/2023, the Group provided a total of 146 hours of training
for its employees. The breakdown of the Group'’s training information
in terms of gender, employee category and training hours is detailed
in Tables 5 in the Appendix.
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Section 3 Employee Safety E=fi BIZ%:

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations in relation — AN&E BB (P E A R LB B8
to health and safety protection, such as the “Law of the People’s k) R (B2 %2 M2 EEIEH]) (B EHI% 509
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases )£ HMEE R L 2 RENBREZER
and Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the Laws EfUEER 2R EL 2 E B KIS0 45001 -
of Hong Kong), and implements the 1SO 45001 occupational health FHAB TREREZFREREZEM TIESAT
and safety management system. the Group strives to create and  FIIRIE - B RIB AR E T EEs &y T
maintain a healthy and safe workplace for its employees, and in  @EENZZEM -

particular, commits to addressing any exposures of its employees to

occupational health and safety risks.

Measures to Maintain Employee Safety:
HEETREWE

Ensured employees’ desk setup is ergonomic;

RRATHHASRENA ABTRE

Encouraged employees to take regular breaks and lower overall sedentary exposure;

BB TEBRNKRE MO ALTEIER

Arranged emergency response drills and safety meetings regularly;
THRHRSBRE L2 EE

Maintained and cleaned the air-conditioning systems regularly;

EHRERBRZEFHERL

Promoted the “5S” concept in workplace management;

ETVESRERPHEE [5S] B

Ensured the ventilation in the offices complies with the guidelines and standards of the building;
HRPAZHBEAMSRZEYN LR RFLE

Organised professional disinfection of carpets;

ZHERABHSHH

Prohibited smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace; and

RIS PIEE I E R e R RO - &

At the end of 2022, environmentally friendly carpets and wallpapers were used when decorating the new office,
and formaldehyde removal projects were also carried out for furniture and decoration.
“EC_FRAEREFRAEREATRARMBE - BR  KARKESHETTRARERIR -

Formaldehyde removal report

PREAEERR &

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENERBRDA / F72022/23

127



128

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIB- HERERBE

The Group attaches great importance to the health of its employees,
and thus all full-time employees of the Group are entitled to medical
plans covering out-patient clinical visits, hospitalisation, dental check-
ups and surgical treatment. Besides, the Group had upgraded the
medical plan to provide wider coverage, such as body check-ups,
vaccinations, and vision care, and increased the upper limit of each
claim of dental consultation. The Group has also partnered with the
insurance service provider to adopt an e-claim mobile application. The
Group has developed a response mechanism to deal with any
emergency, by providing immediate support for the injured, launching
investigations to examine root causes and taking corrective actions to
avoid recurrence.

In FY2022/2023, the Group invested HKD324,100 in occupational
health and safety for employees in medical and labor insurance, and
invested HKD 14,500 in work safety for office insurance. There were
zero work-related fatalities, zero work-related injuries and zero work-
related injuries lost days.
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CHAPTER 4 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Wealthking Investments is committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility and continuously creating value for the society. We
strictly screen suppliers and maintain stable cooperation, participate in
improving the well-being of community groups in difficult times, and
explore more opportunities to create value for society.

Section 1 Supplier Management

B HEREARE
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Bar charts of distribution of suppliers by region
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Due to the nature of Wealthking Investments’s business, suppliers are
an integral part of the operation process. The Group has established
good business relationships with some suppliers of office supplies and
technical support, and chooses green office supplies, such as paper,
to choose recycled paper as much as possible. In order to effectively
identify and avoid potential social and environmental risks in the
supply chain and promote the sustainable development of the entire
supply chain, the Group is committed to establishing a standardized
system for supplier management, which is applied to supplier
screening, supplier review and other processes.
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Supplier Screening

The Group carefully selects suppliers and has an in-depth
understanding of suppliers. The administrative department is
responsible for monitoring the selection of suppliers and supervising
the procurement process. In the process of selecting a supplier, the
Administration Department considers a range of criteria and assesses
the supplier’s regulatory compliance before entering into an
agreement. At the same time, the Group adheres to the principle of
“comparing three or more relevant suppliers”, and in accordance with
the above-mentioned social, environmental and government
regulations, systems and standards, considers and selects the
appropriate supplier from multiple dimensions, and reaches a stable
cooperation with suppliers.

@ﬂ ;—:éutation

Environmental Management

@3 Performance

BRIREEAN

@ 5 Track Record for the Past Three Years
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Six Factors for Evaluating Suppliers
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Supplier Review

The Group has entered into friendly negotiations with its suppliers,
signed and performed fair and reasonable supply contracts, and
required suppliers to commit to complying with relevant laws and
regulations to reduce supply chain risks. The administrative
department is responsible for regular inspections and audits of signed
suppliers, checking their environmental performance, whether there is
green operation, and calling for response to emission reduction and
pollution reduction; checking labor practices, whether there is illegal
employment, and treating employees equally, legally and compliantly;
checking the quality of the purchased products, whether the quality
and quantity are guaranteed, and the content stipulated in the
contract is qualified. If it is found that the supplier does not comply
with the Group's standards or contract regulations, we will withdraw
from cooperation with the supplier and blacklist them. The Group will
continue to cooperate with suppliers that have been reviewed and
approved by the administrative department, and strive to promote a
win-win business environment.

Green Supply Chain

The Group integrates the concept of “green procurement” into the
construction of the supplier system, giving priority to green
operations, low-carbon environmental protection products and
suppliers. In addition, we try our best to select local suppliers to
promote the common development of surrounding areas and reduce
the environmental impact of transportation links in the supply chain.

B HEREARE

HEBEE
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CASE: Purchasing Green Furniture for New Workplace

The Group selected green furniture suppliers, purchasing 290 square meters of carpets in December 2022, and
participating in the third-party verified Carbon Neutral Floors™ program. The use of carpets reduced a total of 3 metric
tons of carbon dioxide, which is equivalent to the carbon dioxide emissions of a car driving 11,986 kilometers. The
entire supply chain is carbon neutral throughout its life cycle, contributing to the reduction of global warming. At the
same time, the Group purchases green wallpaper that meets the EN 15102:2007 standard, conducts and passes
relevant tests for flammability and hazardous substance release, to ensure that the release of formaldehyde, heavy
metals, and other hazardous substances will not endanger health and meet product requirements.

R HTESHRBERERA

AEEHRESERAMRER AT -__F+ - AKB20FHANME - 8% =775 & Carbon Neutral
Floors ™&t &1 B4 fF A #85HR A 3 AME —|bfiR - AHER —WEBETE 11,986 TEMN —SLiHINE - BEMHRE
wEAGAHANERRTMN - SRS 2HERBEER - B - RKEFAEN 15102:2007 REALR S HA - HRA
WRIE - Bl EBRCETT SRBARRAR  BETE SeBRHEMERYERN ISR ER  FEEREX -

Interface’

Carbon .
Neutral Floors

[— BOLTA

Certificate of Carbon Neutral Floors Certificate of Green Wallpaper

PN RERRE BREBEAERE
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Section 2 Social Investment FoH HERE

Wealthking Investments relies on the society to develop its own ZEREREFHEZHSBERBE FER - HKRHBAE

business, always with a sense of gratitude, and gives back to the RKEZIF WiEBBECHERTHEEHLE -

society through its own practical actions. During the difficult period of  EZIEMESE] - AR EHEIEETFE » 8EA
the epidemic, due to the regulations of the local system, it was 4#E/TE TN A8 MAEED LAENEA

impossible to organize offline public welfare activities, and the Group HEMEEOKE @ FEETHREETHEE

did not give up the opportunity to contribute to the society, and FERERBARE  EERNARESEZHA]

made donations through specific organizations to help the poor get g » (RiEH @ HEE LR -
more benefits while protecting the environment and promote the
common progress and development of society.

CASE: Computer Donation Public Welfare Activities

In July 2022, Wealthking Investments donated used computers and accessories to Caritas Computer Factory, a total of
15 computers, 2 LCD monitors and 2 accessories. The organization promises to refurbish the computer and destroy
the original data to ensure data security. The refurbished computers will be distributed to poor people or non-profit
organizations, so that the donations can be used to the greatest extent and transferred to those in need. Unusable
computers or accessories will be recycled in an environmentally sound manner.

A ERBERARES

TR FLR ERENEREEESMMEAABAEERIS A I5MEM 28 LICOETRFR2ARM - #
BAGEENBNEN  HREAER  REHELE - BHNEMRSSRAZERARNZIFLEFEL - 18
BzWEESARE ENAFEZA - MEBEERNERKEH BB RFEETNHNETEY -

Donation of used computers Letter of appreciation from the organization

BEEEKEMN HBRHE
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APPENDIX | KEY PERFORMANCE fex— BEEREN
Table 1 — The Group’s Emissions by Category in FY2022/2023 %1 —A&EER_-_T=-= “"ZS_=BERKR=
and FY2021/2022° B /B _HMFERERNFHRERES
Key
Performance Amountin Intensity’ in Amount in Intensity® in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2022/2023 FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022'  FY2021/2022
—E-C —E-C —ZE=—/ —ZE=—/
—E-= —EC-= —ZF-- -
BHEEHY PR B B
Emission Category # i 35l HRENER B FHE HHERES e HMERES
Air Emissions ZRHFR SO, Kg 0.079 0.0024 0.10 0.0031
T
NO, Kg 233 0.0706 2.94 0.0919
T
PM Kg 0.17 0.0052 0.22 0.0069
TR
GHG Emissions ~ BZERHEHEK  Scope 1 (Direct Tonnes 14.36 0.4352 18.09 0.5653
Emissions)* of COe

#EN I k=¥ o3
(B =g

Scope 2 Tonnes 39.28 1.1903 50.91 1.5909
(Energy Indirect of COe
Emissions)?
#E2 Wi =ik
(BERBEAH 28
G370k
Total Tonnes 53.64 1.6255 69.00 2.1563
(Scope 1 &2) of COe
Bt W — & rik
(81 %2) 28
Non-Hazardous  EEREEY Wastewater* m? 220.6875 6.6875 214.00 6.6875
Waste 57k AR
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The amount and intensity in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG
report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2021/2022;

The Group’s Scope 1 (Direct Emissions) included only the consumption of
unleaded gasoline in motor vehicles;

The Group's Scope 2 (Energy Indirect Emissions) only included only electricity
consumption;

Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property
management company of the building during the year under review, the
amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water
consumption per capita per day;

Intensity for FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022 were calculated by dividing the
Group's emissions in that year by the number of employees in that year.
During FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022, the number of employees was 33
and 32, respectively;

The methodology adopted for reporting on GHG emissions set out above
was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, Guidelines
to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for
Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong
and the 2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) Guidelines
for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.

RIE - HERERWSE

—E-— /T CBERNERERBAEIIRN
REE-—ZT=Z— /T _HFFEREPHIR
B HERERRE
REBWHEE 1 (EEHBESR
HERE
NEEMHHE 2 (RREANEES ERES
JIERE
ERAEMETE D AR EBEFE R ERLK
EREDH m@m%mﬁAwiammém
HPE

EERNENT

o R CER T T
%EmﬁF%Lﬂ%$ﬁl%¢W¢Wmmﬂi

BUAREEEFHFNETAG (- /=
T =MFAR3IBA :2:—/,2::%@
B32N)REHE

FMlsRE R EREHERATRAN T ERERER

%%ﬁ%(mﬂﬁﬁ%% HEgRERRE — M
B REMRABERERES) (BEEE
W (FE% - EERDLME) RER IR
%mﬁﬁﬂﬁihaﬂﬂm%iﬁﬁﬁﬂf“
EBFIZEGRIZIREREIIRIER)
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i%i% N ?‘i%&k /D#&l:l

Table 2 — The Group’s Resource Consumption in FY2022/2023 X2 — — T =-=Z /ZZBE-Z=ZBHFE K=

and FY2021/2022

:—/:§::M$$$Eﬁﬁﬁmgﬁﬁ

Amount of  Intensity? of Amount of Intensity? of
Resource Resource Resource Resource
Key Consumption Consumption  Consumption  Consumption
Performance in in in in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2022/2023 FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022"  FY2021/2022
—E-C —E-C —ZE=—/ —ZE=—/
—EZ= —EC-= —F-- —E--
BEN  HENER R BFENER
Use of Resources & RfEA HRENEN B EREAE FRERE? BREAE GERSRE?
Energy BER Electricity kWh’000 49.10 1.4879 71.71 2.2409
eV TETRE
Unleaded L 5,400.38 163.6479 6,800.96 212.5300
Gasoline
B AR A
TOTAL kWh'000 101.44 3.0739 137.62 4.3006
st TET R
Water? K3 Water m? 220.6875 6.6875 214.0 6.6875
K MFHK
Paper #iR Paper tonnes 0.3372 0.0102 0.3790 0.0118
it 1
Packaging BEMH Cartons tonnes 0.2 0.0061 = =
Materials il ]
L The amount in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in 1 - T —HEHEHRERFEaER

the Group’s annual report for FY2021/2022;

2 Intensity for FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022 was calculated by dividing the 2
Group ‘s emissions in that year by the number of employees in that year.
During FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022, the number of employees was 33
and 32, respectively;

2 Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property 3
management company of the building during the year under review, the
amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water
consumption per capita per day.
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Table 3 — Employee of the Group in FY2022/2023 and %®3 — —8=-=Z —“EB-_=HER=2
FY2021/2022 - CE_EREEETIHE

FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022'

—=E=-= —ZE-—/
SEICUE T HF
Number of employees ET A% Total FEUNEt 33 32
By gender 214 B Male B 16 15
Female g 17 17
By region ZihE Hong Kong e 30 27
Mainland China AR B K e 3 5
By age BRE®R Aged 51 or above 515N E 10 9
Aged between 41 41 & 505% 4
and 50
Aged between 31 312 405% 14 11
and 40
Aged 30 or below 305 M IAT 5 7
By Professional REFE Senior Management &4 &2 [ 1 10
Middle Management = 4% 18 @ 8 7
Entry level employee EEE T 14 15
Professional ETEZERER Investment KEER 27.27% 31.25%
Composition Management
Category of Operations BEER 24.24% 15.63%
Employees Management
Financial officer B AB 12.12% 15.63%
Director = 21.21% 18.75%
Internal control WEAE 12.12% 12.50%
personnel
Human Resources A HER 3.03% 6.25%
! The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the 1 —E - /B CBHENSEEBAaEYNA
Group's annual report for FY2021/2022. EB T /T _UEFEREPHIR

% HeRERWE -
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Table 4 — Employee Turnover of the Group in FY2022/2023and ®4 — — BB == /ZE-_Z=ZHERKR=Z
FY2021/2022 —— /B _BEAREEEIRBEE

FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022'

—E—= —E2_—/
SED=HE T HF
Number of Employee BBIE T AH Total @A 8 12
Turnover
Employee turnover BIfk= Percentage Bkt 24.24% 37.50%
rate
By gender #1453 Male B 3 5
Female It
By region R E Hong Kong e 7 10
Mainland China AR B K e 1 2
By age BER Aged 51 or above 515N E 3
Aged between 41 41 E505%
and 50
Aged between 31 312 405% 2 5
and 40
Aged 30 or below 305 M IAT 2 2
L The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the 1 —E - /R CHENSBEERAEIAA
Group's annual report for FY2021/2022. EB T /T _HEFEREPHIR
5 e RERRE -
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Table 5 — Employees Trained of the Group in FY2022/2023 and

®KS ——_FB-_-_/=—TB_-=

BERZ-E

FY2021/2022 - /CE_EREBEE TS
FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022"
—E-= —E=—/
SBCCHE S HEF
Total number of ESEIIMETAAE Totl FEUN 32 36
employees trained
Number of employees BRI AE Male S 16 17
trained by gender Percentage of XEEENH 50.00% 47.20%
employees trained
Female ey 16 19
Percentage of XilEEBESL 50.00% 52.80%
employees trained
Number of employees BETEREIAE  Senior Management aREEE 10 10
trained by type Percentage of XiEEEN 31.25% 27.80%
employees trained
Middle Management R EIEE 8 7
Percentage of XEEFENL 25.00% 19.40%
employees trained
Entry level employee HEEET 14 19
Percentage of XiIlEEEA L 43.75% 52.80%
employees trained
Total training hours ETESEINERRE Hours /N 146 234
Average training hours  ETEFIFHIRE Hours /N 4.56 7.31
By gender ZH5 Training hours for male B K 96 115
Average training hours ~ F# 553 & 6.0 7.7
Training hours for female 214353l & 50 119
Average training hours 4553|521 3.125 7
By type RETER Training hours for BREREEIIRR 124 79.5
Senior Management
Average training hours  F151% 5 BEE] 124 8.0
Training hours for RRER RN R 8 525
Middle Management
Average training hours 555 3| FF & 1 7.5
Training hours for EESTEIEERE 14 102
Entry level employee
Average training hours 5% 5 BEFE 1 6.8

! The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the

Group's annual report for FY2021/2022.

1 —E - /- HERNSEERAEIAA
EE T /T _HEFERETNR
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RIE -HERE

Table 6 — Employees Safety of the Group in FY2022/2023,

:A #& =

FY2021/2022 and FY2020/2021

®6 — —_T_=- /"“TE-_=HF-

-/ CEC__HER=-E=% = E_—@

FAEEEIRZ2HIE
Unit FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022" FY2020/2021
—E-C —Eg-—/ ZE-F
By SROCHE T CME _E_HEF
Employee Occupational ETIREREZ2RA HK$'000 FBk 324.1 198.99 =
Health and Safety
commitment
Safety production RREERA HK$’ 000 Ttk 14.5 145 =
commitment
Number of work-related HIZERETAE People A 0 0 0
injuries or fatalities
Rate of injuries or fatalities SEHF TR Proportion £l 0 0 0
(per hundred workers) (BEBIA)
Lost days due to work injury E T ZEMERN Days X 0 0 0

BAXE

L The data in FY2021/2022 and FY2020/2021 were extracted from the ESG 1
report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2021/2022.
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Table 7 — Corporate Governance of the Group in FY2022/2023 %7 — — 8- /2= ER=-2
and FY2021/2022 —— CEZ—REREBATREHE

FY2022/2023  FY2021/2022'

—E-C— 2=/
SEIZHRE T CfF
Times of Board EZSAEBHEARE  Times PN 4 4
Meetings Held
Board size EEL-PN1 People A 6 6
By gender g 3| Male B 6 6
Female i
By type RER Independent director B #E
Non-independent BN ES
director
Directors’ average ESTI9HMH HK$'000 FB 250/year  509.125/year
remuneration 250, %  509.125/%F
Number of MBEESEEEEN  Number s 3 3
trademarks and NEFMEHE
word registration
rights held
by Intellectual
Property Rights
U The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the 1 —E - /B CBHENBELBEAEHIINAK
Group's annual report for FY2021/2022. SE T /T _UFEFEREPHIR

B HERERRE
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Table 8 — Anti-corruption of the Group in FY2022/2023 and X8 — — B == /Z“E-_Z=ZHERKR=Z
FY2021/2022 —— /B _HEXREERETEE

FY2022/2023  FY2021/2022'

—E-— —E2-—/
“ECCSHME T CBF
Number of anti-corruption REFREHEHR Number 15 0 0
and anti-corruption EHE
reporting incidents
Average hours of BIEZIRES Hours AN 1 1
employees receiving R B RE AN
anti-corruption FIRFE
training
Number of employees EZRESREH People A 26 26
receiving anti- EINE T AH
corruption training
Average hours of EEEIRES Hours N 1 1
directors receiving B BIEINE
anti-corruption TR E
training
Number of directors BEEEYRES People A 6 6
receiving anti- KRB AE
corruption training
1 The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the 1 - /T —HENEBERFEHIINA
Group's annual report for FY2021/2022. EB T /T _HEFEREPHIR

% HERERWE -
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B HEREARE

Table 9 — Suppliers of the Group in FY2022/2023 and %9 — —T=-= —“EBE-_=HER=-2
FY2021/2022 - /R _BEAEEEETEE

FY2022/2023  FY2021/2022'

—E-C— —E2-—/
“ROCHE T ME
Number of Suppliers  #EERHE Total BES 22 22
By region Rt EE S Suppliers in Y 21 21
Hong Kong
Suppliers in A B K RE L pE Y 1 1
Mainland China
! The data in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the ESG report set out in the 1 —E - — /R CHEMEEEEEENRA

Group's annual report for FY2021/2022.

KE-_ZT-— /T _PEFEFERESFHOR
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APPENDIX Il INDICATOR INDEX gk — $E1Z=RI|

Indicators

EERR

Relevant Section

HEEE

A. Environmental Categories
A RIGER

A1: Emissions General Disclosure

A1 HERY —MIE

Al

A1.2

A13

Al.4

A15

A1.6

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BFRAERMAEREBER  MAKRLHOEES BE
REEBEZVNELEN  @QER: Rb)ETHET
ANEERZENRBEERROIHER

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BE e RE AR IR EBUR o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BE(BE) RgREEZ (SBE2) AERBHME (A
WEtE) R (ER) HE(MUNEESEM  §AXR
MaEtE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FEARZEEEYEE (CABERTE) R (ER) ZE (1
NEESE - BERmTE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
PREAREEEYEE CANAE) R (ER) BmE (1
EERBER - GELEHE) -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

R FTET B BENE B IR R AE RS L B R P EREREY
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HEEREREEREEMN L - IR
RERRRREIEL R FARRNTR -

1.3 Climate Action

138 R1TE

1.3 Climate Action
Appendix Tables 1
1.3 RIRITE)

P ERR 1

1.3 Climate Action
Appendix Tables 1

1.3RETE

B #rR 1

1.3 Climate Action

1.3RI&1TE

1.3 Climate Action
Appendix Tables 1

1.3R/R1TE
B8k 1
1.3 Climate Action

1.3RIRTTE

1.3 Climate Action

138 E1TE
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Indicators

EEAR

Relevant Section

il

A2: Use of Resources

A2  ERERA

General Disclosure

—RIKE
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERER(BIERR - KREMEREMEL) BHEE o
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BEMNESNERR SHEEER(MNE - JHh)
FE(UTETERGE) REE (MUNEESEL -
AR E)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BREKEREE (WATESEN - §EREHE)

s

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

R PIET VM aERERA R B R R AESELEBEM
KRR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

fi st SRERGE R KR BRI B B - LA R PRATSZ 80 A
KRR e BIR R RIER S L B ARPTERER A 25

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

R mAAEEMNEE (AEE) R (ER) S
HAEBARRE o

1.2 Energy Use

1.286RER
1.2 Energy Use
Appendix Tables 2

1.2 88IR(E R
P87 2

1.2 Energy Use
Appendix Tables 2
1.288REM
FifgER 2

1.2 Energy Use

1.288R{EMA

1.2 Energy Use

1.2 68 IR

1.2 Energy Use
Appendix Tables 2

1.288 R
BigRk 2

A3: The Environment
and Natural Resources

A3 BIERAREIR

General Disclosure

—RE

A3.1

A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

BEEITAHRRERAAEREXREATENOIE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.

HAERBEHERRERRAARERNEATE RE RN
ERARTENTY -

1.1 Environmental
Management

1.2 Energy Use
TIRRER
1.288REM

1.1 Environmental
Management

1.2 Energy Use

1.3 Climate Action
TIRRER
1.288REM

1.3 RIRITE)
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Indicators

EEAR

Relevant Section

i

A4: Climate Change

A4 RIER1L

General Disclosure

—RE

A4

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

BRI N EHERRAIGEGEHBETAEEZENEAR
RABEEENEER

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BRI EHBRTAELARENERRIZEH
=H - REHTEH -

1.3 Climate Action

1.3RE1TH

1.3 Climate Action

13RM&1TE

B. Social Categories
B. it R HIRE
B1: Employment

B1: EE

General Disclosure

—RIE

B1.1

B1.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERFMRERE BEREA  ILERH R F
Ee . Zalt REEUAREMEEREMNN : ()
BEK R(b)ETHETABEATENHEBERZ MR
Bl o

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full-or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

BIER EEER (N2 BEEE)
EbaNo] =ML

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

IR - FiedR MtRE

FEeAR KiER

DB TRALLE -

3.1 Employee Rights
3.2 Employee
Trainings

3.1 Employee Rights
Appendix Tables 3

3.1 BI#Em
FigE 3
Appendix Tables 4

PisEsk 4
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEREARE

Relevant Section

il

B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure

B2 . REHEZZE

— R

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FHRERZ2THERERREE THEBELEEMN
@BER : RO)BTHETABEATENBMERR
ROIEEH -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=F(BHEERFRE)BFRITHMABRLE -
Lost days due to work injury.

RIEEARTIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

WL PTER N B R R RER 210 - ARBRARTR
ERFE-

3.3 Employees’
Safety

Appendix Tables 6

FiEER 6
Appendix Tables 6
FEER 6

3.3 Employees’
Safety

1o

33BI1%%

’

B3: Development and

Training

B3 : BRI

General Disclosure

—RIE

B3.1

B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BERRABIBITIIEBENMHBERRENBUR -
MIBFEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BURKETHEAN(NSRERE TREEES)E
PHXIEIBDL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
BUERIRETHRERMNESD 848 TxKXIIN TR
)

3.2 Employee
Trainings

32 8T

Appendix Tables 5

B8R 5

Appendix Tables 5

FiERk 5
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIB- HERERBE

Indicators

EEAR

Relevant Section

Gl

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : % T %A

General Disclosure

—RIE

B4.1

B4.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BRAMIEZE TSRS TH) : (aBR : R(b)BFH
TABERTENHRBZERZLRDINER -
Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour.

R REEMNRE NS RET REHIST -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered

WA RIRE R B ER A RIS R PTREA PR -

3.1 Employee Rights

ERN= N

3.1 Employee Rights

31 BEIH#R
3.1 Employee Rights

3 ETHER

B5: Supply Chain
Management
BS : HEEER

General Disclosure

—RINE
B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.

EERMEENIRIE RS RREBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BB DHNHERHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

H AR HEEEMEN - MERTE BB R MH
FEREE - URABEHINRITRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

AR HERESERONRE R ERARAE
5 - ARARBAIT RER A o

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

L ERE B R (e 8 2 BERRE fm MR RER -
AR AERETT RERTE -

4.1 Supplier
Management

A1 HEREE
4.1 Supplier
Management
Appendix Tables 9
41 HERER
FigRsz 9

4.1 Supplier
Management

41 EREE

4.1 Supplier
Management

4N EERE TR

4.1 Supplier
Management

4R EE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERHRE

Indicators Relevant Section
EBRE HBRES
B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 2.1 Responsible

Responsibility

B6: EmEE

—RE

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

BREMRHEERMRBNEEERZ2  BEE BERK
RAEERRMRYITEN : QBK  Rb)&THET

ABERZENRBEERAPINER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEICERERBHTHLR 2 BIZEIEHMALRK
WEDL -

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
EREENERERSOIRFEE AREE X -
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

i 0 B 4 2 RS AN E R R I o

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

g ST REREMEWERT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
i E B ESRRERFLEBECE - URBERTRE
BIE

Investment

2.3 Compliance
Operation

2.4 Intellectual
Property Rights
2188 ERE
236KEE
2AMBERE
2.3 Compliance
Operation
235HESE

2.3 Compliance
Operation
236K ES
2.4 Intellectual
Property Rights
24 MBERE
2.3 Compliance
Operation
236K EE
2.2 Information
Security
2258 %%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIB- HERERBE

Indicators

EEAR

Relevant Section

i

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RES

General Disclosure

—MRRE

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRAMTIERRRE - B1R - BGEFROE B - @B : K(b)
BTHEITAREAZENBBEENROINEHR -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERPAHBETASEEIRETEELENESTH
ARMEE B MFARER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
R BREF - ARBERITRERGE -
Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

WM EENE TRENRESE -

2.3 Compliance
Operation

2.3 Compliance
Operation
Appendix Tables 8

235HESE
FiEEz 8

2.3 Compliance
Operation

236K E:R
2.3 Compliance
Operation
Appendix Tables 8
236KEE
figgs 8

B8: Community
Investment

BS: HERE

General Disclosure

—MRIRE

B8.1

B8.1

B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and
to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
BALHE2ERTREEMELRTEMEMRELE
BEBEZEMEFZEOBR o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,

sport).
BT EREE(NHE  REEE  SIHK BF -
XMkt BE)

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIREMBRER -

4.2 Social Investment

A2HEHRE

4.2 Social Investment

42HERE

4.2 Social Investment
424t I8 E
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Yy

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WEALTHKING INVESTMENTS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wealthking
Investments Limited (the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 156 to 263, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B EE RS

HENEFARAARR

(RESHSEME LI ERL )

=z
=
AN

BMEETENMEARBRARI(EAR]) KA
MEAR(FEIEEE])EHNE 156 E263H
MEEHEHRE BER_ZEZ=F=H
=+ —BNGRATBHNRAE  REBEEZALSF
ERGABEEREME2EKRER  KeERE
BRREEABERERARGE M EREM
g REEESTBEME -

BMRA  ZEFAMBHRRERET LS
BhAg ([BEGTEAS ) RMHEBHMER
SR ((EEMHHREEY D EERTHIR
MY BEER-_T-_-F-A=+—H®K
BHBIR - REBEZ B ILFENEE TS
RARFEERETRE - MEEREB(QAE
{51 3% B8 35 E 2 A HRAE

B REER

BACREFESMASRMNE BRI E
Al (TEABE LR ETERS - RPIEZFE
AT AENETEEARSE [ZBERETF
EMBEHMERAENEE] BORIEE—FE
Ao RIBEL G ARBEMNEXSENE
BTAMUATEBETAD  HABLR &
SE - REBETTAFHEMBERERET
HPIE(E - RPIMERHNERAREERELE
S REFINEAERLIRHER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to Notes 6 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through profit or
loss with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to our audit
because the balance of investments at fair value through profit or loss
using level 3 fair value measurement of HK$6,102,587,000 as at 31
March 2023 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s fair value measurement involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by the Company;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss using level 3 fair value
measurement is supported by the available evidence.

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Debt investments

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of debt investments for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of
debt investments of HK$3,367,462,000 as at 31 March 2023 is
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

— Assessing the financial information of the debt investments;

— Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group's
impairment assessment;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;
— Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts;

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in
the consolidated financial statements;

— Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by the Company;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant
judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence; and

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for debt investments is
supported by the available evidence.

B 2B E

AR ET =R (&)

BREKRE

BLEGRAMIERRME21 -
EEEARBERIRENREDE - ZREDS
HEMNEIMEBEERN  BAR-_ZT_=F
ZTAZT " HBHHNEBEREEBBE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHEHRE

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirement of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME

|=| \ /
o HitZmERE R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 HEZT-_=F=A=+—HILtFE
2023 2022
—_E_= —EFE-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE BT T BT T
Turnover 7 469,589 271,503
Revenue 7 192,741 93,929
Other income 255 1,302
Net change in unrealised (loss)/gain EH D/{TXIEFEE’]E’AEP@
on investments at fair value through
profit or loss arising from Txﬁ (FETE )/H&
— listed investments (220,907) (135,915)
— unlisted investments o ;1H:ﬁ&>éf 142,300 (130,465)
(78,607) (266,380)
Net realised (loss)/gain on disposal/ AU TSEEER Hj’%//‘
distribution of investments arising from Eﬁfﬁhﬁ (E518),/Was
— listed investments (2,451) 5,197
— unlisted investments (5,734) 95
(8,185) 5,292
Net change in unrealised gain on financial &2 F(EET A8z
liabilities at fair value through HEaE Hﬁlﬁn“
profit or loss 611 2,011
Reversal of provision for expected RHEEEREERD
credit losses 108,967 460,367
Operating and administrative expenses EERITHAX (78,769) (49,476)
Operating profit 137,013 247,045
Finance costs 9 (75,031) (34,563)
Share of profits of associates and AkEEMER
joint ventures 87,541 4,678
Profit before tax 149,523 217,160
Income tax (expenses)/credit Fisi (%) R 10 (3,140) 4,113
Profit for the year attributable to AATEEARBMEKREEREF
owners of the Company 11 146,383 221,273
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ceBEmkHEMEE RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B = BETT BT

Profit for the year attributable to BRARREBEAEERFERT
owners of the Company 11 146,383 221,273

Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hip 2wk (B), W -

income:
Items that may be reclassified to AJeeEH P EEBm s HE ¢

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BEGINETS 2 ERERE

foreign operations (117,719) 35,082
Share of associate’s FEL B A A
— Exchange differences on translating ~ — &GN ERE Z ERELE

foreign operations (1,733) 1,241

Other comprehensive (expense)/ AEFHMEME (BRI -

income for the year, net of HERFTBHR

income tax (119,452) 36,323
Total comprehensive income AATEEANEGEEE

for the year attributable to owners 2HEINGETE

of the Company 26,931 257,596
Earnings per share (HK$) BREF (BE) 14
— Basic — HAR 0.02 0.06
— Diluted —8E 0.02 0.06
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE BRI R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 A=ZE=-_=F=ZA=+—H

2023 2022
—_E_= —EFE-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE BT T BT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Equipment Ba] 15 4,178 5,382
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 11,409 26,686
Intangible assets B EE 17 782 782
Investments in associates and REE AR REEREZRE
joint ventures 19 921,863 688,650
Investments at fair value through BEAFEFABREECERE
profit or loss 20 4,600,522 4,002,039
Debt investments BERHRE 21 199,865 -
Prepaid consideration FEARE 23 - 449,779
5,738,619 5,173,318
Current assets RBEE
Investments at fair value through BAFEFABREREZRE
profit or loss 20 2,057,701 1,215,826
Debt investments BEBRE 21 3,167,597 616,093
Accounts and loans receivables FEUBR AR E 22 114,516 263,381
Interest receivables FE U E 121,854 50,231
Prepayments, deposits and TBRFRIE - e REMEIGIE
other receivables 57,558 15,968
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITFER 24 - 20,000
Bank and cash balances RITRIRESETF 24 108,360 86,396
5,627,586 2,267,895
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 11,366,205 7,441,213
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EakB8E
Equity =
Share capital i@ 31 1,052,032 406,132
Reserves i 33 8,958,723 5,122,112
Total equity HRES 10,010,755 5,528,244
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

n\/-_l_\

B IR R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 R =T ==F=HA=+—H
2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BETIT
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities RBEE
Accounts payables FERTERER 25 50 57
Other payables H M EFUR 26 39,926 19,180
Financial liabilities at fair value through  E A VAT ABRECHMKEE
profit or loss 27 2,225 2,879
Borrowings B 28 1,280,393 1,844,969
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 7,056 23,605
Current tax liabilities ENEARRIBAE 17,818 14,678
1,347,468 1,905,368
Net current assets REEEZEE 4,280,118 362,527
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Financial liabilities at fair value through  RAF(EET ABREZHBEE
profit or loss 27 1,667 1,676
Lease liabilities HEamE 29 6,315 5,925
7,982 7,601
Total liabilities HBaE 1,355,450 1,912,969
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HERREE 11,366,205 7,441,213
NET ASSETS EEFE 10,010,755 5,528,244
Net asset value per share BREEFE 34 HK$0.95 HK$1.36
The consolidated financial statements on pages 156 to 263 were F 156 2263 BV GAMBHREN_S_=4F

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21

June 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

LIU Zhiwei
&R
Director

EE

TIESHERE

CHEN Yuming
FR £ 89
Director

EF

NAZT - BEEFSHERFENE -

3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

an EE'?) < 454 Ej] ;E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LNGIE 2PN
Share
capital Reserves
B e
Share-based
Issued Share payment Surplus  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B %43
BETRA  ROEE ERE  EHRE  ERRE RitER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
¥t  E%Tr  B%Tr  BETr  BETR B¥Tn  E%TR
t 1 April 2021 RZE-Z-5NA—H 290,094 4,674,804 46,880 465 24,033 (509,097) 4,527,179
Total comprehensive income  AEEZENE AR
for the year - - - - 36,323 221,273 257,596
Issue of shares (note 31) BT (MEE31) 116,038 626,603 - - - - 742,641
Share-based payments (note 35) &7 7 5 278 (Fi5E 35) = = 828 = = = 828
Forfeiture of share options B ERE = = (32,739) = = 32,739 =
Changes in equity for the year FRiER & E) 116,038 626,603 (31,911) - 36,323 254,012 1,001,065
At 31 March 2022 A S
=A=+—-H 406,132 5,301,407 14,969 465 60,356 (255,085) 5,528,244
At 1 April 2022 R-BE--—FWA—H 406,132 5,301,407 14,969 465 60,356 (255,085) 5,528,244
Total comprehensive (expense) AEE2E (Fx),/
income for the year ek - - - - (119,452) 146,383 26,931
Issue of shares (note 31) BITRAD (M3E31) 645,900 3,809,680 - - - - 4,455,580
Forfeiture of share options SRR RE(ERE - - (14,969) - - 14,969 -
Changes in equity for the year R {55 645,900 3,809,680 (14,969) - (119,452) 161,352 4,482,511
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=%
=R=+-H 1,052,032 9,111,087 - 465 (59,096) (93,733) 10,010,755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\/T/\Iﬁﬁ/)ILE%‘:Z

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Cash flows from operating activities BRETH2HERE
Profit before tax BT Z A 149,523 217,160
Adjustments for: BLATIEB EH A% -
Dividend income Az S A (1,038) (2,654)
Interest revenue FEWE (191,703) (91,275)
Finance costs BB A 75,031 34,563
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) PEREE, (M) F5E 257 (4,693)
Depreciation e 27,777 37,400
Non-cash service fee expenses FRERBEBHREZ = 3,195
Loss on disposal of equipment S Eia = 157
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHMB AR ZEE 1,540 -
Net realised loss/(gain) on disposal HERA 7B &R ERE (ki)
of investments FEE 8,185 (5,292)
Net change in unrealised loss on BRATEFABRER RS
investments at fair value through WEEIB BEFE
profit or loss 78,607 266,380
Net change in unrealised gain on financial BRATEFABRER RS
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss TaEwRzE Zm@)@%ﬁ (611) (2,011)
Reversal of provision for expected TEEEEBERERE
credit losses (108,967) (460,367)
Share of profits of associates and BihEE R REEREZRT
joint ventures (87,541) (4,678)
Equity-settled share-based payments AR 8 2 1D TS 50R - 828
Operating loss before changes in BEEFHKLEEE
working capital (48,940) (11,287)
Change in accounts and loans receivables JEMZEE &Er‘ﬂ? (836) (8,940)
Change in prepayments, deposits and TENRUE - ik REMER
other receivables #IEQEJ (41,557) (1,091)
Change in accounts and other payables JE A~ BR SR N L A B A< IR (4,917) (7,140)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHFAARS TR (96,250) (28,458)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ Iﬁ%/ﬂbi%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

FZA=T—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Cash flows from investing activities RETHZHERE
Purchase of investments at fair value through ~ BEEBZ A FEFABREZIRE

profit or loss (1,401,378) (2,144,598)
Prepaid consideration for investments KEZBHNRE = (450,000)
Subscription of debt investments REEBIRE (2,857,750) (745,655)
Purchases of equipment BERE (3,742) (1,794)
Proceeds from disposal of equipment & REB IR = 15
Purchases of intangible assets BEETAE = (5,782)
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets HEEFLEEMSRIE - 5,000
Net proceeds on disposal of listed securities HE EMREASHRIEFE 162,617 38,148
Proceeds on settlement of debt investments EBEEBIREFTS IR 177,770 994,963
Disposal and distribution from HE RSB LHRERE

unlisted equity investments 25,936 138,534
Disposal and distribution from HERDE I ETERRE

unlisted debts investments 781 778
Repayments of loans from third parties FZHEEER 134,270 48,481
Interest received 2 UFH B 123,518 90,543
Dividends received B E 47,772 43,528
Distribution and redemption of unlisted NERBEEIELLTREES

investment funds 45,979 322
Consideration received from BEERERHKE 2 RE

co-investment partners = 780
Payments to investment partners TR EB = (1,466)
Acquisition of an associate and joint venture WHE—HBE R r k—HaEhE (199,000) (31,607)
Proceeds received from disposal of a subsidiary & — B A T TS IE 1,600 -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMARESFE (3,741,627) (2,019,810)
Cash flows from financing activities RETECRERE
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits B IFRITEZR L (3Eh0) 20,000 (20,000)
Repayment of borrowings BEER (236,701) (227,000)
Drawdown of borrowings TREUEK 1,093,141 1,629,948
Payment for principal portion of lease liabilities {EEHAEBERS LD (24,415) (31,256)
Lease interests paid BEAEERNE (885) (2,131)
Loan interests paid B EFKF A (46,879) (24,145)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIRMD 1S58 3,055,580 742,641
Net cash generated from METBHAERETEE

financing activities 3,859,841 2,068,057
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ Eﬁrﬁ/ﬂbiﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-_—

HK$'000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BR&RZEBESELEINTEHE 21,964 19,789
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of F¥IREMERIRESER

the year 86,396 66,607
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRESRERESER

the year 108,360 86,396
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERZERARSEE TN

Bank and cash balances RITNIRSET 108,360 86,396

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENERBRDA / F72022/23

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

BTSRRI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wealthking Investments Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is Room
3910-13, 39/F, COSCO Tower, Grand Millennium Plaza, 183
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries of the Company is set out in note
18 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) that are relevant to its operations and effective for
its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2022. HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption
of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on
its results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by investments
and derivative which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in
the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

3.

TEEHE

WEFEMBBRRIRBEEGTA
SR BB BREER  FEE
BRAN R RBRAES EHR
AI(T LR R REBECA ARSI 8938
REESREMMREL
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REPBRREEART RENE QR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company'’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention
and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FE2eBERmw

(Continued)
Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at
the end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant
activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of the
arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and is
initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of
the joint venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is tested for impairment together with the
investment at the end of each reporting period when there is
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB MR

irH

N

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

3.

FZA=T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities

that have a functional currency different from the

Company’s presentation currency are translated into the

Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the

translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of

borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When

a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are

recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the

gain or loss on disposal.

3. FESEHEEKR®)

SNERE ()

(c)

RERERETHAR

AEBREERNEE MBI
HIREEBMBRIRARRNZS
% ARUATHRBRERARLQF
HZ5IEE

() REMBRARZIINEE
RBEREBMBMARAEKA
Hm M mExBE

(i)  WSTRFHERBRE (FRIFZ
FHEXVIEBRRS A
HIMRITEZN R EN
EEMGEFA MEEBR
T RXZRAEBXSHE BN
PE R

(i) FEHELEMELNEREZHE
R E R EEARER -

RiZARAR - ARENEINER
BREFEREEMELNERER
BRERFHEARER - 2 HEEI
XN ERERERERGFAER
NERBHERELNE D BE

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23

ENEXRERAT | F72022/23

171



172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equipment

Equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates
are as follows:

Motor vehicle 33", %
Computer equipment 25%
Office equipment 25%
Furniture 25%
Leasehold improvements 33',%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by
the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rate of buildings is
25% to 33':3%.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below United States dollars (“US$")
5,000.

Intangible assets

Cryptocurrencies with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when
there is any indication that cryptocurrencies has suffered an
impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except in the case of investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEFHE®

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) BIIEEE &)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the NEBMPEEERSEANTESR

following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and —  IREBERATBRNBBEE &

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss. — BRAFEFABEEMNEE -

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost (a) REBERATIRNEEEE
Financial assets (including accounts and other receivables HET s EE (BRIEEWRR M EM
and debt investments) are classified under this category if FEWHEREEREE)REEAT
they satisfy both of the following conditions: FI) R IE 5 Bl B8 ALt 48 -

—  the assets are held within a business model whose — EBENZENABEEEMN
objective is to hold assets in order to collect WERE IR REMNEFIR
contractual cash flows; and AEFEF &

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on — EBEWESHETNRETHE
specified dates to cash flows that are solely EXEAYNAE MNKEE
payments of principal and interest on the principal AE&EFEMNRERE °

amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using BREEHRFERERIREILE
the effective interest method less loss allowance for K AR TE R E B S ER SR EE
expected credit losses. FTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss are net of any interest income and dividend
income. Interest income and dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of
a default occurring as the weights.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised and subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received in the ordinary course of the Group's activities.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can
be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method. When a loan and
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired
loan and receivables are recognised using the original
effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(o)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme available to all employees, generally
funded through payments to trustee-administered funds.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(d) Bonus

The expected costs of bonus payments are recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligations can
be made.

Liabilities for bonus are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at
the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair
value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at
the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is
measured at the date the Group receives the services and is
recognised as an expense.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When the share options are
forfeited or lapsed after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payment reserve will be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing
costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s various
lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
investments and receivables to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgement that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

Assessment of the Company’s status as an investment
entity under HKFRS 10

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, significant
judgment has been applied by the management in the
determination of the Company’s status as an investment entity
under Amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements”. Management have assessed the definition of an
investment entity under HKFRS 10 and given that the
performance of the investments in associates are not measured
on a fair value basis, management have concluded that the
Company does not fall within the definition of an investment
entity under HKFRS 10.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Fair value of investments at fair value through profit
or loss not quoted in an active market and
underlying investments of investment in an
associate

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active
market, the directors estimate the fair value of the
Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss
and underlying investments of investment in an associate,
details of which are set out in notes 20 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively, by
considering information from a variety of sources,
including the latest published financial information, the
historical data on market volatility as well as the price and
industry and sector performance of the Group’s
investments at fair value through profit or loss and
underlying investments of investment in an associate.

(b) Expected credit losses (“ECL") of debt investments
and bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for debt investments
and bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of debt investments and receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of debt
investments and bad and doubtful debts requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of debt investments and
receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in
which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC IAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
certain investments at fair value through profit or loss,
loan and other receivables, bank balances, other payables
and borrowings are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB").
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

As at 31 March 2023, if RMB had strengthened/weakened
0.5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
profit after tax for the year would have been
HK$10,197,000 (2022: HK$5,892,000) higher/lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of certain investments at fair value
through profit or loss, loan and other receivables, bank
balances and other payables denominated in RMB.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Price risk

(c)

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to
equity security price risk. The Directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
difference risk profiles.

As at 31 March 2023, if the fair value of the investments
increase/decrease by 10%, profit before tax would have
been HK$665,822,000 (2022: HK$521,787,000) higher/
lower, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of the
investments.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in the event of the counterparties fail to
perform their obligations in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of these
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because most
of the counterparties are banks with investment-grade
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(o)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group exposed to the credit risk if the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to perform its
obligation. The Group considers its exposure to credit risk
increased because of the higher investment amount in
debt securities. The directors have overall responsibility for
overseeing the credit quality of the debt portfolio. The
management delegated investment teams responsible for
monitoring processes to ensure that follow-up actions are
taken to recover doubtful debts. Financial positions of the
underlying companies are closely monitored by regularly
reviewing their financial and operation results and
assessing their abilities to fulfill the repayment obligations.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each loan, dividend, interest and
other receivables at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

The Group uses three categories for debt investments,
accounts, loan receivables and others which reflect their
credit risk and how the provision for ECL is determined for
each of those categories. The credit loss allowance
includes ECL for financial instruments that may default in
the next 12-month period for financial instruments that
have not observed a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition (“Stage 1) or over a lifetime period for
financial instruments that have observed a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (“Stage 2").
The allowance also includes lifetime ECL for financial
instruments where there is objective evidence of credit-
impairment at the reporting date (”Stage 3”).
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments, accounts,

loan receivables and others, and thus the maximum

BT R b i 1R (42)

(o EERRE@)

BEHERE - RURERFKEE A K E
i 2 BR T AR (B A B B e A HE B 1R

exposure to loss, is as follows: PREVRARSREANT ¢
2023 2022
—E-= —ZE=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Debt investments BBRE
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without F—fEE —RREEEERR
significant increase in credit risk I B E N 3,366,809 563,664
Stage 2 — Significant increase F IR — EERBEEIEMN
in credit risk 45,528 195,169
Total gross debt investments BRRELRE 3,412,337 758,833
Less: provision for ECL B TEAEEBERE (44,875) (142,740)
Debt investments, BBRE
net of provision for ECL (MBRFEHEEBRERE) 3,367,462 616,093

Stage 1: They are unlisted debt investments, interest
bearing at 6.00% to 9.00% per annum (“p.a.”)
and with 1 to 2-year term. They were secured by
financial support commitments provided by the
business partner of the debt investees. The Group
did not observe a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and provided 12-month
ECL with the assistance of an independent valuer
on the Group’s ECL assessments at the reporting
date.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. IKEKRER @)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (0 EERE)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments, accounts, BIERE BREREREEZTARE

loan receivables and others, and thus the maximum fth 2 BR T 48 (B LA I [t A HE S 1R /R

exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued) BRI ASRENT - (&)

Stage 2: They are unlisted debt investments, interest ERE ZEAELITERRK
bearing at 8.00% to 10.00% p.a. and with & RFEFEL00%E
2-year term. The Group observed a significant 10.00% &t & /& Hi2
increase in credit risk due to the financial Fo HREBHERE R
difficulties encountered by the debt investees RAFEEBYB
during the year and assessed the lifetime ECL of # BAEBEEREER
these debt investments based on the difference B AKIEIE N - WARIE
between (i) estimated recoverable amounts from (VN EBRERE G
the debt investees and (i) gross carrying amount A] U [o] B & BB B (i) (& 1%
of the debt investments. KREREHABE FANE

B R SEGREN
2HRHERESE -

2023 2022
—E==-= —=E_—

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Accounts, loan receivables EWERRRERUR HA

and others
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without E—MER — KRREEEERR

significant increase in credit risk I A E G N 291,929 334,697
Stage 2 — Significant increase B[R — ZERKRBEEIEN

in credit risk 6,915 14,459
Total gross accounts, FEREREFREF UK E4EZE

loan receivables and others 298,844 349,156
Less: provision for ECL B TREEEEERE (5.852) (19,576)
Accounts, loan receivables and PEWEBRR R B R H At

others, net of provision for ECL (HIKRFEHA S EEIERE) 292,992 329,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments, accounts,
loan receivables and others, and thus the maximum
exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 1: They are interest receivables from debt
investments, loans provided to an associate and
independent third parties and others. The Group
did not observe a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and provided 12-month
ECL with the assistance of an independent valuer
on the Group's ECL assessments at the reporting
date.

Stage 2: They are interest receivables from debt
investments. The Group observed a significant
increase in credit risk due to the financial
difficulties encountered by the debt investees
during the year and assessed the lifetime ECL of
these interest receivable from debt investments
based on the difference between (i) estimated
recoverable amounts from the debt investees
and (ii) gross carrying amount of the debt
investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments, accounts,
loan receivables and others, and thus the maximum
exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

B R e i 1R (4)

EERE )

BERE - BRERR R ERARE
i 2 BR T AR (B A B e A HE B 1R
BRERASRAOT - (&)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
E-ME -l FZER
12184 2 HRH 2HEH
BHEEEE FEER FEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Debt investments BERE
Exposure at 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FWNA—BzER 317,150 421,879 332,791 1,071,820
Addition g 745,655 - - 745,655
Write off A = = (3,680) (3,680)
Settlement ®E (499,151) (383,000) (220,812) (1,102,963)
Transfer EE - 155,998 (108,299) 47,699
Exchange difference EREH 10 292 = 302
Exposure at 31 March 2022 R-B-ZE=ZA=+-BK
and 1 April 2022 “E--FNA-HZAR 563,664 195,169 - 758,833
Addition i 2,857,750 - - 2,857,750
Settlement ®#E (28,000) (149,770) - (177,770)
Transfer R 1,800 - - 1,800
Exchange difference EREEE (28,405) 129 = (28,276)
Exposure at 31 March 2023 R-B-=f=A=1+-H
2B 3,366,809 45,528 - 3412337
Accounts, loan receivables YRR R ER AR
and others
Exposure at 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FWNA—BzER 328,965 48,984 122,930 500,879
Addition g 106,738 19,573 15,098 141,409
Write off A (44) - (87,274) (87,318)
Settlement 78 (111,311) (59,088) - (170,399)
Transfer R - 4,967 (52,666) (47,699)
Exchange difference ERE 10,349 23 1,912 12,284
Exposure at 31 March 2022 R-ZB--fE=A=+-BEK
and 1 April 2022 “E--FENA-HZEAR 334,697 14,459 - 349,156
Addition i 275,813 11,147 - 286,960
Settlement ®E (299,259) (18,704) - (317,963)
Transfer R (1,800) = — (1,800)
Exchange difference ERETE (17,522) 13 = (17,509)
Exposure at 31 March 2023 R=B=-=f=A=1+-H
Z Ak 291,929 6,915 - 298,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. IREKRER®)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EER#)
The following table reconciles the movement in ECL TRREMREEFERMBFEY
between the beginning and the end of the financial year: EFRANEE) 2 HIR
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
F-KE FKE FRE
128A RS 2HES
BHEEFE FEEE FEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETR BETR BETR
Debt investments EBRRE
ECLat 1 April 2021 R-E-—FMA—-BZ
EHEEER 24,678 247,265 250,504 522,447
Addition g 28,097 - 28,097
Write off s - - (3, 680) (3,680)
Settlement #E (24,677) (243,000) (154,492) (422,169)
Remeasurement B¥itE = 700 (24.,435) (23,735)
Transfer g - 109,368 (67, 897) 4147
Exchange difference ERERE 305 4 309
ECL at 31 March 2022 R-ZB--®#=B=1+-HK
and 1 April 2022 “BC-EMA-AZ
RHEEFSE 28,403 114,337 - 142,740
Addition g 16,053 - - 16,053
Settlement #E (1,411) (109,368) - (110,779)
Remeasurement E¥iE (1,431) = = (1,431)
Exchange difference EREEE (1,711) 3 = (1,708)
ECL at 31 March 2023 RZE-=%#=f=1+-H
ZRHAEERE 39,903 4,972 - 44,875
Accounts, loan receivables ERERRERARHAi
and others
ECL at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—4§WA-AY
i‘ﬁi%ﬂf EBE 23,956 43,716 120,629 188,301
Write off g8 = = (87,274) (87,274)
Settlement #E = (44,537) = (44,537)
Remeasurement R (13,576) 1,175 14,378 1,977
Transfer e - 8,175 (49,646) (@1,471)
Exchange difference ERES 667 - 1,913 2,580
ECL at 31 March 2022 R-B--®#=A=+-HK
and 1 April 2022 “BC-EMA-AHZ
BHEEER 11,047 8,529 - 19,576
Settlement Tty (2,130) (8,175) - (10,305)
Remeasurement BHEE (2,906) 401 = (2,505)
Exchange difference ERESE (914) = = (914)
ECL at 31 March 2023 N-B-=#=B=+-H
ZRAEEEE 5,097 755 - 5,852
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows,
of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

R IR )
(d) "EBELER

AEBZHRBEHERRERE
HZRBESFE - UHEREER
RUABRNEHEBREERDESS
BIRERHE -

AEBEVBRABEZRHBE N (E
RAMBRSRE) AT :

Less than
1yearor Between1 Between2
ondemand and 2 years and 5 years Total
DR—F 168 28
FIRER PR 5F2MH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BT BT T BET T BT
At 31 March 2023 N-ZEE_=
SEEr=E
Accounts payables FEHER X 50 - - 50
Other payables H MR FUR 39,926 - - 39,926
Borrowings B 1,303,262 - - 1,303,262
Lease liabilities HE&E 7,699 4,878 1,719 14,296
1,350,937 4,878 1,719 1,357,534
At 31 March 2022 A,
=RA=+—8H
Accounts payables JERTERER 57 - - 57
Other payables HibER R IE 19,180 — — 19,180
Borrowings B 1,880,592 1,880,592
Lease liabilities HERE 24,333 4,592 1,552 30,477
1,924,162 4,592 1,552 1,930,306
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

wm

FZA=T—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. &R R E R @)

(e) Interest rate risk (e) FIEEPx
The Group’s debt investments, loan receivables, other REBZEBHRERE  EBRER -
receivables, other payables and borrowings bear interests e FIE - B EE IE)SZFE,%(
at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair ?;zl){ﬂﬁ_;r 8 EE AT EF
value interest rate risks. RERFTRE
The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its AREBZBPITEFLIRITIEKATS
bank balances and bank borrowings. These balances bear fLE’JﬂYﬂ e ZEEFRE
interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing BT 35 15 R T K B Y Bh B R 5
market condition. B e
As at 31 March 2023, if interest rates at that date had RZBZ=F=A=+—8 " W4
been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other variables RPNZ BN, W25 EE D
held constant, profit for the year would have been MmATAE M B E iz e - KEE
HK$1,351,000 (2022: HK$28,000) lower/higher, arising BR8N 1,351,000
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest on bank TT(ZZT =4 : &% 28,0007T) °
borrowings. T ERARRITHERF BN, R

DR o
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 f) R=BA=+—HzHM¥KIA

March 5l
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets: MBEEE
Investments at fair value through BAFEFABRREZRE
profit or loss
— Designated as such upon initial — EHRERRELEEBET
recognition 6,658,223 5,217,865
Debt investments BRI E 3,367,462 616,093
Financial assets at amortised cost W SHA AT BR 2 B TS B B
(including cash and cash equivalents) (REAeRERBLIER) 401,352 432,587
Financial liabilities: g =K
Financial liabilities at fair value through &2 F(EzF A8z 2
profit or loss PFaE
— Designated as such upon initial — BREREEHEBEE
recognition 3,892 4,555
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R ER AT R 2B A R 1,333,740 1,893,736
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e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. IKEKRER®)

(9) Fair values (9) 2¥E
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and REE PR AR 2 NEE
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated T EERY KA EAESRH
statement of financial position approximate their 2HZANFERE -

respective fair values.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. NFEFE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or AT ERMS2MEELFERETZE
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between MERXS5HhEHE—BEEMWE S ES
market participants at the measurement date. The following —HEBEEAINZEBHE - L TEREZA
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy FEAEFALATFERR  BEELS
that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation R 8 AV EZ HERN Z 8 A RS
techniques used to measure fair value: DE=:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets FE—MEARYE : AEEFEzE HE
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group BrzHREESEE
can access at the measurement date. EERMS 2 ®mE

(REEAE) -

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within FE_RBABE : BRE-AABENR
level 1 that are observable for the asset or BLASN - BRI E#E
liability, either directly or indirectly. FHEEREREEE

BB HABE -

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FE=MBAEE : BENBEZTAIE

B A SR o

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers REE B 7 PR A A i R 5 (o) B

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or ZIERHEEEHH  BRAEARE L

change in circumstances that caused the transfer. = AL BHERZ— ©
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e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. AN EFTE®@)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (@ A2 FEEEZN=R=+—H
at 31 March ZEEBINE
Fair value measurements using: Total
ERAATRRZ A FEGE @it
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023

-8R -t = —B-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description i BETT BT BETT BETT

Recurring fair value measurements: 48 & 14 2\ FE51E

Assets &E

Investments at fair value through 2 AFEF A BHEZRE
profit or loss

— Listed equity securities — LmREES 534,476 - - 534,476
— Unlisted equity investments — FEEmRIERE - - 31113682 3,113,682
— Unlisted investment fundsand ~ — 3EETREES
limited partnership BREBE - 21,60 2,979,370 3,000,530
— Unlisted debt investments — FEMEBEE - - 9,535 9,535
534,476 21,160 6,102,587 6,658,223

Liabilities aE
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEABRE

through profit or loss BEaE - - (3,892) (3,892)
Total recurring fair value REMNTEFEAE

measurements 534,476 21,160 6,098,695 6,654,331

200 Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23

EREXREGRADT / F72022/23



6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BAES SRR MY AL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a)

6. NFEEFE®

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AFEERR=B=1+—H
at 31 March (Continued) ZEEBHEE®)
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRATHRAZ ATERE - w5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
£ E-M F=Zf —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description SR BETT BETT BETT BB
Recurring fair value measurements: 48 & 14 2\ FE5E
Assets &E
Investments at fair value through & A {EEH ABZREEZIRE
profit or loss
— Listed equity securities — FREES 906,374 = = 906,374
— Unlisted equity investments — I ETRRERE - - 2,706,024 2,706,024
— Unlisted investment fundsand ~ — 3F FHIREES R
limited partnership BREBRE - 77,502 1,517,675 1,595,177
— Unlisted debt investments — ¥ EMEBRE - - 10,290 10,290
906,374 77,502 4,233,989 5,217,865
Liabilities 8F
Financial liabilities at fair value BRATEFAEREL
through profit or loss BaE = = (4,555) (4,555)
Total recurring fair value BEEATEFELR
measurements 906,374 77,502 4,229,434 5,213,310
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. RNFEEFE@®
(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities (b) UE=RAFEFEZEE
measured at fair value based on level 3 FaEYHER

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

BRATEGABRECRE
Unlisted Financial
investment liabilities at
Unlisted funds and Unlisted 2023 fair value
equity limited debt Total through profit
investments partnership  investments assets or loss
¥tm RATE
FEm REEER FE “¥-=F tABRR
hERE FRABLE RHRE BEE  JMBER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description i BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2022 R-B--EWNA-H 2,706,024 1,517,675 10,290 4,233,989 (4,555)
Total gains or losses ERANEREEEE
recognised in profitor loss ® st AEZER® (13,565) 160,678 26 147,139 611
Addition nE 480,510 1,298,144 - 1,778,654 -
Disposal and distribution HERDK (25,936) (209) (781) (26,926) =
Exchange difference EREH (33,351) 3,082 - (30,269) 52
At 31 March 2023 R-BZZF
ZB=1+-H 3,113,682 2,979,370 9,535 6,102,587 (3,892)
#  Include gains or losses for  ® BEREHR
assets and labilities FfsBER
held at the end of the aEzE
reporting period HE8 14,217 160,678 26 174,921 611
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities
measured at fair value based on level 3

6.

NFET= @)

(b) UE=FKAFEHFAEZEE
REBEHER®)

(Continued)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BATEGABRE RE
Unlisted Financial
investment liabilties at
Unlisted funds and Unlisted 2022 fair value
equity limited debt Total  through profit
investments partnership investments assets or loss
i BATE
¥rm  REEER ¥t %=z itARRR
RiERE HRABLE EERE #EE  (MBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description it BETT BT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—-FNA—H 2,644,309 18,710 10,222 2,673,241 (7,248)
Total gains or losses BERNmTEELE
recognised in profitorloss ® s ABBEEBER® (102,015) (825) 846 (101,994) 2,011
Addition NE 289,459 1,500,000 - 1,789,459 (780)
Disposal and distribution HERAK (138,534) (210 (778) (139,522) 1,466
Exchange difference EREE 12,805 = = 12,805 (4
At 31 March 2022 i
=A=T—-H 2,706,024 1,517,675 10,290 4,233,989 (4,555)
# Include gains or losses for ¥ AIEREMK
assets and liabilities FsEER
held at the end of the A Bz WE
reporting period HEE (102,024) (825) 846 (102,003) 2,011

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets and liabilities held at the end of
the reporting period are presented in net change in
unrealised (loss)/gain on investments at fair value through
profit or loss arising from unlisted investments and net
change in unrealised gain on financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

RBSER 2 Watsk B RRRE (B
RBERRAHEERRR) R
cEakAEMEEKERD A2
RIFLTREEENIZATFETA
BRERERER (BE) s
HBEFANIE A FEAABRERZ
SRABERER WD EEFE
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e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at the end
of the reporting period

The Group'’s chief financial officer is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The chief financial officer reports
directly to the board of directors (the “Board”) for these
fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the chief financial
officer and the Board at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations, and refer to prices
quoted by fund administrators.

Level 2 fair value measurements

6.

NFEFT= @)

(9]

RBEEHRAEEEA 2 &
ERFURDAFEFERA
ZEERERBABE 2 H

E

REB MRS R BN R
ETZEENBBERATEMNE £
BREZRIFENE - MBRER
EREFS((EFEDREZSFA
FEAE WHREEEESEF
ELETMARRAEBRRERER
H R &

RE=MAFENE  AREAR
SRR AARNERERIIHE
BESNEEEERETRE X2
ERETEEANRE -

E=RATFEIE

Fair value
AFE

Description Valuation technique Inputs 2023 2022
it fER*E HWAEE —E-= —T_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEETIT
Unlisted investment funds Share of net assets N/A 21,160 77,502
FELMIEEES DL EEFE NiE A
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. NFEFTE®)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the () RBEWMRAEEFRA 2
Group and valuation techniques and inputs BEREFURATEFERHA
used in fair value measurements at the end ZEEFTERBARE ZHE
of the reporting period (Continued) EE)

E=RATEIE

Level 3 fair value measurements

Effect on
fair value Fair
Valuation Unobservable for increase value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
#ing@A
ErBEZ YEHATE AVE
it fhEL % BARE g %8 —B-ZH
HK$'000
ARTT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
R TEGTA Bk RE
— Unlisted equity investments Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 151,076
— ELTRERE FRHE Tam Tam TER
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 798,212
NEEEFE TER TNER @A
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 8.42%-~ Decrease 1,916,369
30.58% (notes (a)
and (b))
ARRENE BHRE A (M5 (a)
R (b))
Long-term 2.20%- Increase
growth rate 3.00%
REERZ Zm
Discount for lack 15.70%- Decrease
of marketability 20.00%
and control
7 ke WD
RIEHZ R
Market approach Discount rate 12.36% Decrease 171,623
(note (b))
i) BRE A (MizE (b))
Market comparable Price-to-book ratio 1.77 Increase 36,502
companies
MiaA AR AT il &m
Discount rate 20.60% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
Bz EHL A
BE &
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. NFEFE®
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the () NBEHAREXEFEEA 24
Group and valuation techniques and inputs BEEREFURAEETEHRH
used in fair value measurements at the end ZEEFTERBARE ZH
of the reporting period (Continued) E &)
Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) F=MOAFEFEE)
Effect on
fair value Fair
Valuation Unobservable for increase value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
i A
BEERC YEHATE NTE
it HER%E BWAHE g Wxg —B-=F
HK$'000
BET
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
BAFET A ERK I RE (B)
— Unlisted non-voting preference Market comparable Earnings 177 Increase 39,900
shares companies multiples (note (b))
— FEMERAEELR L EE AN BFIE 1 (H=E (b))
Discount rate 20.50% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
Wzt A
AR %
— Unlisted investment funds and Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 1,962
limited partnership
—FLTREEGREREHLE HERHE NEHR TER TiER
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 2,977,408
NHEEFE TER TNER TEA
— Unlisted bond Market comparable Earnings 18.00 Increase 9,535
companies multiples
— kLR s ELBR AR BB bl
Discount rate 30.00% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
Rz wP
BR%
Financial liabilities at fair value Share of investment N/A N/A N/A (3,892)
through profit or loss results
EATFEABR KL MERERE Nam TEm am
HBEE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. NFEFTE®)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the () RBEWMRAEEFRA 2
Group and valuation techniques and inputs BEREFURATEFERHA
used in fair value measurements at the end ZEEFTERBARE ZHE
of the reporting period (Continued) EE)

E=MDFPEFEE)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

Effect on
fair value Fair
Valuation Unobservable for increase value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2022
EmEA
mEEEZ HEHATE ATE
i thERE BAHE £ i0}-7 S
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
EAFHEGA BRI RE
— Unlisted equity investments Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 1,053,486
— FLmRERE RSB TNER TEHR TEA
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 368,160
MEBEERE Gl TEm ER
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 30.05% Decrease 1,000,551
HRRERE BR% D
Long-term 3.00% Increase
growth rate
MRS i
Discount for lack 20.00% Decrease
of marketability D
and control
Tz AR R
2 B
Market approach Discount rate 65.26% Decrease 142,516
i) gk D
Market comparable Price-to-book ratio 2.42 Increase 43,920
companies
35 A AR ] [l & bl
Discount rate 20.60% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
e @t o
I3RS
Market comparable Earning 37.90 Increase 59,518
companies multiples
MinA &R A BAEE Zm
Discount rate 30.00% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
hZ A
I3RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. NFEFE®)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the () NBEHAREXEFEEA 24
Group and valuation techniques and inputs BEEREFURAEETEHRH
used in fair value measurements at the end ZIEERFERBAZSE 2
of the reporting period (Continued) & (=)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) F=RMAFESE ()
Effect on
fair value Fair
Valuation Unobservable for increase value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2022
AN
ELR 3- HEHRATE AVE
fail fhERE BARR ] MyE —F--
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
HAFETAEnK KA (B)
— Unlisted non-voting preference Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 73
shares
—FEMBERAEERER NMEEERE TNER NER ay i
Market comparable Earnings 11.44 Increase 37,800
companies multiples
M ELBRAH BB bl
Discount rate 20.60% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
i i< kv D
BR%
— Unlisted investment funds and Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 1,517,675
limited partnership
—FITREEGRBERAYLE HEEERE NER @R TER
— Unlisted bond Market comparable Earnings 20.60 Increase 10,290
companies multiples
—kLHES s ELBR AR BFEE bl
Discount rate 30.00% Decrease
for lack of
marketability
i i1 v Vot
BH%
Financial liabilities at fair value Share of investment N/A N/A N/A (4,555)
through profit or loss results
BAFET A Bak FEE PERERE TE A TEm TER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at the end
of the reporting period (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques used except the following investments:

Jiedaibao Limited

The valuation technique was changed from “Latest transaction
price” to “Discounted cash flows” as the transaction price was
arrived at for more than a year ago and no longer constituted
an appropriate reference for the most recent valuation and
“Discounted cash flows” is a more appropriate approach to
value fair value of a company that is under development stage
with great potential for growth in the future.

The fair value of certain investments at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 March 2023 has been arrived at on the
basis of valuations carried out on those dates by independent
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group.

6. NFEEFE®

(9]

RBEHRAEEMEA 2 &
ERFURAFEFERA
ZAEERERBABE 2 #

ZE#&)

BE=RAFEFEE)

GEE

(a

FRBRTRTRE  FAERNMG
BEIERBEEL

BEAFRAF

HETEH KA FHE] R TR
BRERE] ARXHERE—
FLZUARIPISH - THBREH
ENEE2E M [BRRRSRE]
A —EERERER - ARE
EXRERENNRAZAFENE
BETE -

R-_TE-_=ZF=A=+—H &F
BRAFEFABEREZRENQT
1B R AR 5 B 7 52 (8] 37 4% A i ) ¥
AEREEAEMEXSBEETT
MfEERMEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

7.

TURNOVER AND REVENUE

Turnover represents the aggregate of dividend income, interest
revenue and gross sales proceeds from disposal/redemption of
investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Turnover and revenue recognised during the years are analysed
as follows:

E X VST
BB SR - B U S BA R
&/ BERAFPEABREZREY

HEPTISBURARRR 2 AN

FAERZEEB RSSO

2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Dividend income AR S A 1,038 2,654

Interest revenue T B Wz 191,703 91,275

Total revenue e 192,741 93,929
Gross sales proceeds from disposal/ HE BOIE AT E ABRE

redemption of investments A HE SR
at fair value through profit or loss 276,848 177,574
Turnover L 469,589 271,503

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive director, subject to requirements of the Listing Rules.
The executive director assesses the operating segments using a
measure of operating profit. The Group’s measurement policies
for segment reporting under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its HKFRS financial statements.

On adopting of HKFRS 8, based on the internal financial
information reported to the executive director for decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business components
and review of these components’ performance, the Group has
identified only one operating segment, being investment
holding. Accordingly, segment disclosures are not presented.
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ENEXBRAT / F572022/23

7 EB B #

ITBELERRECORERBITES X
RN EMRUNAE - BITEFRAFTE
REBMZHDEFEREDE - NEE
REFEMBRELENFSRIEL D F
WEZAHERR  BEREREMHR
SEAREZ S RRARAE B -

KRR E BRI BEEREH % - B
BAEARBEBARES 2 ERH
R BN M SERES S 2 F R AT
EELHNNMBER  AREER
AR ERR—EEEHH - Bl - TR
SIS HBEBER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEPER )
Geographical information EER
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Revenue e zs
— Hong Kong — &BF 137,556 30,912
— Mainland China — B A 51,546 42,022
— United States of America — X[ 3,639 20,995
192,741 93,929
In presenting the geographical information, revenue in relation REFH R ERE - BERERE 2K
to equity investments is based on the location of the wmZ 2R EMEMAKIE  MA
investments and the revenue in relation to debt investments and FAEBIRERBRER 2 K= E5 T A
loan receivables is based on location of provision of credit. RBEBEMEHAIKIE -
Non-current assets other than financial FRBEE (MBEITEBRN)
instruments
2023 2022
—_E_= —ZE—_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BEET I
Hong Kong EB 330,451 135,541
Mainland China R g 606,999 585,177
United States of America EH 782 782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from major debt investments and loan
receivables

Revenue of the Group which individually accounted for 10% or

DECE R )

FEBBREREBERERN K

AEEH S (BEAREBKEE10%

more of the Group's total revenue is shown below: A )T
2023 2022
—EB-=F —=E-=

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Debt investment A BBHEEA 51,016 =

Debt investment B B EB 28,258 17,440

Debt investment C BEIRE C 23,405 —

Debt investment D BBIRED # 14,795

Debt investment E BISIEE # 10,141

Debt investment F BBIREF # 10,275

Borrower G BRAG # 11,330
# The amount of revenue from the debt investments and loan & BRI EREREFTRES RAEEF

receivables was less than 10% of the total revenue for the relevant EBY =R 10% °
year.
9. FINANCE COSTS Bh & A AR
2023 2022
—E-=F —=F-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BEET I

Interest on borrowings Epr )\ 74,146 32,432

Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZFE 885 2,131

75,031 34,563
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSES)/CREDIT

10. PR1SIIE SR,/ (Fs)

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current tax BVHEAFR I8
— People’s Republic of China (“PRC") — hEARKAME ([HE])
Enterprise Income Tax, provision SR - FREE
for the year (3,140) -
Deferred tax (note 30) EIERIE (FF5E30) = 4,113
(3.140) 4,113

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
those years.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2023, based on
existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof. No income tax provision for the year ended 31 March
2022 as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in the PRC during that year.

The reconciliation between the income tax (expenses)/credit and
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the weighted
average tax rate of the consolidated companies is as follows:

HRASERBZE_Z_=k_-%
TCF=ZR=+T-HUEFEEBBLE
EETARERRNAN  REFFELE
BB FSIRE LB -

AEEBBETBEEKNMERBEDR
BEBEMRITEN MERED - 1%
BE_ZE_=F=-ZA=+T—HILFEH
JERMEFR25% MEAE - HE-Z
T CHE=ZA=+—HIFENEMRER
BiE RDAAEERZEELELFPEH
EE T EREF

PSR (B2 ) /5 % BL7R Al 2 Il S UA 4%
BRAINEFIONE 2 WK T

2023 2022

—EBZ=F B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Profit before tax TR AT 2 F 149,523 217,160

Tax at the weighted average tax rate LN EGTE 2 RIE 29,307 (68,199)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEFRBA Z RS 7 2

for tax purpose 34,262 120,083
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAHMAZ 2 MBHE

for tax purpose (61,010) (46,954)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIEWERRIEER 2 MG 2 (5,342) (251)

Tax effect of temporary differences RERREREZHE I MBTE
not recognised (357) (566)
Income tax (expenses)/credit Fisi () R (3.140) 4,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. ANEEFE AR
The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/ K’Elﬁif%fl EHK(GFA) T3
(crediting) the following: FIE& SR
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT IT

Depreciation of equipment JEITE 4,843 6,283
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 22,934 31,117
Loss on disposal of equipment HEREEE = 157
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B B 25 B
— Audit services — ZEPRTS 1,350 1,350
— Non-audit services — EZERTE 118 118
1,468 1,468
Reversal of provision for ECL Ty gIEZEHEEEE
e g m
— Debt investments — EFEE (96,157) (417,807)
— Accounts, loans, interest and other — EWERR - B FIB &
receivables H b e IR (12,810) (42,560)
(108,967) (460,367)
Staff costs including Directors’ emoluments {EER A (BIEEENE)
— Salaries and other benefits — e AR 16,651 18,211
— Equity-settled share-based payments — DR 2 RD A RIE - 828
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions — 3B/ A& F| 5T 2 2k 377 273
17,028 19,312
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12. EE N A mEHES M
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

AN
Nvd

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEEE
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to BiEEAN FTREENREE
the applicable Listing Rules, is as follows: EEMEeWNT :
Fees
we
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of directors BEENE (s BT T BETIT
Executive director: HITEE -
Dr. LIU Zhiwei MEEELT 250 250
Non-executive directors: FERTTESF
Dr. FU Weigang HREE L 250 118
Dr. WANG Shibin FHORE L 250 118
Independent non-executive BUIHITESF -
directors:

Mr. CHEN Yuming PR ERRSE A 250 250
Mr. YAN Xiaotian BB TE (i) 236 =
Mr. ZHAO Kai e AE (i) 236 -
Dr. FU Weigang HEELT = 132
Mr. WANG Xiaojun FNELAE (i) 15 250
Prof. HE Jia A IR (i) 15 250

1,502 1,368
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

12. DIRECTORS’" AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:
(i) Appointed on 22 April 2022.

(ii) Resigned on 22 April 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID R.EB=2kT%EaFEENS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) (&)
(c) Five highest paid employees () EEEEFEE
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the REBRAFENREZaHEE
year included nil (2022: nil) Director whose emoluments AEE(—E-_—F mEEH
are set out in note 12(a) to the consolidated financial B & &N R A R HRERMTE12@) °
statements. Details of the emoluments for the year of the REFWIFARNBESR N T BT
remaining 5 (2022: 5) highest paid employees who are ABZBI5Z(ZE-_—_F :5%)
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are SaTEEZHEFFBWT
as follows:
2023 2022
—E_-= g
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Basic salaries and allowances HEAR & MR 5,955 5,579
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT - 1,350
Retirement benefits scheme contributions Rk i@FIET 214t 2 90 87
6,045 7,016
The number of the highest paid employees who are not WHEEEMEeN TUATHENR
the Directors and whose emoluments falls within the =EEEAZNT

following bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—EBE=fF —FT_—
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T Z % 1,000,000 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 711,000,001 TTE
75% 1,500,000 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751 1,500,001 ;T2
75 2,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 712,000,001 TTE
78# 2,500,000 7T - 1
5 5
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any FERN - AEBWERAFENESNZSH
of the directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement AT HHESEANBEAEE ZF S K
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of DNEERS 7 BB Eh Sk fE A BRER B (8 -
office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

13. DIVIDEND

No dividends was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023, nor has
any dividend been proposed at the end of the reporting period
(2022: nil).

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

13.

14.

A

HE_Z_—FZA=Z+—HILEFEL
(A AR R A R AR AR SRR SRR R AT
RE RS HEARNER BRI
RE(ZTZ=F : f|8) -

SREF

l

BREAREERNITIRBIAT S EG

based on the following: =¥
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF_—
HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Earnings &7
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic  FAEH & &A% EL 7K &7 #58 B R
and diluted earnings per share 2 EF 146,383 221,273
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
‘000 ‘000
TR Tz
Number of shares RGE B
Weighted average number of ordinary RAUGTESRER KB ERF
shares for the purpose of calculating 2 BN T

basic and diluted earnings per share

8,120,866 3,436,620

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$ HK$

ik B

Basic and diluted earnings per share FREAR N EEEF 0.02 0.06

The effect of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

15. EQUIPMENT 15. &M
Motor Computer Office Leasehold
vehicle equipment equipment Furniture  improvements Total
"E BRRE BOERE BE  HENELE st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

BRI BETR BET T BRI BETR BRI

Cost AR
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FNA—H 777 1,808 269 2,407 18,666 23,927
Addition NE - 77 18 271 1,422 1,794
Disposal HeE = (164) (14) (287) = (465)
At 31 March 2022 and R-B-—%
1 April 2022 ZA=t-BkK
ZE--FNA-H 777 1,721 273 2,397 20,088 25,256
Addition NE = 145 3 = 3,594 3,742
Write off fic| - - = = (18,666) (18,666)
Exchange difference ERER - 3) (1) (20) (103) (127)
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=F
=R=1+-H 71 1,863 275 2,371 4913 10,205
Accumulated EHE
depreciation
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—%WA—H 755 1,113 135 1,212 10,669 13,884
Charge for the year ERER 2 362 65 558 5276 6,283
Disposal HE - (94) (10) (189) - (293)
At 31 March 2022 and R-B-—%
1 April 2022 =f=t-Ak
—Z-_"FNA-A 71 1,381 190 1,581 15,945 19,874
Charge for the year ERNER - 267 61 545 3,970 4,843
Write off s - - - - (18,666) (18,666)
Exchange difference ERER = = = @) (1) (24)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F
=RA=1+-H 71 1,648 251 2,123 1,228 6,027
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=%
=ZR=1+-H - 215 24 254 3,685 4,178
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—F
SR = 340 83 816 4,143 5,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

16. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 6. HERFHAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: WEHEHEBER -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2023 2022
—E_-= —E-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT

Right-of-use assets — Buildings EREEE —BF 11,409 26,686
The maturity analysis, based on AEBEHERENIHB S

undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s  (ERABMIBRERE)WT ¢
lease liabilities is as follows:

— Less than 1 year — DR EF 7,699 24,333

— Between 1 and 2 years — 1 FHE2F 4,878 4,592

— Between 2 and 5 years — 2FHE5F R 1,719 1,552

14,296 30,477

Year ended 31 March BEZE=BA=1+—HLEE 2023 2022
—=E_-= - =S

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE —EF

— Buildings 22,934 31,117
Lease interests HEFE 885 2,131
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R AR 25,300 33,387
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 8,256 11,296
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 3.6 HEHZENEEHRATE/3E36F -
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HERENELEHHEBEZBTE K
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The KA A o TH & 1 R AR e A0 A A 22
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased 2 - MEEBEETSRIEBROER -

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

220 Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
ENEXBRAT / F572022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 7. BB E
Cryptocurrencies
mEgs
HK$'000
BET T
Cost N
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FmHA—H -
Addition NE 5,782
Disposal k= (5,000)
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and NR=-EE=-=—fF=H=+—H " 782
31 March 2023 R -FWNA-BRK
—E-_=f=H=+-—H
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 REZB-Z=F=A=+—HK 782
—E-_—_f=H=+-—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

18. SUBSIDIARIES 18. fiEB 7]
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free FEWH B AT EAEKM . 2 E
and have no fixed terms of repayment. EEEE o
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March RZE—=F=ZA=+—H " KEEK
2023 are as follows: BARKFBENT
Percentage of

ownership interest/
Issued and  voting power/profit sharing

Place of incorporation/ paid up/ FEERs RER/
registration registered HMEBANES
Name and operation capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
BITR#E/
£ R/ EMREELS HMEER Hi MiE IEXH
Block Al Company Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% - Investment holding
Block Al Company Limited EEMANE 1% BEER
Flytechnology Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant
Flytechnology Investments Limited B BT g E37S
Golden Investor Investments Limited ~ British Virgin Islands us$2 100% - Investment holding
("BVI")
Golden Investor Investments Limited ~ EBEXEHE 2ET REER
((EBRERES))
Great Wonderful Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
BYBRRF RBETHES 1% REER
Metaki Investment Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant
Metaki Investment Holdings Limited ~ EBRELEE (E eSS
Metaki Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% - Dormant
Metaki Limited EEMANE 1% T
Metaki Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant
TRREBRRA BE BEIT WEEH
Metagi Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% - Dormant
Metagi Limited EFMANE 1% eSS
OP Capital Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
REERREBBRAF BE BEIT REZR
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% - Investment holding
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited REs (E REER
OP Digital Me Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
OP Digital Me Limited EBRELAES 1% REER
OP Felicity Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
OP Felicity Limited BB BT BAER
OPFI GP(2) Limited Cayman Islands HK$0.1 100% - Investment holding
OPFI GP(2) Limited RERHE B0 T REZR
OP Fintech Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% - Investment holding
OP Fintech Holdings Limited HE#HE 1% REER
OP Healthcare Limited Cayman Islands US$1 100% - Dormant
OP Healthcare Limited REHS 1% WEEL
OP Investment Service Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Administrative service centre
for group companies
RERERBERAA BB BT KEDAZTBRERL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

18. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. B A=l @)
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March RZE—=F=ZA=+—H  KEEK
2023 are as follows: (Continued) BARKEENT - (&)
Percentage of

ownership interest/
Issued and  voting power/profit sharing

Place of incorporation/ paid up/ FEER: RER/
registration registered AMEBAMNE D
Name and operation capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
BRITRER/

£ R/ SEMREELS HMER =84 MiE FEXH
Power Creation Global Limited BVI Us$100 100% - Investment holding
Power Creation Global Limited EBRAHE 1007 REER
Prestige Power Global Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
WHRFERAF RBRETHES 1% REER
Prosper Gain Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
Prosper Gain Holdings Limited EBRZEHS (E REER
River King Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
River King Investments Limited EBRAHE 1%7T BAER
Silver Path Ventures Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
Silver Path Ventures Limited EBRAES 17 REER
South South Financial Investment BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding

Group Limited
HELRREEEERAR EERUHS (E REER
Spring Inside Limited BVI - 100% - Investment holding
Spring Inside Limited EBRAEE - RAER
Spring Kirin Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant
Spring Kirin Limited EBRAES ([ hiE:E 7S
Sunshinetech Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant
Sunshinetech Investments Limited & oL A W T
Suremind Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Investment holding
Suremind Investments Limited EBETHES 1% RAER
Wall King Industry Investment Limited ~ BVI US$13,000,000 100% - Investment holding
ERERREBRALA RERUEE 13,000,000 %7 REEK
Wealthking Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant

(formerly known as

Wealthking Venture Limited)
ENARERBRAF BB BT WEER

(AIBEMEIZARAR)
WK Century Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant
WK Century Holdings Limited EBRELAEE (E hiE:E S
WK Development Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant
WK Development Limited EBRAEE 1% hiE: S
WK Fintech Holdings Limited BVI US$1 100% - Dormant
WK Fintech Holdings Limited RBRETHES 1% WEE
WK Intellect Limited BVI US$1 100% - Dormant
WK Intellect Limited RBETHEE (E W T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

18. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. IMB 2]
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March RZE—=F=ZA=+—H  KEEK
2023 are as follows: (Continued) BARKEENT - (&)
Percentage of

ownership interest/
Issued and  voting power/profit sharing

Place of incorporation/ paid up/ FEERs RER/
registration registered HMEBANES
Name and operation capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
BRITRBR/

£ R/ SEMREELS HMER Hi MiE FEXH

WK Management Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Management Limited EBRAEE 1% g S0

WK Megaverse Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Megaverse Limited EBRZHS 17 WEER

WK Metalight Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Metalight Holdings Limited EBREAEE (E W

WK Millennia Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Millennia Holdings Limited EBRAHE 1% hiE: S0

WK Phoenix Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Phoenix Success Limited EBRAES E hiE:E37S

WK Pioneer Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Pioneer Success Limited EBRAEE (E W T

WK Quantum Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Quantum Holdings Limited EBRAEE 1% hiE: £

WK Unicorn Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Unicorn Success Limited EBRAES E hiE:E37S

WK Venture Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% - Dormant

WK Venture Success Limited EBRLAEE (E eSS

RERE (M) ERAA PRC RMB800,000,000 * 100% - Investment holding
BHERE (M) BRAR HE ARH REER

800,000,000t *
FIENEEERZABRAA PRC HK$ 18,000,000 100% - Administrative service centre
for group companies
RYEREEERZABRAF HE 7% 18,000,000 7T SEREZTRRBES L

Apex Ridge Limited BVI Us$1 - 100%  Dormant

BIRBR R RBETHES 1% T

Digital Life L.P. Cayman Islands = = 100%  Investment holding
Digital Life L.P. HEHS - REER

Hong Kong Wall King Industry Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding

Investment Limited
BRERBEEREABRAR BB 711,000,000 7T REER
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. B A F )
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March RZEBE-_=F=A=+—8 AX&E£EH
2023 are as follows: (Continued) BARMEBOT : (8)
Percentage of

ownership interest/
Issued and  voting power/profit sharing

Place of incorporation/ paid up/ FEER: RER/
registration registered AMEBAMNE D
Name and operation capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
BRITRER/

£ R/ SEMREELS HMER =84 MiE FEXH
Keynew Investments Limited BVI Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Keynew Investments Limited EBRAHE 1%7T BAER
Metakii Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100%  Dormant
Metakii Limited Bk BT WEET
Metaqi Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Dormant
Metaqi Capital Limited & BT W 5T
OP Digital Me Investment Limited BVI Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
OP Digital Me Investment Limited EBRAHE 1%7T BAER
OP New Health Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
REHREBERAR B BT REER
Wisland Investments Limited BVI Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Wisland Investments Limited RBEXHEE (E REER
World Master Global Limited BVI Us$1 - 100%  Investment holding
FERRERAT RERUHS (ES REZR

FEgRE mﬂ&ﬁ PRC RMB15,000,000* - 100%  Investment holding

FRBRESHEER H ARH REER

15,000,000 7C*

“Tﬁ\\ EXREEXARA PRC HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding

MEREEEZERA HE 78 1,000,000 7 REER
tag %Hﬂ&&ﬁﬁ%(ﬁ R&¥)  PRC RMB50,000 - 100%  Dormant
BERFRERACE(BRAY) & AR50,0007 W EER
# Capital registered but not fully paid up. #: EMERBRHERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-_l_\
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 —ZT - =

18.

19.

BB MR

F=RA=+—HIEFE
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

mERE () BRAR], RYIENBEEEFZAGRRD
and & ﬂHﬁE?ﬁE%EFﬁ 7] are wholly-owned fore|gn
enterprises established in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the
Company’s subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$95,852,000 (2022: HK$26,935,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations.

18.

USIEMNGING:),

RamE WM BRRR RYIERE
I B T 7 E’Wﬂ‘ﬁﬁ’&?&/ ﬂH%Tﬁ?ﬁE
EBERARARPBEK LI EBE D
=,

RZEBEZ_=F=ZA=+—8' K27
MEARIAARBFENRITRB L
15 581 95,852,000 L(ZT=—F : /&
#26,935,0007T) - ARB R AINEA
B EINEBE IR IEHINEE -

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 19. b_/\ HENTNRELETELK
VENTURES =)
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Unlisted investments ELEMEE
— Associates — BtE R T
— Share of net assets — DL EEFE 712,793 676,585
— Goodwill —HE 6,214 6,214
719,007 682,799
— Joint ventures — share of net assets — BELE —HDHEEFE 202,856 5,851
921,863 688,650
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

VENTURES (continued)

Details of the Group’s associates and joint ventures at 31 March

2023 are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z —Z =

=4C |

Percentage of ownership
interest and voting rights

=FEZA=tHLEFE

19. REE RN Al & &1

KX

—E A=+ —B2zAREEE
BNRIRAEDESBOT

held by the Group
FEERENERERR
Principal place Place of SEEAL Principal
Name of entity of business incorporation 2023 2022 activities
R TEEESY  AUNY —§-=f  ~T--F IEEE
Associates
BB
CSOP Asset Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 22.50% 22.50%  Asset management and
("CSOP") (note (i) investment holding
BARREEERERAA BE BE BEERRRAER
(TR RS ) ()
Guotai Junan Fund Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 29.90% 29.90%  Asset management and
trading in securities
BREZESERERAR BE BE BEEEREFER
OPIM Holdings Limited ("OPIM") Hong Kong BVI 30.00% 30.00%  Asset management
OPIM Holdings Limited ([ OPIM ) BE RBRIHE BEER
Treasure Up Ventures Limited (“TUVL") PRC The Republic of 25.00% 25.00%  Asset management
Seychelles
BEAIRBB A ([TUVL]) hE ETRANR BEER
iCarbonX OP Investment Limited PRC BVI 29.00% 29.00%  Investment holding
RERZREBRLF hE RBRUHE REZR
RARERARE (R BERAR PRC PRC 30.00% 30.00% Lease investments
RABE")
RERERERE ORI FRAR HhE HE MERE
(TRERE])
ERECEERHAERAA PRC PRC 23.52% 23.52%  Investment holding
Li5HE )
EEHECEEREZAERAR H # REZR
(I EB# 1)
Greater Bay Area Kunlun Investment SPC PRC Cayman Islands 30.00% 30.00%  Dormant
("ERREEL")
EERANERRRIREESERAR g FEES WEET

(ER&REEE])
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v/T\
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

19.

BB MR

FZA=T—HIFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

VENTURES (continued)

Details of the Group’s associates and joint ventures at 31 March

2023 are as follows: (Continued)

N

—_—
©
N/ »
%
S

\

/

o

)f]]]bﬂ(}\\t =

el T3
Te

At

M SR

/D\ R & =]
Percentage of ownership
interest and voting rights

NEIDN

BELEZR

_i BZ=Z+— Bz AR&EE
BOEFBOT - (48)

held by the Group
FEBSENERERR
Principal place Place of REEAAL Principal

Name of entity of business incorporation 2023 2022 activities
EHEH TEEENE  AUNE e
Associates (Continued)

k/-%/\ ;37( )
REBE (R BFHRARAR PRC PRC 30.00% 30.00%  Dormant

("REIERE"
RelBe (8m) BFREAR hE HE WEEH

(TReIg))

BRAEERRNERAF PRC PRC 29.90% 29.90%  Asset management
BRAEEERNERAR EP # BEER
Joint ventures
REDE
Shen Jiang L.P. Hong Kong Cayman Islands 50.00% 50.00%  Investment holding
Shen Jiang L.P. BE REHS BEER
Magopt Investment L.P. Hong Kong BVI 50.00% 50.00%  Dormant
Magopt Investment L.P. BE EBRLHE eSS
OP EBS Fintech Investment L.P. Hong Kong Cayman Islands 40.00% 40.00%  Investment holding
OP EBS Fintech Investment L.P. BE REHS BEER
FTEEENAACECE (BERAE) PRC PRC 50.00% 50.00%  Investment holding
RTEEETAASBLE(BERA) + H REZR
Golden Cloud Principal Technology Hong Kong BVI 19.90% - Investment holding

Company Limited (“Golden Cloud”)
SEERBARRAA(SEE]) BE EREAHES REER
Note (i): As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, it is pledged to secured bank M) : BERZBE_=FER-_ZT=_—F=A

facilities granted to the Group.
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

19. REZERRIRAEREZR

VENTURES (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

associates (based on the management accounts of the

associates) is set out below:

& ()

AEEB L QR ZHMBERRE (R
RAZEERERB)FINAT -

csop TUVL REEE LEHSF  Others Total
MRERRE TUVL RERE LS Hitr @5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BTz BT B¥Tx #B%Tr B¥%Tx
(note (ii))  (note (ii))
(BEEGi))  (REEE (i)
At 31 March 2023 R=B==%
=ZA=t+-AH
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,932 - 49,185 - 68,400 119,517
Current assets mEBE 1,021,539 1,747,360 223,800 70573 149,401 3,212,673
Current liabilities mBAE (533,138) - (14977) - (113,174) (661,289)
Net assets EEFE 490,333 1,747,360 258,008 70,573 104,627 2,670,901
The Group's share of AEEEEREEETE
investments' net assets 110,325 436,840 70,550 69,794 25284 712,793
Year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=-ZF=-=f
ZA=t-BLEE
Revenue WS 641,467 - 2,118 - 74,761 718,346
Profit/(loss) for the year REERH/(BB) 221490 169,947 4,389 - (1451) 394375
Other comprehensive expense  H 2R (7,700) = = = = (7,700)
Total comprehensive RN/ (%) 88
income/(expense) 213,790 169,947 4,389 - (1,451) 386,675
The Group's share of investments' 2 7z~ £ Bl B (535 &
profit/(loss) for the year &F,/ (E#8) 49,851 39,468 1,333 - (1,550) 89,102
The Group's share of investments' XA & E E(51RE
other comprehensive expense  E {2 EFE L
for the year (1,733) - - - - (1,733)
Dividend from associate BBEARINRE 41,536 - - - = 41,536
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an\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

FZA=T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 19. REEERAINREEREZE
VENTURES (continued) g
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's NEB SN T 2T E R E (3R E
associates (based on the management accounts of the NEIZEBER)SENWMT « (&)
associates) is set out below: (Continued)
Csop TUVL  EHEEE LEFS Others Total
BHRRE T REEE  HEHF 2t @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A¥Tr A¥%Tr AT B%Tr A%Tx
(note (i) (note (ii))
(MsEG))  (PEEGH)
At 31 March 2022 EA_Ziiiﬁ
Non-current assets FRBEE 2,140 105,506 = 73,027 180,673
Current assets REEE 1,012,598 1,577,413 182,434 76,060 140,708 2,989,213
Current liabilities mEBAaRE (553,661) - (14,617) - (103,842) (672,120
Net assets EEZE 461,077 1,577,413 273,323 76,060 109,893 2,497,766
The Group's share of FEERGEREEETE
investments' net assets 103,742 394,353 74,612 75,221 28,657 676,585
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-T-—F
ZRA=T-HILFE
Revenue g 581,584 - 19,316 - 94,089 694,989
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERF/(BR) 202,960  (209,614) (5,167) - 3,604 (8.217)
Other comprehensive income  E it 2 E Uz 5514 - - - = 5,514
Total comprehensive 2ENE/(RX) 88
income/(expense) 208,474 (209,614) (5,167) - 3,604 (2,703)
The Group's share of FREAEEEEEE
investments' profit/(loss) B/ (B1)
for the year 45,405 (38,928) (1,418) - (82) 4,977
The Group's share of FRASEREGRE
investments' other Hitr2ElE
comprehensive income
for the year 1,241 - - - - 1,241
Dividend from associates BEEARMRE 25,439 14,921 = — = 40,360
Note (ii): The Group’s share of investments’ net assets is calculated by MEEG) . AEBELEREEEFEREHERN
percentage of paid-up capital in the associates. BWBEDEETE ©

2l ENEREGRAT / F52022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 19. REEE AR NEEhEZER

VENTURES (Continued) =3¢ 9

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the R-_FE-_=F#=HA=+—H" ' K& I
Group's associates denominated in RMB amounted to ﬁﬁéﬂTMAEﬁgaﬂEE’ﬁEﬁ&ﬁ
HK$5,990,000 (2022: HK$4,673,000). Conversion of RMB into F A7 #5,990,000c( — & = = E
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange S H54,673,0007T) © HWAE%E?@J%W
Control Regulations. IR B ST R B SNE B IR M) -
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint REBALNE R EEE (RS
ventures (based on the management accounts of the joint PEERER)EHYWOT

ventures) is set out below:

2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-CF
Golden Golden
Cloud Others Total Cloud Others Total

$EE Hit & 2ZL Eftr it
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AMTL AMTn BT ARt ARt AT

At 31 March R=A=1+-H
Non-current assets FERBEE 744,662 5037 749,699 NATEM 11,699 11,699
Current assets TEEE 701,879 866 702,745 N/ANiE 1,084 1,084
Current liabilities nBaRE (439,822)  (1,240) (441,062) N/ATiEF (1,176) (1,176)
Net assets BESE 1,006,719 4,663 1,011,382 NATEMA 11,607 11,607
The Group's share of AEEEEREEETE

investments' net assets 200,337 2,519 202,856 N/ATNEH 5,851 5,851
Year ended 31 March BE=A=1-HLEE
Revenue Izs 15,000 - 15,000 NATEA o -
Profit/(loss) and total KEERF,/ (Eﬁf)

comprehensive income/ 2AEkE/ (B

(expense) for the year kS| 8,688 (5,637) 3,051 NATEH (497) (497)
The Group's share of investments’ FRAEE EHRE

profit/(loss) for the year &7/ (E#8) 1,337 (2,898)  (1,561) NATER (299) (299

The Group's share of investments’ £ A& B fE (5% &
other comprehensive income  E b2 EUES
for the year - - - NATER = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

20. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20. A FEFABREZRE

2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-
HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

Listed equity securities EREES 534,476 906,374
Unlisted equity investments JE FTARAERE 3,113,682 2,706,024
Unlisted investment funds and FEFMREES N
limited partnership ERAEBDLE 3,000,530 1,595,177
Unlisted debt investments ELEMERIRE 9,535 10,290
6,658,223 5,217,865
Analysed as: DT
— Non-current assets —ERBBEE 4,600,522 4,002,039
— Current assets — REEE 2,057,701 1,215,826
6,658,223 5,217,865

As at 31 March 2023, the unlisted debt investments are
debentures carrying interest rates at 22.00% (2022: 22.00%)
compounded rate.

The investments in unlisted investment funds and limited
partnership of HK$3,000,530,000 (2022: HK$1,595,177,000)
as above represent investments in unconsolidated structured
entities. The maximum exposure to loss is the carrying value of
these investments. The size of the investment funds ranges from
US$0.63 million to US$600 million (2022: US$0.63 million to
US$185 million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

21. DEBT INVESTMENTS 21. BB E
2023 2022
—=E_= —F-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEET I

Listed debt investments (note) EERIEE (FEE) 975,717 -

Unlisted debt investments ELMERKIRE 2,436,620 758,833

Less: provision for ECL B TEAEEBERE (44,875) (142,740)

Total debt investments, net BEFIREBTEFE 3,367,462 616,093
Analysed as: ST :

— Non-current assets —ERBBEE 199,865 =

— Current assets — REEE 3,167,597 616,093

3,367,462 616,093

Note: As at 31 March 2023, it is pledged to secure for the Group’s bank
borrowings as detailed in note 28(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The tenure of the debt investments ranged from 6 months to 2
years (2022: 1 year to 2 years). The applied interest rates ranged
from 6.00% to 9.00% (2022: 6.00% to 10.00%) p.a.. They are
expected to be settled on maturity date.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has assessed the
creditworthy of the investees and closely monitors the
repayment ability of the investees.

Wi R-F-=F=A=+—8 - BEEAH
BR M 280 MBI - HEEER
ARBRITERORR -

EFREZHBENT6EAE2F(=ZF
TZFENFR2F)  ERAMNENTE
#6.00% £9.00% (ZF=—% : 6.00%
£10.00%) ° FEETIGEEIEREEE -

RREERER  AREEFEREY
22 EE - WHIERREHRYEN
87 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

21. DEBT INVESTMENTS (Continued) 21.

As at 31 March 2023, certain debt investments were impaired.
It is analysed as follows:

B E &)

R-FB_=F=-A=+—H &TEH
BERME - 2T

Carrying amount at

Loan Provision REE
principal for ECL 2023 2022
BAHEE
BERES BiEEE —T== —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T BT
Neither past due nor impaired 4 ¥ HA 3k 35, (& 3,366,809 (39,903) 3,326,906 535,261
Credit risk significantly ZERMAEELI
increased 45,528 (4,972) 40,556 80,832

3,367,462 616,093

Provision for ECL was recognised in the consolidated statement

B EERRRBERGA B R EM

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: PHRARERAT
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Opening balance HRF A A 142,740 522,447
Credit during the year (note) REAGFA (FsE) (96,157) (417,807)
Write off s = (3,680)
Transfer from interest receivables A FEUR A B2 s g - 41,471
Exchange difference [ER =% (1,708) 309
Closing balance HAR 4 84 44,875 142,740
Note: The reversal of provision for ECL during the year ended 31 March M :BE_T_=F=A=1+—HILFEMNE

2023 was mainly due to receipt of repayments in respect of debt
investments which the Company has previously applied ECL of which,
HK$109.37 million was related to loan of HK$149.77 million granted
to an entity in the year ended 31 March 2019. The Company learnt
the borrower was experiencing financial difficulties due to potential
financial loss on its own debt investments caused by the negative
impact of the coronavirus pandemic. The Company considered that
the financial difficulty of the borrower had undermined its repayment
abilities and significantly increased the credit risk. Therefore, the
Company has applied ECL accordingly in past years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

22. ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLES

22. EUBR AR B =K

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-=
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT
Unsecured loans EIKAE R (a) 45,102 186,404
Accounts receivables FEUAR K (b) 1,089 1,089
Amounts due from associates, JEWEE NG - AEE
joint ventures and related companies % BaBt A 71 F0UE (© 26,789 29,154
Dividend receivables FEYAR B (d) 41,536 46,734
114,516 263,381
Notes: sk
(a) (a)
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Unsecured loans to third parties HE=FH 2 EEIFER 47,344 196,295
Less: provision for ECL B TEBHEEERRE (2,242) (9,891)
45,102 186,404

Unsecured loans of RMB41,457,000, equivalent to HK$47,344,000,
(2022: RMB159,486,000, equivalent to HK$196,295,000) are
provided to 1 third party (2022: 2 third parties) established in the PRC
with interest rate of 8.00% p.a.. ECL of RMB1,963,000, equivalent to
HK$2,242,000, (2022: RMB8,036,000, equivalent to HK$9,891,000)
is recognised against the unsecured loans as at 31 March 2023 based
on estimated recoverable amount determined by reference to an
analysis of the counterparty’s current operation.

Repayment of RMB118,029,000, equivalent to HK$134,270,000, was
received during the year ended 31 March 2023. For the unsettled
loans, the directors of the Group assessed the likelihood of default of
these loans to be remote, as no loan has become past due. Further
the Group was not aware of any significant adverse change in the
business and operation of the borrowers of the loans. The Group will
continue to closely monitor the development of these loans and
assess their recoverability periodically.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, reversal of provision for ECL
of RMB6,073,000, equivalent to HK$6,909,000, (2022:
RMB7,438,000, equivalent to HK$9,155,000) was recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancement
over the balance.

HEFBERI 2 —2F=F (T —F:
MAE =77 )R AR 41,457,000 (55
B/ 47,344,00070) (ZEZZF : AR
& 159,486,000 7T ( & A 7 # 196,295,000
JL)) 2 BRI E R - FREA8.00% °
—EC—F- A=+ AHERZTEER
HEREHREEEEAR1,963,0007T
(ZEBH2,242,00070) (ZBE-—4F : A
R #58,036,0007T (%{E%19,891,0007T))
PEEHF HEREEDNETE 2G50
i [B] 4 FE MR TE e

BE-_ZT-_=#=A=+—HItFE" B
U 38 7 A R #118,029,000 7T (5 E 78
134,270,0007T) ° EAREEHNERMS -
AEEESETHAUEERNELAT M
& HEABERSHER - BE  A&EH
W ARHBEERERARER K& ES TR
BANHEE - AEEFISEZTERI
LB RNZEEI EHIRTE E AT B U

HE—ZE=—=F=-A=+—HItFE" &
HEEBIERER R ARK6,073,0007T
(Z£EH%6,909,0007T) (ZTE=——4F: A
R#57,438,0007T (%{E%19,155,0007T) )
RiB R o

B B AR B R R R
HitEEIE G -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

v/T\
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

22.

23.

BB MR

FZA=T—HIFE

ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b) The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements

over the accounts receivables from co-investment partners. The
ageing analysis of accounts receivables, based on invoice date of

22.

JEWBR R M E K ()

BaE - ()

(b) AEBUERKREESEREBHF ZEEIR
REFAEMERRER T EMERERE
i o ARIR MR KB R B B HIBR B 2

accounts receivables, and net of allowance, is as follows: FEUBR FREREE DATIO R -
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Unbilled RELARE 1,089 1,089

(0) Amounts due from associates, joint ventures and related companies
mainly arise from advance money provided for potential investment
projects and administrative expenses paid by the Group on behalf of
its associates, joint ventures and related companies. The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, in view of the uncertainty on the
recoverability of the amount due from one of the associates, provision
for ECL of HK$2,461,000 (2022: reversal of provision for ECL of
HK$3,262,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Dividend receivables represents dividend declared by CSOP in both
years.

PREPAID CONSIDERATION

In September 2021, the Company, through its wholly owned
subsidiary, entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Hengjiameilian Subscription Agreement”) with /& 18 32 S< B
2R A BR A A] ("Hengjiameilian”). The total investment in this
project is HK$600,000,000, equivalent to RMB472,035,000.
After completion of the Hengjiameilian Subscription Agreement,
the Group will hold 19.9% of the enlarged shareholding of
Hengjiameilian.

As at 31 March 2023, the prepaid consideration has been fully
capitalised as investments at fair value through profit or loss,
representing 14.9% of the enlarged shareholding of
Hengjiameilian.
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HE_Z-_=F=-A=+—HUItEE &
R — B & X R SR IE A Uk B 2 R
THE WEHGCGEEBEBEEE
2,461,000 (=B -—4% : BHEEER
BRI E3,262,0007T ) R R HER ©

d) PREFEZERKREERETIREERS

BEs o

BNRE

NRZZEZ—FNA  XRARFEBESR é
BB ) B 1B 52 3 H %%E@
(MBm=Ew Dl v RERz(E

R © mﬁﬁmw&§E%%
600,000,000 7T (1B A R % 472,035,000
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24.

25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank deposits were pledged to
secure for the Group’s bank borrowings as detailed in note
28(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$97,402,000 (2022:
HK$41,990,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of accounts payables, based on the
recognition date of accounts payables, is as follows:

24.

25.

S HERIRIT RN RIT MR

TRET

WZZT-——F=ZA=+—H  5FRIT
RO IEIBBBITUEAREERITE
FHOER FRAKEUBE®RRMTE
28(b) °

R-ZBE-_=F=A=+—H ' K&EEU
ARBEHENRITIRERLETABE
97,402,0007t( = & = = &
41,990,0007T) - AR B R B INER
B SP A B HMNE B ARA o

FEABR K

FEBRRUR RS R R AN RR D
WanF

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Over 1 year BRI F 50 57
OTHER PAYABLES 26. H At FER FRIA

2023 2022

—E-=F ===k

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Interest payables (note) FEAST RIS (B ) 34,898 9,236

Others Hip 5,028 9,944

39,926 19,180

Note: As at 31 March 2023, interest payables of HK$7,199,000 (2022:
HK$1,445,000) is arisen from unsecured interest bearing other
borrowing with principal amount of HK$1,400,000,000 borrowed
from a company incorporated in BVI which is ultimately controlled by
Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive director of the Company.

M R-—ZT_==A=+—H EfFA
FE#7,199,00070( —Z = — 4 : 1,445,000
TL)RE — RN R B R LRSS &Y
AEERRE B HEMERANS KB
1,400,000,0007C * 7% A 8] B A A BT
EEYEEB L RRIZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wT\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

FZA=T—HIFE

27. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

27.

pillges?
i D>
Y
m

\|
/!

AFAB R

it

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
BsE BT T BT T
Current liabilities mEaRE
— Payable to investment partners — EMIREBY (a) 2,225 2,879
Non-current liabilities EREAE
— Staff participation interest payable — {8 T 28 7|z5 (b) 1,667 1,676
Notes: ihE=s
(@)  Pursuant to the financial participation arrangement signed in May (@) BREEREEHN_Z-NFRAMET

2018 with investment partners, the Group received US$1,950,000,
equivalent to HK$15,267,000, from those investment partners and in
return, shared a portion of the Group’s future realised trading result
of one of the equity investments on a back-to-back basis.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an unrealised gain of
HK$654,000 (2022: HK$1,986,000), representing the investment
partners’ share of unrealised loss of the project, was recognised in
profit or loss as the payable to investment partners’ interests were
decreased.

As an incentive program to align risk and performance of the Group’s
investments with interests of the employees, the Group set up staff
participation plan. At the inception of a qualified investment, the
Group will allocate not more than 10% of its own interest in that
investment for staff participation. Pursuant to terms of the staff
participation plan, the eligible employees will subscribe for the interest
of the investment at the same price as the Group's investment cost
and share potential profit or loss in proportion to its participation
upon the Group's exit of such investment. The classification of current
liabilities and non-current liabilities was determined based on the
classification of the underlying investments.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an unrealised loss of
HK$43,000 (2022: unrealised gain of HK$25,000), representing the
staff participation’s share of unrealised gain (2022: unrealised loss) of
the qualified investments, was recognised in profit or loss as the
payable to staff participation interests were increased (2022:
decreased).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

28. BORROWINGS

28. &=

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E BT T BT
Securities margin trading borrowing  Ei & @58 X (a) 90,768 200,150
Secured borrowings from banks KERITHEEBER (b) 648,731 97,500
Unsecured other borrowings IR E A 1S 50
— Interest bearing — A (c) 470,889 1,471,871
— Non-interest bearing — T8 (d) 70,005 75,448
1,280,393 1,844,969
Notes: sk
(@)  Securities margin trading borrowing from a securities company (@) MEFRBDAREENET LHEFIERE

secured by certain listed securities of the Group and repayable within
1 year.

Secured borrowings from banks are secured by the Group’s certain
interests in an associate, debt investment and pledged bank deposits
and repayable within 1 year.

Interest bearing other borrowings of HK$470,889,000 (2022:
HK$71,871,000) are unsecured, interest bearing from 7.00% to
7.75% (2022: 8.00% to 16.00%) p.a. and repayable within 1 year.

As at 31 March 2022, unsecured interest bearing other borrowing of
HK$1,400,000,000 was borrowed from a company incorporated in
BVI which is ultimately controlled by Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive
director of the Company, interest bearing at 2.50% p.a.. Such
borrowing was capitalised as share capital on 30 May 2022.

Non-interest bearing borrowing represents RMB61,300,000, equivalent
to HK$70,005,000 (2022: HK$75,448,000), loan due to L/&##F for
a potential investment opportunity in the PRC. The borrowing is
repayable on demand.

The average effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as at
31 March 2023 was 7.63% (2022: 7.86%) p.a..

()

REABEARBERSES  ERAR
1FENEE -

R B ERITE B AR E FROA AN 5 B — ]
ERAMED  EREERDERRTE
FRIEER - XA FREE -

5T B H {2 58 15 470,889,000 T (= &
— T B%71,871,0007T) A
WERRT 0% ET775% (T = — 4
8.00%£16.00% )5t B RAR 1 FAERE -

MR-EBE-—F=ZA=+—H0 RFEMNX
2.50% 5T B W) IR AT B E b B RUB S
1,400,000,000 7T /4 2k B — [ 5 21 & 55 2
HETMARARAGIMER  ZARHEAR
ARATESVEEF I RLIEG - 1fE
HEMER-_Z-_—_FHA=1+R&RL
B -

et BEFIERFBRBERERS BN £
Biha 2 B AR 61,300,000 7T (51E
75 70,005,000 c( Z T = —F : B
75,448,0007T)) ° EHBREERKERE -

R-B-=#=A=+—8  BAREBERZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HERE
Present value of lease
Lease payments payments
HEMNR HENRNRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EBD=f T —E== —F-—

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BT ABTT BETR  EBTR

Within one year —F R 7,699 24,333 7,056 23,605
Over one year but within —FAEEMFR
two years 4,878 4,592 4,630 4,384
Over two years but within MEAEEBERFR
five years 1,719 1,552 1,685 1,541
14,296 30,477
Less: Future finance charge  J& : KRKEE & A (925) (947)
Present value of lease HENRHRE
liabilities 13,371 29,530 13,371 29,530
Less: Amount due AT R 12 8 A R EHR
for settlement within HEE R FIE
12 months (shown (MReatE
under current liabilities) B T HIR) (7,056) (23,605)
Amount due for settlement R 12 @ AR HLEE
after 12 months (shown I IE (R IERE
under non-current liabilities) B&1{&IE ~N5I/R) 6,315 5,925
As at 31 March 2023, the average effective borrowing rate was RZZE_=F=A=+—H  ¥HER
5.70% (2022: 4.82%) p.a.. Interest rates are fixed at the BERERNRE AE570%( T = — F:
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest 4.82%) c IR EHBHEEE - AR
rate risk. SEEBEAFERERPR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

30. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by
the Group:

0. IEXEFRTA

NTRAEERRNEERELERBAR
REE :

Unrealised
fair value
change on
investments
and related
liabilities
RENHEEA
BEZRER
N EEH
HK$'000
BT

At 1 April 2021 R-_E-_—FMA—H (4,113)

Credit to profit or loss T AE=E

4,113

At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-ZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H -
31 March 2023 —E_“FWA—-HR
—EB-=F=H=+—H -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not recognise
deferred tax assets of HK$99,793,000 (2022: HK$96,926,000) in
respect of estimated tax losses amounting to HK$602,958,000
(2022: HK$586,090,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These estimated
tax losses will be carried forward indefinitely.

R E R - AR B 8 5 55 R
RIMBA R EE 2 RIABERER

602,958,000c( = & = — F: B &
586,090,000 7T ) MERIE LR IB &L E /B 1
99,793,0007t( — T — — F: H ¥

96,926,0007T) ° AR AR RFERERA
JEA M ERRECREBEE - 25
EEtREEEGER AL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31, R
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREE &8
Notes HK$'000
P aE BET T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREEAE0.1T
(2022: HK$0.1) each B —F:
0.1 TT) 2 EiBAR
Authorised: SETE
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FMA—H 4,000,000,000 400,000
Addition = (a) 16,000,000,000 1,600,000
At 31 March 2022, HR=-E=-=—%=H=+—8 -
1 April 2022 and “E__FWA—-BHRK
31 March 2023 —EB-=F=A=+—H 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRERE
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FIA—H 2,900,940,000 290,094
Issue of shares BT (b) 580,188,000 58,019
Issue of shares BT D (@ 580,188,000 58,019
At 31 March 2022 and R-ZEB--—F=A=+-HRE
1 April 2022 —E-_"_H#WA—H 4,061,316,000 406,132
Issue of shares BITRZ D (d) 3,152,173,913 315,217
Issue of shares BTG (e) 812,263,200 81,226
Issue of shares BTN (f) 1,605,150,622 160,515
Issue of shares BT, (9) 889,420,770 88,942
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%=HA=+—H 10,520,324,505 1,052,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

()

By ordinary resolution passed on 15 October 2021, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$400,000,000
divided into 4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 ordinary shares by
the creation of an additional 16,000,000,000 ordinary shares, such
new shares ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing shares
of the Company.

On 3 September 2021, the Company issued 580,188,000 ordinary
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.66 per share for a total
cash consideration of HK$382,924,000.

On 25 November 2021, the Company issued 580,188,000 ordinary
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.62 per share for a total
cash consideration of HK$359,717,000.

On 30 May 2022, the Company issued 1,521,739,130 ordinary new
shares at an issue price of HK$0.92 per share. The aggregate
consideration was settled by way of set off against unsecured interest
bearing other borrowing with principal amount of HK$1,400,000,000
borrowed from a company incorporated in BVI which is ultimately
controlled by Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive director of the Company,
interest bearing at 2.50% p.a..

On the same date, the Company issued 1,630,434,783 ordinary new
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.92 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$1,500,000,000.

On 19 July 2022, the Company issued 812,263,200 ordinary new
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.50 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$406,131,000.

On 27 September 2022, the Company issued 1,605,150,622 ordinary
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.50 per share for a total
cash consideration of HK$802,575,000.

On 20 March 2023, the Company issued 889,420,770 ordinary new
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.39 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$346,874,000.

PGE

(a

31. IR )

BEZZ-—F+A+HAABRBHLTER
HEE 0 FEEERESYN16,000,000,000 % iR
R RN RRZEERANBER
400,000,000 7t ( % A 4,000,000,000 fi%
REEAE 010K EBR) EINEAE
2,000,000,000 7t ( % 4 20,000,000,000 f%
LmAR) ©

RIZBE-—FNA=H  ARARIKAEE
% #0.66 7T 25 17 580,188,000 A% 3 3@
B% - 4IRS {8 AE% 382,924,000 7T ©

%

—ZE-—%+—A=+AHHB ARAE
REEE KB 0.62 7T 17580,188,000
BREBR LRE2REARBE
359,717,000 7T ©

R-ITE-_FRA=1H  KRAFHRET
BT RE0.92 L8 171,521,739,130 %
TEB ARENEN —SRENX
250% A8 RE—HREBEREST
MEYUHWATINAESSEABE
1,400,000,000 7t #) & 5+ S H AL B
ZHREN  ZARIBARARITE S
BEE TR -

REAR  ARFIRREESREK0.92 7T
E%171,630,434,783 1k @Ak - 2R &R
{8 &7%% 1,500,000,000 7T °

RZBE-_—_F+A+NB AAAIERE
BE R 0.50 3 77812,263,200 % &
Bk - BB S REARB406,131,0007T °

R-ZZE-—_FHAAZ++H XAFIRR
fE 8 § AR B % 0.507T %17 1,605,150,622
BEBEBR BRBELREAEBE
802,575,000 7T ©

RZZBEZ=F=A=+H ARAIERE
EE R 0.397C817889,420,770 ik &
B - IR SR(EAB346,874,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Directors
regard total equity as capital, for capital management purposes.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it, in light of change in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or issue new shares.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Group is
required to comply with certain financial covenants, such as
consolidated tangible net worth, ratio of consolidated net
borrowing to consolidated tangible net worth, ratio of total
liability to total asset, etc. The Group has complied with these
covenants throughout the year by closely monitoring the
Group'’s financial position and regularly re-visit the covenant
requirements during operations to ensure full compliance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. AR RN EK
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-
HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Equipment B 9 90
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRZIEE 779,915 778,915
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGB 7,845,279 4,560,410
Investments in associates and joint ventures REEE AT RA S EZIEE 128,520 133,848
Investments at fair value through BRAFEFABRERENRE
profit or loss 970,520 954,584
9,724,243 6,427,847
Current assets REBEE
Investments at fair value through BATEFABRRZRE
profit or loss 84,732 201,345
Debt investments BEBRE 55,979 120,969
Accounts and loans receivables TEUBR X R & 3 3,700 3,604
Interest receivables FEUWLFI B 6,195 5,991
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE{J3XIE - R4 & E b fEU /1 55,234 4,080
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITIFR = 20,000
Bank and cash balances RITRREETF 8,132 25,024
213,972 381,013
TOTAL ASSETS mEE 9,938,215 6,808,860
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANC |AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 =T ==

BB MR

FZA=T—HIFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23

THE COMPANY (Continued)

32. KRR B REK @)

2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAE
Equity s
Share capital P& A 1,052,032 406,132
Reserves (] 8,772,897 4,860,424
Total equity R 9,824,929 5,266,556
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables HibER RIE 20,104 10,973
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAVESFABRERZVFAE
profit or loss 2,225 2,879
Borrowings N 90,000 1,527,500
112,329 1,541,352
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEFABRRZYEAE
profit or loss 957 952
Total liabilities # a8 E 113,286 1,542,304
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEZRAE 9,938,215 6,808,860
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,824,929 5,266,556
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 2 —ZE - =F=-A=+—HItFE
33. f##s
() &&H

33. RESERVES
(@) The Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements REBRAFENBAFE ZHFE
SHENEFH2INGREERREM

PEYRRRGAERBBE -

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(b) The Company

(b) &R2F

Share-based

Share payment Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B 63 A%

R 43 58 IARE REtEE wst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T BETT BET T

At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FNA—H 4,674,804 46,880 (1,135,394) 3,586,290
Total comprehensive REEEERERE

income for the year - - 646,703 646,703

Issue of shares BITRD 626,603 - - 626,603

Share-based payments W17 2 (53R = 828 = 828

Forfeiture of share options BENREERE - (32,739) 32,739 -

At 31 March 2022 NZZEZ_F

EFETF= 5,301,407 14,969 (455,952) 4,860,424

At 1 April 2022 R-ZEBE-=FWA—H 5,301,407 14,969 (455,952) 4,860,424
Total comprehensive KEE LWL

income for the year - - 102,793 102,793

Issue of shares BT 3,809,680 - - 3,809,680

Forfeiture of share options ~ B& RS IE (ERE - (14,969) 14,969 -

At 31 March 2023 R-TBE_=%F
=HA=+—H 9,111,087 - (338,190) 8,772,897
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

33. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

0}

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and other eligible participants of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries/associates of the Group (excluding
foreign investment enterprises) are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations,
to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. The
transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

34. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

35.

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net
asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2023 of
HK$10,010,755,000 (2022: HK$5,528,244,000) by the number
of ordinary shares in issue at that date, being 10,520,324,505
(2022: 4,061,316,000).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Under the Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 May 2016, the
Board may at any time following the date of adoption and
before the tenth anniversary thereof, offer to grant to certain
selected classes of participants (including, among others,
directors, employees and consultants) of the Company, an
option to subscribe for shares as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Company. The subscription price will be
determined by the Board (subject to adjustment), and will not
be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (b)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under this scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by the Company may not exceed 10% of the
share capital of the Company in issue.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer for grant of the option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option
scheme at any time not later than 10 years from the date on
which the offer for grant of the option is made. Subject to the
terms of the share options determined by the Board, the
participant may have to meet certain vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options. For the
share options that existed during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022, vesting conditions includes performance
conditions such as complete or successful exit of specified
investment projects and market conditions such as the
Company’s market capitalisation. Share options do not confer
rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings.

34. BIREEFE

35.

EREEFEREAEEN _T_=F
AT+ " BZEBEEFEBE
10,010,755,000c( = = —F : F &
5,528,244,0007T) R A E BB BT 2 &
A% H 10,520,324,505/% (=& — —
£ 1 4,061,316,000 %) 5t & -

At ST A RIR

Rig—F —/‘—\¢£H TERRMZER
e EERARME BRI

i“J‘I‘HEH\JEEﬁHfF‘ﬁ fEH & ?@Wxﬂj

RIBRD 2 B T & TARBIEE
iﬁﬁlJ/,\%(ﬁqﬂ’@%Ei% 1EE&EE
) - fER4A ?f& BARBIRERRIZ
BRE SR REERSHEFTSET
(AT FRZE) - 1E|T SERAT=ZHZ&
=BE  @QARABRORELBH (LA
REFRH)EBRZEERERAHRIY
M () ARBRMDNERE L B HA
hEAR S A EBXAEARERMRZ
FHWRHE : ROARBBRMHEE- R
EMERBRERAGNER 1Tz
HERE - BITEREARGE AR K
AR 2 o] EL A 8 BORE & 81 AT Ik K% Bl R
TTEZ A HARTTEBRER TEITZ
B ERTSBARNAREETRAZ
10%

SEERNFEEBRER DB ME 21
R AR E - B R MEL R T
BREELN 2 BE TFABRRIEE
B B ZIGRTTE - REESSETE
ZBBRRGS  2EERANTAETR
B - D R EGTZEBEEE - LA
ECF_CERF__F=A=1-—
BIEFEEFEZERENS - BEGRT
BRERIPGM (FIINTTRCE IR B E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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e MR ERAR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

35. I X EIE )

Movement of the Company’s share options during the year: =S =N NN T

Date of grant of share options: 20 May 2016

RUEBRERS : —2— X FHA=1+H

Number of share options
BREHE

Balance at
31 March
2022,
1 April
Expired 2022 and
Balance at during 31 March
1 April 2021 the year 2023
RoBZZf
SEESE
—E-CF
MA-BRK
RIZB--% ZBIZE
mA—-A =A=1+-H
28 REREIH k23
‘000 ‘000 ‘000
Grantee EBA Exercisable period THEE T T T4
Ex-director S 20May2017t0 19 May 2021 —Z—+FRA-+AZ-ZE-—FRATNA 1,750 (1,750) =
20May 20180 19 May 2021 =T—/\ERAZFHE-Z-—%HATNA 1,750 (1,750) -
20May2019t019May 2021 —Z-AFRA-+HE-Z-—FRATNA 1,750 (1,750) -
20May2020t0 19May 2021 —E-FEERA-FHE-T--£RAFAA 1,750 (1,750) -
7,000 (7,000) -
Directorsof group  £EAF  20May2017t019May2021 —B—+ERA-TEE-E-—%71/0 4,500 (4,500) -
companies 2= 20May 20180 19May 2021 =—E—/\ERA-FHE-E--%HATNA 4,500 (4,500) -
20May 201910 19 May 2021  —ZE-NERA-+AZE-E-_—FRA+AR 4,500 (4,500) =
20May2020t0 19May 2021  —B-FERA-+RAE-Z-_—ERATNARA 4,500 (4,500) -
18,000 (18,000) -
Ex-employees AilES 20May2017t0 19May 2021 —ZE—+ERA-+HRZ-Z--FRATAH 3,950 (3,950) =
20May2018t0 19May 2021 —B—\ERA-tRE-F-_—£RATNA 4,250 (4,250) -
0May2019t0 19May 2021 —Z-NERA-tAZE=Z-—5RATNA 4,250 (4,250) =
20May2020t0 19May 2021 —Z-FFRR-+RE-Z=—ERATHA 4,50 (4,250) -
16,700 (16,700) -
Consultants B 0May2017t0 19May 2021  —B—+4RA-+RE-2-—4£RATNA 1,250 (1,250) =
20May 201810 19May 2021  —Z—\FRA-THE-Z-_—FRA+NA 1,250 (1,250) -
20 May 2019 to 19 May 2021 1,250 (1,250) -
20May2020t0 19 May2021 —ZE-EERA-+HE-E-_-FnA+AR 1,250 (1,250) =
5,000 (5,000) -
46,700 (46,700) -
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e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35. Bxfn XA ERIE )
Movement of the Company’s share options during the year: REFRNRNNG ZEIREEE) : (45)
(Continued)
Date of grant of share options: 1 February 2018 EHERERY . —_E—N\E=-H—H
Number of share options
BREHR
Balance at
31 March
Balance at Lapsed 2022 and Expired  Balance at
1 April during 1 April during 31 March
2021 the year 2022 the year 2023
R
ZE-CE
N EﬁE‘l’-E K\
“E--E R-E--% —E-cE
mA-A HmA-A =B=1-H
EF REREN &R RERIH 28R
'000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
Grantee EEA Exercisable period i T ae) Th T T
Exdirector FEES 1February 20191031 January 203~ —Z-NE-F-HZ
“5-C5-f=1-H 2,500 - 2,500 (2,500) -
1 February 2020 to 31 January 2023 “$-%5-f-H%
“5Z5-f=1-H 2,500 - 2,500 (2,500) -
1February 2021 to 31 January 203~ —F=—F-F-HZ
“5-Z5-f=1-H 2,500 - 2,500 (2,500) -
1February 2022 to 31 January 203~ —F-=F-F-HZ
“E-Z5-f=1-H 2,500 - 2,500 (2,500) -
10,000 - 10,000 (10,000) -
Employees and EERAES 1 February 2019 to 31 January 2023 -x—nﬁ-ﬂ—ai 2250 (750) 1,500 (1,500) -
ex-employees ZF2=5-A=1-R
1 February 2020 to 31 January 2023 :Z Z¢ A-A% 2,250 (750) 1,500 (1,500) -
Z2-=§-A=t-R
1 February 2021 t0 31 January 2023 “Z--%£-f-RZ 2,250 (750) 1,500 (1,500) -
“Z-=F-f=1-H
1 February 2022 to 31 January 2023 “E--%-A-R% 2250 (750) 1,500 (1,500) -
- m]
9,000 (3,000) 6,000 (6,000) -
19,000 (3,000) 16,000 (16,000) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The closing prices of the ordinary shares of the Company
immediately before the date on option grant date were
HK$1.45 and HK$2.57 on 20 May 2016 and 1 February 2018
respectively.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Details of the share options granted on 20 May 2016 was as

follows:
Theoretical aggregate value: HK$32,822,000
Fair value recognised in nil (2022: nil)
profit or loss during the year:
Exercise price: HK$1.65
Risk free interest rate: 1.079%
Expected volatility: 62.58%
Expected life of the options: 5 years from the date of grant
Expected dividend yield: 4.58%

Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Details of the share options granted on 1 February 2018 was as
follows:

HK$20,539,000
nil (2022: HK$828,000)

Theoretical aggregate value:
Fair value recognised in
profit or loss during the year:

Exercise price: HK$2.60

Risk free interest rate: 1.828%

Expected volatility: 43.30%

Expected life of the options: 5 years from the date of grant
Expected dividend yield: 0.93%

The measurement dates of the share options were 20 May 2016
and 1 February 2018, being the dates of grant of the share
options. Where the grantees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest or lapse.

Options forfeited, if any, before the expiry of the options will be
treated as lapsed options which will be added back to the
number of ordinary shares available to be issued under the
Share Option Scheme.

The expected volatility of the underlying security of the options
was determined based on the historical volatility of the share
prices of the Company, as extracted from Bloomberg and
Reuters.

35. I S EE ()

RZE—NFZA—BERLZEREF

BT -

BiRiaE 75 ¥ 20,539,000 7T

AEEFEARERZ ZT(ZT=—=
WRZAFE:  #A¥828,0005T)

TE(E - M 2.607T

R AR 1.828%

TEARR R - 43.30%

TEERREIESE . ARLAHERSF

TEHARY S Uk S 0.93%
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TR IERAE S B B S R R AT B o

DR B R 2B (A I EIEX
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  36. &R & mE RN
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing () BETEBELEZEEEE
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRETAFEAEERETHE
liabilities arising from financing activities during the year: E 7 BEEE
Total
liabilities
from
Interest Lease financing
payables  Borrowings liabilities activities
METHEE
EAFIE fam HERE ZHEafE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—F1AF—H 8,935 528,603 49,548 587,086
Changes in cash flows Reng®y (24,145) 1,402,948 (33,387) 1,345,416
Non-cash changes IFREEH
— Interest charged —FEEH 32,432 = 2,131 34,563
— Addition —RE = = 11,296 11,296
— Transfer — B (49) 49 - -
— Settlement — &1 (8,397) (100,000) - (108,397)
— Exchange difference —EREHE 460 13,369 (58) 13,771
At 31 March 2022 and R-EBE-__F
1 April 2022 ZA=+-HK
“E-"5¥mA—H 9,236 1,844,969 29,530 1,883,735
Changes in cash flows HeREEH (46,879) 856,440 (25,300) 784,261
Non-cash changes B #
— Interest charged —HEER 74,146 - 885 75,031
— Addition —RE = - 8,256 8,256
— Transfer — R (1,579) 1,579 - -
— Settlement — &1 = (1,400,000) - (1,400,000)
— Exchange difference —[ER=ELE (26) (22,595) = (22,621)
At 31 March 2023 R=B==%
=A=+—H 34,898 1,280,393 13,371 1,328,662
254 Wealthking Investments Limited / Annual Report 2022/23
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. A8 B 4 he XMW

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Disposal of a subsidiary

(b) HE—EHNELF

(c)

On 30 September 2022, the Board has approved the
disposal of 100% issued share capital of Profit Raider
Investments Limited held by the Company to an
independent third party purchaser for a consideration of
HK$1,600,000.

RZZEZZFhA=+H E=g
B HLE & AR R PR A B Profit
Raider Investments Limited #J 100%
BBRIRATELE=7EH
B /%8% 1,600,000 7T °

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follow: HEHHNEEFENT -
HK$'000
BET T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 2 AT EET ABREZIRE 3,140
Net assets disposed of BHEEETFE 3,140
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HENBARNEE (1,540)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash RBiEZE — ARSI 1,600
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEFEMEENR 2 REFHE -
Cash consideration received BEUWEGR S RE 1,600

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2023, unsecured interest
bearing other borrowing with principal amount of
HK$1,400,000,000 borrowed from a company
incorporated in BVI which is ultimately controlled by Dr. LIU
Zhiwei, the executive director of the Company, was settled
by way of set off against aggregate consideration for the
allotment and issue of 1,521,739,130 ordinary new shares
on 30 May 2022 (2022: principal and interest payables of
HK$100,000,000 and HK$8,397,000 respectively were
settled by a debt investment).

(0 EEFREXRS

HE_ZT_ZF-A=t+—HUIHF
€ A&E5AE1,400,000,000
TTEEFR BEMERTRE AR
EBRZBEENAR  ZARIHANR
NEIMITESIEERLZES - A
BHER S - —_FRHRA=THSE
K 3£ 771,521,739,130 P& 3% 38 5 A%
MBREzHFNGENT - (ZE==
F A REMNFED R BB
100,000,000 7T X 7 8,397,000 7T
EBRIBEBIREREM)

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group and the Company did not

have any significant contingent liabilities (2022: nil).

37. SAREE

RZEBE_=F=A=+—"8B ' A&£8xK
ARV EEREASIAGE(ZZ =
F:F)o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 & Z - T - =F=-A=+—HItFE

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group's capital commitments at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

38. BEAREKIE

AEERRERRNEAALENT -

2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt e BT BT T
Capital contribution to B2 fE%E FIREEETE (a) 102,780 110,772
Capital contribution to [@ OP Fine Billion L.P.)¥ & (b)

OP Fine Billion L.P. 5,000 5,000
Capital contribution to EmIEEE S MERREESTE (© 2,400 2,400
Capital contribution to B &I & MEREIEEEE (d) 3,426 3,692
Capital contribution to Hengjiameilian [A]18 336561 & (e) 150,000 150,221
Capital contribution to Mt RFABERIEEER )

ERFEERREETEARAA BRABEE

("TEEBE") (ES=2-1-3)) - 24,616
Capital contribution to mE S8 IR EMR (9)

SEBERREMBKERES L IREERE R OTE

("EEBIERK") (IE58EBRK]) 82,224 -

345,830 296,701
Notes: B2

(a) According to “Investment agreement” of 3 % g%  the Group has
committed to a capital contribution of RMB90,000,000, equivalent to
HK$102,780,000 (2022: HK$110,772,000), to B FEEHE  The capital
will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

(b)  According to the “Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement” signed
between OPFI GP(2) Limited, as the general partner, and the limited
partner on 24 November 2015, the Group has committed to a capital
contribution of HK$5,000,000. The capital will be drawn down on as-
needed basis.

(0) According to “Shareholders’ Agreement” and “Supplementary to
Shareholders’ Agreement” signed by the Company and Great Wonderful
Limited, the Group has committed to a capital contribution of
HK$3,000,000 to B2 m# & E & . As at 31 March 2023, HK$600,000
(2022: HK$600,000) was paid. The capital will be drawn down on
as-needed basis.
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(a)

()

BEREEE 2 (REHR)  AEBEDE
(A SR REEE )T & A R 90,000,000t (&
B 102,780,000 L (=S == : B
110,772,0007T) ° E& 1L H EmiEH ¢

R4 OPFI GP(2) Limited (B— A E A ) H
EREBAR-_Z—HF+—A=+WH
FRIZ(ERRBRARHE) A5EE
AT BB 5,000,0007C ° EE R E
ZMIZE °

BEBEAR R BB ERRAAFR ZCRE
) RARRBREHRE) - AEEE AH
MEmIEEES FE B 3,000,0007T °
R-E-_=F=A=+—0H " BHMBEE
600,0007T( — & = — £ : % 600,000
JL) c B IETE B MR o
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38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

According to “shareholders’ resolution” of &l %5 &%, the Company
has committed to a capital contribution of RMB3,000,000, equivalent
to HK$3,426,000 (2022: HK$3,692,000), to R &l & #%. The capital
will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

According to Hengjiameilian Subscription Agreement of
Hengjiameilian, the Group has committed to a capital contribution of
HK$600,000,000, equivalent to RMB472,035,000. As at 31 March
2023, HK$450,000,000 (2022: HK$449,779,000) has been paid. The
capital will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

According to Capital Increment Agreement of =4 &£, the Group
has committed to a capital contribution of RMB84,000,000,
equivalent to HK$103,024,000 (2022: HK$103,387,000). As at
31 March 2023, RMB84,000,000, equivalent to HK$103,024,000,
(2022: RMB64,000,000, equivalent to HK$78,771,000) has been
paid.

According to Partnership Agreement of & & & & B X, the Group
has committed to a capital contribution of RMB780,000,000,
equivalent to HK$890,760,000. As at 31 March 2023,
RMB708,000,000, equivalent to HK$808,536,000, has been paid.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions and balances with related parties

In addition to those related party transactions and balances

disclosed elsewhere in notes to the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following transactions and

balances with its related parties during the year:

38.

39.

B EIE ()
fex - (&)

(d) IRERAIZEZ(BREREER)  KAAFE
AR R A S ) A AR 3,000,000 7T
(H{EAH3,426,0000(ZT=Z2F : /&
#£3,692,0007T)) - AR IRFEEMIRER

(e) WBEEREBNEEZEZHRBNE &%
A FE X B B 600,000,000 T (FE A
R¥472,0350007) c RZZEZ=F=F
=+—H ' BX 7% 450,000,0007T (=
T = 4 HH5449,779,0007T) © X EE
SBIRFEEIRE -

H  BEREBEMNEREMRZE  NEEE
## H B A R #84,000,000 7T (& E B
103,024,000t ) (Z T = ZF: BF K

103,387,000 )c RZZE = =F = A

=+ —HEX{F AR 84,000,000 7T (&

B/ % 103,024,000T) (ZE==F: A

R ¥ 64,000,000 7t (& {& 7 # 78,771,000

TT) e

(9 RESSEERARE AEEERHLE
A R ¥780,000,0007T( & & # *
890,760,000 ) R =T = =F = A
=+—H ' BEXH AR 708,000,000
(&8 % 808,536,000 7T) °

FABALRS
HEBAL XA RER

BN E M BHREMTEME D 2B
LHEBMALTRGREGTN  AEH
MAFEEEBBAT RS REFNR
s ¢

2023 2022

—E-=F =FE=—4E

Name of related party Nature of transaction Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

AL B RHHE PEE BT T BT T

Bestone Capital Limited (“BCL") Investment management fee (a) 280 668
BEEARBRAR(M1EAD) KREERE

Fortune Asset Management Limited  Investment management fee (b) 643 -

(“FAML")
EREETEARAR(ER])

REERE
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Transactions and balances with related parties

30. @t AL 5 )

HEEBATZXERETF#)

(Continued)
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZF-—
Name of related party Nature of balance Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
) PNt HEEME Biter BT T BT T
BCL Investment management (@) 527 247
fee payable
Bh ERIEEERE
FAML Investment management (b) 643
fee payable
=58 ERIREERE
Rich Fortune Allied Limited Office rent, building (0) 391 391
("RFAL") management fee and
government rates payables
HEMERRAR(MEME]) REBNRAZHEHE BFEREEMR
KBS 2= iR
Notes: T -

(a) BCL is a related party to the Group as the executive director, Dr. LIU
Zhiwei is an ultimate beneficial shareholder of BCL.

(b) FAML is a related party to the Group as the executive director, Dr. LIU
Zhiwei is a beneficial shareholder of FAML.

() RFAL is a related party to the Group as the director, Dr. LIU Zhiwei is a
common director and ultimate beneficial shareholder of RFAL.

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all
directors, details of their remuneration are disclosed in note
12(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 i ZE — T - =F=A=+—HItFE

40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 40. REBFA 2 T RREFE
HELD BY THE GROUP

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AREBERE FHBRENERER -
2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are T=F=ZA=t—HEAEZEREFBW
as follows: T
Proportion of Net asset Dividend Percentage of
investee's Carrying  attributable received/  the Group's
Name of investments Nature of business capital owned Cost amount  to the Group receivable  total assets
BB s ]
RERFRZ A& B/ BEEY
REER £H1nE BRI RA REE ZEERE EHRE AAl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETT BRI
Investments in associates
RBERRZRE
TUVL — ordinary shares Asset management 25.00% 351,671 436,340 436,340 - #3.84%
TuvL— &R EEER
CSOP — ordinary shares Asset management 22.50% 60,000 110,325 110,325 41,536 0.97%
BHRE — ERR BEER
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
RATEFARERZRE
OPIM — non-voting preference shares  Asset management 100.00% 58,000 39,900 39,900 - 0.35%
OPIM — ERFEZBER EEER
iCarbonX Group Limited — ordinary shares Medical and healthcare 1.73% 1,098,790 945,849 945,849 - #8.32%
BERHERERAT — LER BERRE
Jiedaibao Limited Internet-based financial services 2.49% 900,389 970,520 970,520 - #8.54%
EEEERARA Lt
Hengjiameilian Equity and property investments, 14.9% 450,000 447,437 447,437 - #3.94%
and commodity trading
LSS RERDERS
IRERE S
Dagang Holding Group Co., Limited Manufacture and service of road 18.90% 781,225 452,432 452,432 - #3.98%
construction, maintenance
machinery and equipment
ERERERRNERAT BRER  REEHR
R 2 BE R R
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP Asset management N/ATER 700,000 778,999 778,999 - #6.85%
NABHES EEER
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP Asset management N/ATER 800,000 895,871 895,871 - #1.88%
MATHES EEER
FEEERK Asset management NATER 803,084 808,298 808,298 - 7.11%
EEEERK BEER
SEREERERREERL Asset management NATER 450,232 444,859 444,859 - #3.91%
EERAERNIRERETL EEER
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40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 0. REERF B FEREFHE
HELD BY THE GROUP (continued) (4)
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March NEFERE FTHRIEVNERER -Z
2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are = =A=1T—"HEBEBZKREFFW
as follows: (Continued) T (%)
Percentage
Net asset of the
Principal activity Carrying attributable  Total interest Group's
Name of investments of borrower Tenure Cost amount to the Group for the year Interest detail ~total assets
58
RERfE REE BEEL
REEH EVES L HR A BHE ZEERE plEE:E HERE Bat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ERTR EETR ERTR ERTR

Listed debt investments

LEkRE

Nanshan Capital Holdings Limited Trading 1 year 975,000 975,117 975,117 51,016 7% p.a., pay semi-annually 8.58%
(“Nanshan Capital")

RUERERERAR (FUAE]) B 15 ERIRT%  ¥EH-R

& Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2023. tr BRZEZ=F=A=t+—HZtKKRE&E -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &2 T - =F=A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 40. AEEFH 2 T2REFB
HELD BY THE GROUP (continued) (%)
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March NEFERE FTHREVNERER -F
2022 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are T HF=ZRA=t—HBEBEZREFEBW
as follows: T
Percentage
Proportion of Net asset Dividend of the
investee's Carrying  attributable received/ Group's
Name of investments Nature of business capital owned Cost amount  to the Group receivable total assets
2 ERER
RERAZ REEME Bl BEEZ
RELH ¥BnE R KA BEE EERE RS, BAlt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BRI BRI
Investments in associates
REERAZRE
TUVL — ordinary shares Asset management 25.00% 351,671 394,353 394,353 14,921 *5.30%
TuvL— &R BEER
(CSOP — ordinary shares Asset management 22.50% 60,000 103,742 103,742 46,734 1.39%
HHRE— LRk BEER
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
RAVEFARERZRE
OPIM — non-voting Asset management 100.00% 58,000 37,800 37,800 - 051%
preference shares
OPIM — BERFEZ LR BEER
Victorian Investment Pharmaceutical and healthcare 46.15% 234,795 142,516 142,516 - *1.92%
Limited Partnership
— contribution
Victorian Investment Limited ZERRE
Partnership — 1 &
iCarbonX Group Limited Medical and healthcare 1.73% 1,098,790 1,000,551 1,000,551 = *13.45%
— ordinary shares
HEBHEEERAR —TBR BERRE
ERBERABRAR Investment holding 12.50% 370,000 367,261 367,261 = *4.94%
EREXREAARAA RERR
Dagang Holding Group Co., Manufacture and service of road 19.90% 822,560 739,781 739,781 = *¥9.94%
Limited construction, maintenance
machinery and equipment
EREREERAERAR BRER  REEHR
H {2 BUE R R
Jiedaibao Limited Internet-based financial services 2.49% 900,389 954,584 954,584 = *12.83%
BEEERARA Ex ety
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP Asset management NANER 700,000 699,701 699,701 = *9.40%
NATMES BEER
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP Asset management NANER 800,000 799,626 799,626 = *¥10.75%
AATHES I BERE
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40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 40.
HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March
2022 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are
as follows: (Continued)

AEBRFAZTEREHE
()

AEERBELELMAUENEREN =T
T =ZA=t—HEEZEREFBW
T (&)

Percentage
Net asset Total of the
Principal activity attributable interest Group’s
Reference code of investments  of borrower Tenure Cost Carrying amount  tothe Group ~~ for the year Interest detail  total assets
Bx5E
FEEAG TFE BEEL
REZZEH BERAEEEH Eill A REE CEERE ME LR MEFFE ER):
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BB
Unlisted debt investments
FITEBRE
Debenture £ Trading 1 year 226,467 215,056 215,056 10,141 8% p.a., pay at maturity *2.89%
fBHE g5 15 FH%8Y%  HERLH
Debenture Cultural and artistic 1 year 244,929 232,588 232,588 10,275 8% p.a., pay at maturity *3.13%
development
B F X REMER 15 FFIES% - BT
*: Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2022. * BR-ZZE-_—F=A=1+—Bz1+XA&E
41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 4. HmEHRSEE

The listed debt investments were fully redeemed by Nanshan Capital
on 24 May 2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June 2023 in
the principal amounts of US$25,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$195,000,000), US$25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$195,000,000),
US$35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$273,000,000) and
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) respectively.
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HUERER-_E-_=FRA-+HAE -

:2:—$£HI+E~:§::¢ﬁH
FEERZZTZ=F,A/\BEHED L/
BEBIRE - NeFH 5 /425,000,000 7T
(5 {8 7 # 195,000,000 7T ) * 25,000,000
% t( % & & #195,000,0007C )

35,000,000 7. (5B 273,000,0007T )
40,000,000 2 7T (ZE 7% ¥ 312,000,000
JT) °
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

On 25 May 2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June 2023,
the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary subscribed
for guaranteed bonds due 2024 (the “2023 Bonds") issued by
Hong Kong Nanshan Development Limited (“Nanshan
Development”) in the principal amounts of HK$197,000,000,
HK$197,000,000, HK$330,000,000 and HK$251,000,000
respectively. As at the date of this report, the balances due from
Nanshan Development in respect of the subscription of the
2023 Bonds (excluding any accrued interest) amounted to
HK$975,000,000. The 2023 Bonds bear interest at the rate of
7.50% p.a. and will mature on 24 May 2024. Nanshan Group
Co., Limited will unconditionally and irrevocably guarantee the
due payment of all sums expressed to be payable by Nanshan
Development under the 2023 Bonds and the trust deed(s)
constituting the 2023 Bonds. Both Nanshan Capital and
Nanshan Development are wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Nanshan Group Co., Limited.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2023.

1. REHREIE®)

R-EBE-_=FRA-+HB ZT_=
FRAA=TH ZZE=Z=FARAK
ZEZ=FXANH " XRRBEBES
& M B A 7] % B Hong Kong Nanshan
Development Limited ([Nanshan
Development]) 72 =& — IU4F Bl B FE (R
BHFE(ZZT=FFEH])  ~&8EH A
& 7% ¥197,000,0007T + & ¥
197,000,000 7T * /& ¥ 330,000,000 7T &
7 #251,000,0007T © RA R & HH -
Nanshan Development SiiRHE —Z — =&
BEH (NS EAERTFE) &) B EREE
/7% 975,000,0007T - —T = =F1EFH
BREMKRTS0%HE  RZE_WFHR
AZ+HBREH - mLERER AR
| 1 B D RTORKCEE i #E fRNanshan
Development# A N IBRIE =T ==F
BEMBR ST _—FF5NEARE
ARENNMAMERE BILEAXR
Nanshan Development 3 &8 LI £ B H R
RNAMZEWNB AR -

BB A M SRR

grepRN-E-_=FA=-+—HB#t
MR R AT BHRE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CURiy

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the ANEEGF A EMBEE 2D AHEEREE
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited EH&EHEIFECEZTERE - LR EE 5
financial statements, is set out below. This summary does not form T A ERNBLFEZIABRE —LH o
part of the audited financial statements.

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+t—-HLFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZEC-=f B T ZTIBF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BT BT BEFT

Results E4
Turnover EHEE 469,589 271,503 624,258 352,164 1,784,148
Revenue Y% 192,741 93,929 110,522 181,816 227,892
Profit/(loss) before tax RA&F/(&E) 149,523 217,160 376,669  (1,366,617) 277,159
Income tax (expenses)/credit st () #E e (3,140) 4,113 @,113) (6,057) (20,469)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFERF/(EE) 146,383 221,273 372,556 (1,372,674) 256,690
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hth 2@ (Fx),”
income e (119,452) 36,323 37,449 (15,331) (249)
Total comprehensive income/ 2 E WS/ (FX)
(expense) k] 26,931 257,596 410,005  (1,388,005) 256,441
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—E-=f —T-o-fF —E-—F Z—ET-TE —ET-HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BT T BEF T BT T

Assets and liabilities BEKERE

Total assets BEE 11,366,205 7,441,213 5,368,288 4,775,088 5,875,752

Total liabilities BaR (1,355,450)  (1,912,969) (841,109) (660,643) (245,289)

Net assets BEFE 10,010,755 5,528,244 4,527,179 4,114,445 5,630,463
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